University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2013

The neuroanatomical organization and chemosensory response characteristics of the olfactory bulb in the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus)

Warren W. Green

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Green, Warren W., "The neuroanatomical organization and chemosensory response characteristics of the olfactory bulb in the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus)" (2013). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 4751.

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

The neuroanatomical organization and chemosensory response characteristics of the olfactory bulb in the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*)

By

Warren W. Green

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through the Department of Biological Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2012

© 2012 Warren W. Green

The neuroanatomical organization and chemosensory response characteristics of the olfactory bulb in the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*)

by

Warren W. Green

APPROVED BY:

D. Restrepo, External Examiner University of Colorado

> J. Frank St. Jerome's University

H. Zhang Department of Biological Sciences

S. Pandey Department of Chemistry & Biochemistry

B. Zielinski, Advisor Department of Biological Sciences

N. McNevin, Chair of Defense Department of Kinesiology

16 January 2013

Declaration of Co-Authorship / Previous Publication

I. Co-Authorship Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis incorporates material that is result of joint research, as follows:

Chapter 2 is the outcome of joint research undertaken in collaboration with Alfred Basilious under the supervision of Dr. Barbara Zielinski. The key ideas, primary contributions, experimental design, data analysis and interpretation were performed by the author. The contribution of the co-author was through experimental assistance in retrograde labeling and examination of olfactory bulb projection neurons.

Chapter 3 is the outcome of research undertaken by the author under the supervision of Dr. Zielinski and Dr. Huiming Zhang. In all cases, the key ideas, primary contributions, experimental design, data analysis, and interpretation, were performed by the author. The contributions of Dr. Zhang and Dr. Zielinski were towards experimental design and data interpretation.

Appendix A is the outcome of joint research in which I am a co-author. I contributed to this published manuscript through conducting retrograde labeling experiments in the olfactory bulb, collecting and analyzing the resulting data, and contributing to the production of Figure 5A and Table 1.

Appendix B is the outcome of joint research in which I am a co-author. I contributed to this published manuscript through conducting a full literature review of olfactory-driven behaviours in fish. In addition, I conducted retrograde labeling experiments for olfactory sensory neurons in the peripheral olfactory organ and immunolabeled cilia against acetylated tubulin. I subsequently collected the confocal micrographs and produced Figure 2 for the publication.

I am aware of the University of Windsor Senate Policy on Authorship and I certify that I have properly acknowledged the contribution of other researchers to my thesis, and have obtained written permission from each of the co-author(s) to include the above material(s) in my thesis. I certify that, with the above qualification, this thesis, and the research to which it refers, is the product of my own work.

II. Declaration of Previous Publication

This thesis includes 2 original papers that have been previously published in peer reviewed journals, as follows:

Thesis Chapter	Publication title/full citation	Publication status
Appendix A	Projections from the Accessory Olfactory Organ into the Medial Region of the Olfactory Bulb in the Sea Lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) - a Novel Vertebrate Sensory Structure?	Published 2009
Appendix B	Chemosensory-induced motor behaviors in fish	Published 2012

I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include the above published material(s) in my thesis. I certify that the above material describes work completed during my registration as graduate student at the University of Windsor.

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

Abstract

Olfactory information is utilized for a variety of behaviours including feeding, migration and spawning. The olfactory bulb is the initial site of odour information processing in the central nervous system. The OB organizes this information along parallel processing pathways using topographic and temporal coding. In general, little is known about the neural substrate involved in transforming olfactory information into behavioural responses. In the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) the responses of olfactory sensory neurons in the peripheral olfactory organ are transmitted along two distinct pathways to the medial and non-medial regions of the OB. The neural substrate for olfactorylocomotor transformation was recently identified in the sea lamprey, and demonstrated that projection neurons (PNs) in the medial OB region initiated movements by connecting to locomotor control centers. In contrast, PNs in the non-medial OB region projected to forebrain regions including the pallium. This thesis examines previously unknown anatomical and physiological characteristics of PNs in these medial and non-medial OB regions and relates the findings to these functionally distinct parallel output pathways. The medial PNs were anatomically isolated within the glomerular neuropil, exhibited varied somal shape, and had larger somata than non-medial PNs. Furthermore, the bulbar region containing these medial PNs responded to several different classes of odours with local field potentials (LFPs) being a mixture of transient and sustained responses and relatively short multiunit responses. The somata of non-medial PNs were below the glomerular neuropil and also exhibited varied shapes, but were smaller than the somata of the medial PNs. The LFP and multiunit recordings suggested that within the non-medial

v

OB region, the dorsal territory responded differentially to lamprey sex pheromones and migratory pheromones while lateral recordings exhibited sustained LFP responses and long multiunit responses largely to basic amino acids. These findings suggest that neural organization in the medial OB may be optimized for the initiation of olfactory-locomotor movements in response to diverse odours, while the nonmedial regions exhibit odour specificity and may be optimized for other functional processes such as odour information integration.

Dedicated to my wife Natalie, daughter Emilie and my parents Wayne and Trish Green. Thank you for inspiring me each and every day.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful for the help and support of many people over the course of my doctoral studies. The completion of this dissertation would not have been possible without them. First, I would like to thank my loving wife, Natalie and my daughter, Emilie. Their encouraging words and constant support helped me through the hardest times. To my parents, thank you for always supporting and encouraging me to strive further and work harder, you are both my inspiration.

Many thanks are owed to my advisor and mentor Dr. Barbara Zielinski. Over the course of five years her encouragement, support, and patience has helped foster and shape my scientific curiosity and academic career. Her continued mentorship has and will be invaluable to me.

My committee members, Dr. Huiming Zhang, Dr. Siyaram Pandey, and Dr. James Frank are owed special thanks for the many hours of work and assistance they have dedicated over the course of my doctoral studies to ensuring my continued success.

I have had the pleasure of working alongside many talented faculty, graduate and undergraduate students. Sharing a lab for 4 years with my good friend and colleague Dr. Alyson Laframboise was wonderful. I will always be grateful for the good times and advice, especially when first arriving in Windsor. Thank you to my friends and colleagues Cory Ochs and Pierre-Paul Bitton for many great discussions and assistance when needed. I have worked with many talented research assistants including Dina Koch, Alfred Basilious, Josh McGrath, Sana Ahmed, and Linda Alyashae. Thank you to each of you. Your help was instrumental in my success. I would also like to thank my colleagues and friends in the Zielinski lab and Zhang lab. Chirag Patel and Lena Jamal deserve many thanks for their technical assistance and friendship.

The collaborations with Dr. Réjean Dubuc, Dr. Dominique Derjean, and Dr. Weiming Li were of great assistance. Thank you to each of you for technical support, advice, and training during my doctoral studies.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the staff in the Department of Biology, particularly Nancy Barkley, Barbara Zimmerman, Bob Hodge, Ingrid Churchill, and Rodica Leu. I would like to also thank the staff at the University Technical Support Centre for their expertise and skill in building so many unique research tools and the staff at the Hammond Bay Biological Station for supporting the collection of research specimens.

Finally, I would like to thank the Great Lakes Fishery Commission, the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, the Ontario Graduate Scholarship program, and the University of Windsor for their generous funding.

Table of Contents

Declaration of Co-Authorship / Previous Publication	iii
Abstract	. v
Acknowledgementsv	iii
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	iii
List of Abbreviations	xv
CHAPTER 1 A review of olfaction and the olfactory system of the sea lamprey	. 1
1.1 General Introduction	2
1.2 Olfactory subsystems	3
1.3 The olfactory sensory neurons – receptors, signal transduction and ion channels	6
1.4 The Olfactory Bulb1	12
1.4.1 What is the Olfactory Bulb?1	12
1.4.2 Afferent input and the olfactory glomeruli	12
1.4.3 Olfactory glomeruli and odour coding	13
1.4.4 The organization of neurons within the OB	15
1.4.5 Temporal coding in the OB	19
1.4.6 OB projection sites	20
1.5 Olfaction in the sea lamprey	22
1.5.1 Olfactory signals during the life cycle	22
1.5.2 The peripheral olfactory organ	23
1.5.3 The lamprey olfactory bulb and bulbar projections	25
1.6 Overview of the thesis	28
1.7 References	32
CHAPTER 2 The neuroanatomy of projections neurons in two parallel pathways of the olfactory bulb	45
2.1 Introduction	46
2.2 Materials and Methods	48
2.2.1 Experimental Animals	48
2.2.2 Cresyl violet staining of the olfactory bulb	49
2.2.3 Retrograde tracing of olfactory bulb PNs	49

$2.2.4~GS1B_4$ labelling of olfactory glomeruli	51
2.2.5 Microscopy	51
2.2.6 Morphometry	52
2.3 Results	53
2.3.1 Localization of Olfactory Bulb PNs	53
2.3.2 Size of PN Somata	58
2.3.3 Projection neuron morphology	58
2.4 Discussion	62
2.5 References	65
CHAPTER 3 Chemosensory responses of the olfactory bulb	69
3.1 Introduction	70
3.2 Materials and Methods	76
3.2.1 Animal collection	76
3.2.2 Animal preparation	77
3.2.3 Preparation and delivery of odourant test solutions	79
3.2.4 Extracellular electrophysiology recordings	82
3.2.5 Data analysis	85
3.2.6 Local field potentials	86
3.2.7 Multiunit recordings	87
3.3 Results	89
3.3.1 Local field potential recordings exhibit transient and sustained odour-evoked responses	90
3.3.2 Multiunit recordings exhibit excitatory and inhibitory odour-evoked response varying durations	s of 93
3.3.3 Transient and sustained odour-evoked responses exhibit regional variation	98
3.3.4 The medial OB responds to all odours while the dorsal and lateral OB regions show odour specificity	102
3.3.5 Medial OB local field potential peak characteristics are the same for all odours	112
3.3.6 Dorsal and lateral OB local field potential peak characteristics are odour dependent	114
3. 4 Discussion	120
3.4.1 Temporal pattern of odour-evoked responses	121
3.4.2 Spatial pattern of odour-evoked responses	126
3.4.3 Functional organization of projection neurons driving behaviour	129

3.5 References	131
CHAPTER 4 Concluding Remarks	140
4.1 Concluding Remarks	141
4.2 References	147
APPENDIX A Projections from the Accessory Olfactory Organ into the Medial Region of the Olfactory Bulb in the Sea Lamprey (<i>Petromyzon marinus</i>)– a Novel Vertebrate)n
Sensory Structure?	149
APPENDIX B Chemosensory-induced motor behaviors in fish	181
APPENDIX C	206
VITA AUCTORIS	209

List of Tables

Table 2.1	Olfactory bulb length and projection neuron soma size	60
Table 3.1	Summary of local field potential responses to odours in various	
	regions	107
Table 3.2	Summary of multiunit responses to odours in various regions	108
Table 3.3	Statistical values for local field potential measurements	113

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Olfactory signal transduction cascade involving cAMP	9
Figure 1.2	Olfactory signal transduction cascade involving IP ₃	10
Figure 1.3	Layers and neurons of the mammalian olfactory bulb	18
Figure 1.4	Illustration of the main and accessory olfactory organs of the sea lamprey	24
Figure 1.5	Layers of the lamprey olfactory bulb	26
Figure 1.6	Parallel olfactory pathways in the sea lamprey	29
Figure 1.7	Flow diagram of questions addressed in thesis	31
Figure 2.1	Cresyl violet stained cross section of the sea lamprey olfactory bulb	55
Figure 2.2	Rostral-caudal distribution of projection neurons in the olfactory bulb	56
Figure 2.3	Medial glomerulus of the olfactory bulb	57
Figure 2.4	The spatial relationship of olfactory glomeruli and projection neurons	59
Figure 2.5	The morphology of medial and non-medial projection neurons	61
Figure 3.1	Illustration of odour delivery apparatus and recording chamber	78
Figure 3.2	Time course and delivery of odours into the peripheral olfactory organ	81
Figure 3.3	Illustration of electrophysiological recording locations in the olfactory bulb	83
Figure 3.4	Layers of the lamprey olfactory bulb and location of projection neurons	85
Figure 3.5	Illustration of local field potential measurements	88
Figure 3.6	Examples of transient and sustained local field potentials	91
Figure 3.7	The distribution of odour response duration from local field potentials	92
Figure 3.8	Examples of excitatory multiunit responses	94
Figure 3.9	Examples of inhibitory multiunit responses	96
Figure 3.10	The distribution of odour response duration from multiunit recordings	97

Figure 3.11	Local field potential recordings from the medial, dorsal, and lateral olfactory bulb	99
Figure 3.12	Percentage of transient and sustained local field potential responses	.100
Figure 3.13	Examples of multiunit recordings of varying durations in the medial dorsal and lateral olfactory bulb	.101
Figure 3.14	Distribution of multiunit response durations in the medial, dorsal and lateral olfactory bulb	.103
Figure 3.15	Duration of multiunit responses to each of four odour classes	.104
Figure 3.16	Topographic organization of local field potential responses	.105
Figure 3.17	Topographic organization of multiunit responses	.109
Figure 3.18	Summary of multiunit recordings in the olfactory bulb	.111
Figure 3.19	A-E Amplitude and temporal measurements of local field potential recordings in the medial, dorsal and lateral olfactory bulb 115	-119
Figure 3.20	Summary of chemosensory responses in the sea lamprey olfactory bulb	.122
Figure 4.1	Flow diagram of the results of olfactory bulb experiments in this thesis	.143
Figure C-1	The number of peaks in local field potential responses	.206
Figure C-2	The interpeak interval of sustained local field potential responses	.207
Figure C-3	The change in peak amplitude over the duration of local field potential responses	.208

List of Abbreviations

3kACA	3-keto allocholic acid
3kPZS	3-keto petromyzonol sulphate
AA	Amino acid
ACA	Allocholic acid
AL	Antennal lobe
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AOB	Accessory olfactory bulb
AON _{pE}	Anterior olfactory nucleus pars externa
AON_{pV}	Posteroventral part of the anterior olfactory nucleus
AOO	Accessory olfactory organ
APC _{VR}	Ventrorostral part of the anterior piriform cortex
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
DAG	Diacylglycerol
EPL	External plexiform layer
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GL	Glomerular layer
GLMC	Glomerular layer with mitral cells
GPCR	G protein coupled receptor
GrC	Granule cell layer
$GS1B_4$	Griffonia simplicifolia lectin 1, isolectin B4
IP ₃	Inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate
IPL	Internal plexiform layer
LFP	Local field potential
LOT	Lateral olfactory tract
MC	Mitral cell
MCL	Mitral cell layer
MLR	Mesencephalic locomotor region
MOB	Main olfactory bulb
MOE	Main olfactory epithelium
MOT	Medial olfactory tract
OB	Olfactory bulb
OE	Olfactory epithelium
OR	Odour receptor
OSN	Olfactory sensory neuron
OT _{CAP}	Anterolateral part of the olfactory tubercle

PADS	Petromyzonamine disulphate
PN	Projection neuron
PSDS	Petromyzonolsterol disulphate
PSTH	Post-stimulus time histogram
РТ	Posterior tuberculum
PZS	Petromyzonol sulphate
RS	Taurocholic acid
V1R	Vomeronasal type 1 receptor
V2R	Vomeronasal type 2 receptor
VNO	Vomeronasal organ

CHAPTER 1

A review of olfaction and the olfactory system of the sea lamprey

1.1 General Introduction

The surrounding environment of an organism provides a vast array of sensory information that requires neural processing in order to produce the necessary behavioural responses to survive and reproduce. To adequately perceive and decode this information, sensory systems including the somatosensory, visual, auditory, and the olfactory systems utilize several levels of organization that can include topographic and temporal organization, as well as parallel and serial information processing (Strausfeld and Lee, 1991; Shepherd and Greer, 1998; Rauschecker and Tian, 2000; Ahissar and Arieli, 2001; Konishi, 2003). Through parallel processing, different functional aspects of a sensory stimulus are conveyed along different pathways in that system. How odour information is encoded, processed and how this leads to a behavioural response, are questions that have been under investigation in rodents, fish, and insects. Significant progress has been made in our understanding of peripheral and central neural activity associated with the olfactory system, and related behavioural responses. Examples of parallel processing and neural subsystems have been documented in the olfactory system of invertebrate and vertebrate organisms (Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997); yet, the detailed neural substrates involved in odour driven behaviours are still poorly understood. The neural pathway from olfaction to locomotion has been elucidated in an invertebrate (C. elegans) (Gray et al., 2005) and also in the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus). Recently, Derjean et al. (2010) described a novel olfactory-locomotor neural substrate in the sea lamprey, involving parallel processing pathways in the medial and non-medial regions of the olfactory bulb (OB). Although the input and output pathways of the sea lamprey OB are

well characterized, almost nothing was known about the anatomical organization of bulbar projection neurons (PNs) and their odour-induced physiological response characteristics. Thus, using the sea lamprey as a model species, this thesis contributes to further understanding of odour information processing in the olfactory bulb, organization of odour information based on the function of OB output pathways, and their direct relevance to olfactory-locomotor output.

This thesis presents background on the neurobiology of the olfactory system, defines goals for experimental studies of the neural anatomy and chemosensory properties in the olfactory bulb of the sea lamprey's olfactory system, then describes and discusses these studies.

The purpose of this chapter is to review what is generally known regarding the olfactory system and its subsystems, with an emphasis of what is known in fish. Knowledge regarding the lamprey olfactory system is also presented. The details of olfactory information processing in the peripheral olfactory organ, the olfactory bulb, and pathways to higher brain structures are examined within the context of parallel olfactory processing pathways and olfactory driven motor behaviours.

1.2 Olfactory subsystems

Sensory input occurs via olfactory sensory neurons located in the peripheral olfactory organ. These afferent neurons form synaptic contacts within the central nervous system – the olfactory bulb (OB) for vertebrates, and the antennal lobe (AL) for insects. The mammalian olfactory system has two primary subdivisions, known as the main and accessory olfactory systems. Each has a distinct peripheral olfactory location (main olfactory epithelium; MOE and vomeronasal organ; VNO), distinct and

overlapping central targets (main olfactory bulb; MOB), accessory olfactory bulb; AOB) and parallel pathways to higher brain centers (Shepherd and Greer, 1998; Ma, 2007; Baum, 2012).

Early studies suggested that the VNO and MOE in mammals process different classes of odours, the main olfactory system responding to general olfactory cues and the accessory olfactory system to pheromones and other social cues. However, during the past 10 years researchers have seen overlap in the classes of odours that stimulate the two olfactory subsystems (Restrepo et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2005; Baxi et al., 2006; Brennan and Zufall, 2006; Spehr et al., 2006; Jakupovic et al., 2008; Slotnick et al., 2010).

While invertebrates do not possess an accessory olfactory organ, they also have parallel olfactory processing pathways. Olfactory receptor cells reside on the antennae of invertebrates and project their axons to the antennal lobes, where they synapse with projection neurons in aggregations of neuropil known as glomeruli (Tolbert and Hildebrand, 1981; Christensen et al., 1995). Within the ALs of the male cockroach (*Periplaneta americana*) and the male moth (*Manduca sexta*) there are so-called ordinary glomeruli as well as a macroglomerulus (*P. americana*) or macroglomerular complex (*M. sexta*) that solely process female species-specific sex pheromones (Matsumoto and Hildebrand, 1981; Christensen and Hildebrand, 1987; Christensen et al., 1989; Kanzaki et al., 1989; Kanzaki and Shibuya, 1992; Boeckh and Tolbert, 1993; Christensen et al., 1995; Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997). Moreover, parallel medial and lateral antennoprotocerebral tracts have been identified in the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*) (Kirschner et al., 2006; Carcaud et al., 2012) where PNs extend their axons from the antennal lobe to distinct and separate regions of the mushroom bodies and lateral horn. Moreover, the

lateral and medial antenno-protocerebral tracts respond to different odours that vary in carbon chain length and functional group (Carcaud et al., 2012).

In teleost fish, the olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs) are intermixed in the peripheral olfactory organ, however in the brain, olfactory processing pathways are delineated as medial and lateral subdivisions of the olfactory system. The ciliated and microvillar OSN morphotypes are distributed stochastically throughout the olfactory epithelium. The axons of the ciliated type extend to the medial region of the olfactory bulb and the microvillar type project to the lateral region (Sato et al., 2005). The primary projection neurons of the medial and lateral OB project their axons along the medial and lateral olfactory tracts, respectively (Sheldon, 1912; Doving and Selset, 1980; Satou, 1990; Hamdani et al., 2000; Hamdani et al., 2001b; Hamdani and Doving, 2007), to the telencephalon, where these subdivisions are maintained (Nikonov et al., 2005). Generally, the medial olfactory pathway (ciliated olfactory sensory neurons) processes bile salt and pheromone odour information, while the lateral olfactory pathway (microvillar olfactory sensory neurons) processes amino acid and nucleotide odour information (Satou, 1990; Friedrich and Korsching, 1998; Hara and Zhang, 1998; Nikonov and Caprio, 2001; Hansen et al., 2003). Furthermore, within the medial and lateral subdivisions of the olfactory bulb (OB), specific subsets of projection neurons process specific subclasses of odours (eg. acidic, basic, or neutral amino acids in the lateral OB)(Nikonov and Caprio, 2004; Rolen and Caprio, 2007). It is clear that parallel processing pathways in the olfactory system are present across phyla, are important for processing different classes of odours, and can be organized by their functional output.

1.3 The olfactory sensory neurons – receptors, signal transduction and ion channels

In order to process specific odour information, the peripheral olfactory organ of invertebrate and vertebrate organisms utilize OSNs. Considerable diversity is seen, with respect to the morphological characteristics, odour receptor proteins, signal transduction mechanisms and ion conductance channels of OSNs (Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997; Kay and Stopfer, 2006). These characteristics have many similarities across phyla. In many vertebrates, there are the two principal olfactory sensory neuron types - ciliated and microvillous. A third type known as crypt cells (Hansen and Finger, 2000) have been observed in the olfactory epithelium of some Actinopterygian fish including Acanthopterygian and Ostariophysian fishes (Hansen and Finger, 2000; Belanger et al., 2003; Hansen et al., 2003). In the lamprey, only ciliated OSNs are present in the olfactory epithelium (Thornhil, 1967; Vandenbossche et al., 1995), but in teleost fish, microvillous and ciliated OSNs intermingle in the peripheral olfactory organ (Zielinski and Hara, 2006). In mammals, ciliated OSNs predominate in the main olfactory epithelium and microvillous OSNs are located in the VNO (Ma, 2007). Ciliated cells are present on the antennae of insects (Schneider, 1969; Stengl et al., 1992), where there are generalist OSNs that bind and respond to a variety of compounds, as well as specialist OSNs that express only pheromone specific types of receptors, which bind components of the female sex pheromone (Christensen and Hildebrand, 1987; Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997; Sato and Touhara, 2009).

In the MOE of mammals, each OSN expresses a single odour receptor (OR)(Ressler et al., 1994; Vassar et al., 1994; Buck, 1996; Mombaerts et al., 1996).

Unfortunately, the odor-ligands have been identified for only a handful of ORs. Zones of receptor expression overlap in the MOE, and a given odour receptor (OR) is expressed in several zones across the surface of the epithelium (Ressler et al., 1993; Buck, 1996; Iwema et al., 2004; Miyamichi et al., 2005; Ma, 2007). The ORs in different zones may be associated with the physicochemical properties of the odours (Kent et al., 1996; Schoenfeld and Cleland, 2006; Ma, 2007) and are functionally organized whereby a given odour will elicit activity in a specific cluster of OSNs as well as OSNs scattered across different zones of the olfactory epithelium (Ma and Shepherd, 2000).

In fish, each OSN also expresses only a single type of OR, and these are distributed throughout the olfactory epithelium (Speca et al., 1999; Laberge and Hara, 2001) The OSNs extend their dendritic ending into the olfactory mucus covering the olfactory epithelium where receptors on the surface of cilia, or microvilli, bind odours. This is similar in insects, except the odours pass through the porous waxy coating and bind to receptors on the surface of the cilia via olfactory binding proteins (Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997).

The odour receptor proteins of OSNs are members of the seven-transmembrane G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily. In rodents, OR-type receptors are in the main olfactory epithelium and the vomeronasal type one (V1R) and type two (V2R) receptors found in the VNO (Buck and Axel, 1991; Dulac and Axel, 1995; Berghard and Buck, 1996; Buck, 1996; Ryba and Tirindelli, 1997; Zhao and Firestein, 1999; Firestein, 2001). Once an odour binds to the GPCR, a signal transduction cascade involving second messengers opens cyclic nucleotide gated channels as well as other ion channels on the surface of the sensory neuron, leading to depolarization of the OSN and propagation of

the signal along the OSN axon to its terminus in the OB (Restrepo et al., 1996; Schild and Restrepo, 1998). Ciliated OSNs possess the G-protein $G_{\alpha olf}$, which uses the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) second messenger cascade (Schild and Restrepo, 1998; Firestein, 2001) (Figure 1.1). Microvillous OSNs possess G-proteins such as $G_{\alpha i}/G_{\alpha o}/G_{\alpha q}$, which use the phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG) second messenger cascade (Restrepo et al., 1996; Schild and Restrepo, 1998) (Figure 1.2).

In rodents, the ciliated and microvillous OSN types and their associated GPCRs and second messengers are the starting points for parallel olfactory processing pathways. Ciliated OSNs found in the main olfactory epithelium primarily use the canonical cAMP signaling pathway. Some ciliated OSNs express receptors or channels that differ from those typically involved in the cAMP pathway. These include trace amine associated receptors (TAARS), transient receptor potential channels (e.g. TRPM5), or the second messenger cGMP (GC-D) (Ma, 2007; Munger et al., 2009). The cGMP olfactory sensory neurons respond to components of urine and express guanylyl cyclase type D, as well as cyclic nucleotide gated channels gated by cGMP. The axons of these GC-D OSNs project to the caudal region of the main olfactory bulb, to a target region named the necklace glomeruli (Ma, 2007; Munger et al., 2009), and create one of several parallel processing pathways in the rodent olfactory system. Other further subdivisions of the main olfactory epithelium include the septal organ of Mesara and Grueneberg ganglion. For these, sensory neurons project to distinct regions of the main olfactory bulb.



Figure 1.1. The olfactory signal transduction cascade involving the second messenger cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP). The binding of an odour to a G-protein coupled receptor (R) releases the α subunit from the receptor, which binds to, and activates adenylyl cyclase (AC). The activated AC uses adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to produce cAMP, which in-turn binds to cyclic nucleotide-gated channels (CNG). The CNG channels open and Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ ions enter the intracellular environment. The increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ ions causes a chloride channel to open, allowing Cl⁻ ions to flow into the extracellular environment. The movement of Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ ions inward and Cl⁻ ions outward depolarizes the olfactory sensory neuron generating an axon potential. Illustration from Firestein, 2001. Nature Vol 413: 211-218.



Figure 1.2. The olfactory signal transduction cascade involving the second messenger Inositol trisphosphate (IP₃). The binding of an odour to the G-protein coupled receptor activates phospholipase C (PLC). PLC in-turn produces $InsP_3/IP_3$, which binds to calcium channels, allowing Ca²⁺ to enter the intracellular environment. The increases Ca²⁺ concentration activates K⁺ channels, allowing K⁺ to move into the extracellular environment. The combined inward movement of Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ ions inward and K⁺ ions outward depolarizes the olfactory sensory neurons, generating an action potential. Illustration from Restrepo et al, 1996. Journal of Neurobiology. Vol 30: 37-48.

The rodent VNO is a primary example of a parallel pathway in the olfactory system. The VNO is located in a cavernous structure within the rostral part of the nasal cavity. The OSNs are microvillous, utilize the IP₃/DAG second messenger cascade and project their axons to the accessory olfactory bulb (AOB) (Ma, 2007). The OSNs in the dorsal portion of the VNO epithelium express V1Rs and the G-protein $G_{\alpha i}$, while OSNs in the ventral portion of the VNO express V2Rs and the G-protein $G_{\alpha o}$. The V1R expressing OSNs project their axons to the anterior portion of the AOB, while the V2R expressing OSNs project their axons to the posterior AOB (Dulac and Torello, 2003; Halpern and Martinez-Marcos, 2003).

In cyprinid fish, OSNs lack the peripheral compartmentalization seen in the rodent olfactory organ. The ciliated, microvillous, and crypt type OSNs are distributed throughout the epithelium. Ciliated OSNs project axons to the medial region of the OB, while the axons of microvillous OSNs project to the lateral region of the OB (Morita and Finger, 1998; Hamdani et al., 2001a; Hamdani and Doving, 2002; Hansen et al., 2003; Sato et al., 2005; Hamdani and Doving, 2007). The axons of crypt cells project into two small regions of the ventral portion of the OB (Hansen et al., 2003). From these examples, it is clear that diversity in location of sensory neurons, as well as OSN morphology, receptors, signal transduction mechanisms and channels are important contributors not only to olfactory sensory function, but also to the function of parallel pathways of information flow into the brain.

1.4 The Olfactory Bulb

1.4.1 What is the Olfactory Bulb?

The OB is a vertebrate forebrain structure that contains olfactory sensory input from cranial nerve I (the olfactory nerve). It is also a location of neural integration, output to higher brain centers, as well as input from centrifugal fibers projecting from higher brain centers (Shepherd and Greer, 1998). The OB contributes to vital olfactory functions, including odor coding, the sorting of sensory input towards appropriate locations in the higher brain centers, and of regulation by descending projections from higher brain centers. An example of OB function is seen in the channel catfish. The lateral region of the catfish OB receives the axons of microvillous OSNs that respond to amino acid odours, and the mitral cells (the bulbar projection neurons in teleost fish) propagate neural activity along the lateral olfactory tract, to the lateral region of telencephalon (Nikonov and Caprio, 2004; Nikonov et al., 2005). Although OB function is far from being completely understood, previous investigations in fish and in mammals have lead to some understanding regarding olfactory sensory and integrative function of this brain region. Neurophysiological studies of the analogous structure in insects, the antennal lobe, has contributed to an understanding of the processing of neural information during olfaction (Hansson et al., 1992; Kanzaki and Shibuya, 1992; Christensen et al., 1996; Laurent et al., 1996; Laurent, 2002).

1.4.2 Afferent input and the olfactory glomeruli

The OSN axons extend from the olfactory epithelium, fasciculate in the lamina propria, project into the olfactory nerve, and enter the rostral portion of the OB. These axons spread over the surface of the OB, forming the peripheral layer of this structure

(the olfactory nerve layer); then proceed deeper into the OB, and enter spherical regions of neuropil known as glomeruli. The OSN axons terminate in the olfactory glomeruli and form synaptic contacts onto post-synaptic partners, the dendritic endings of projection neurons (mitral and tufted cells) (Shepherd and Greer, 1998). Interneurons and descending projections from higher brain regions are also located in the glomerular region and participate in synaptic activity (Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997; Gire and Schoppa, 2009).

1.4.3 Olfactory glomeruli and odour coding

Chemotopy, the spatial patterning of bulbar activity related to odorant chemical features is evident from studies of zebrafish (Friedrich and Korsching, 1997, 1998) channel catfish (Nikonov and Caprio, 2001) and mammals (Johnson et al., 1998; Mori et al., 2006; Johnson and Leon, 2007; Soucy et al., 2009). Specificity regarding OR expression on OSNs extending to the bulbar glomeruli is vital for chemotopy to occur. This is clearly illustrated in the mammalian OB, where each glomerulus receives peripheral axonal input only from OSNs expressing a single odour receptor gene (Wachowiak et al., 2004). Consequently, a specific odour ligand activates synaptic activity within the glomerulus that receives the OSNs that express the receptor for that odour ligand. The OSNs that respond to structurally similar compounds project to glomeruli that are grouped together and those that are less similar are further apart, so that the glomeruli produce a chemotopic map arranged around the surface of the OB (Johnson and Leon, 2007; Soucy et al., 2009). Imaging and electrophysiological experiments have shown that any given odour will activate a distinct group of glomeruli, with similar odours producing distinct but overlapping glomerular activity maps, and less

similar odours producing activity maps that overlap less or not at all (Sharp et al., 1975, 1977; Stewart et al., 1979; Imamura et al., 1992; Mori et al., 1992; Hara and Zhang, 1996; Friedrich and Korsching, 1997, 1998; Hara and Zhang, 1998; Johnson et al., 1998; Galizia and Menzel, 2000; Xu et al., 2000a; Xu et al., 2000b; Nikonov and Caprio, 2001; Wachowiak and Cohen, 2001, 2003; Xu et al., 2003; Nikonov et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2005; Johnson and Leon, 2007). In this way, odours are spatially encoded on the surface of the OB and within the glomeruli.

Chemotopic odour coding occurs by activating a combination of glomeruli (combinatorial coding), and also by stimulation of a single glomerular region (noncombinatorial coding). The activation of many glomeruli in the OB in response to a particular odour is known as combinatorial odour coding, due to the unique combination of glomeruli activated by a given odour. This has been observed in the zebrafish OB where amino acid odours activate a number of glomeruli in the lateral OB region (Friedrich and Korsching, 1998). There are also examples for the activation of only a single glomerulus by a given odour. This non-combinatorial spatial odour coding has been observed in the OB of zebrafish for sex pheromones (Friedrich and Korsching, 1998; Korsching, 2001) and in the antennal lobe of insects (Christensen and Hildebrand, 1987; Kanzaki et al., 1989; Kanzaki and Shibuya, 1992; Christensen et al., 1995; Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997; Friedrich and Korsching, 1998; Korsching, 2001), where a single glomerulus (or isolated glomerular complex) is responsive to pheromones (Christensen and Hildebrand, 1987; Hansson et al., 1992; Boeckh and Tolbert, 1993; Christensen et al., 1995; Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997; Friedrich and Korsching, 1998).

In some terrestrial vertebrates, parallel processing of olfactory information occurs in the glomeruli of two bulbar regions, the main and accessory olfactory bulbs. The MOB receives afferents from the MOE, and the axons from the VNO project to the accessory olfactory bulb. While there is some overlap in the odours that are processed in the main and accessory OB (Xu et al., 2005; Baxi et al., 2006; Spehr et al., 2006), generally the main OB processes a wide variety of volatile general odours and the accessory OB processes non-volatile pheromones and other social odour cues, which are commonly found in urine (Nodari et al., 2008; Meeks and Holy, 2009; Meeks et al., 2010; Turaga and Holy, 2012).

Generally, in fish, bile salt odours and pheromones (steroids or prostaglandins) activate glomeruli in the medial portion of the OB, except in zebrafish where pheromones activate a central portion of the ventral OB (Sato et al., 2005). In addition, amino acids activate glomeruli in the rostral lateral region of the OB and nucleotides activate glomeruli in the caudal lateral region of the OB. This pattern of glomerular activation has been observed in catfish (Nikonov and Caprio, 2001; Hansen et al., 2003), zebrafish (Friedrich and Korsching, 1997, 1998), and salmonids (Hara and Zhang, 1996; Hara and Zhang, 1998), but can vary in other fish species (See review by Zielinski and Hara, 2006).

1.4.4 The organization of neurons within the OB

The OB consists of cellular layers that are conserved across phyla, even though there are some differences with respect to cell types, stratification and organization. For example, there are six layers in the mammalian OB, and four layers in the teleost OB. The mammalian OB contains the olfactory nerve layer, glomerular layer, external

plexiform layer, mitral cell layer, internal plexiform layer, and the granule/internal cell layer (Shepherd and Greer, 1998), but the less laminar teleost OB does not contain two regions with concentrated neuropil, the external or internal plexiform layers (Satou, 1990).

In the mammalian OB, the glomeruli are very distinct due to the presence of periglomerular cells, interneurons that are in between and surround the glomeruli. Periglomerular cells innervate glomeruli and synapse with OSN axons and dendrites of the projection neurons, known as mitral cells and tufted cells. Synaptic neurotransmission within the glomeruli includes contact onto the dendrites of the primary projection neurons of the OB, the mitral/tufted cells (Shepherd and Greer, 1998). The dendrites of mitral cells extend into the glomerular layer, and the nuclei are located in the mitral cell layer. The dendrites of tufted cells are also located in the glomerular layer, but the cell bodies are located in the external plexiform layer (Shepherd and Greer, 1998). In addition, external tufted cells are present in the glomerular layer. Recent studies have shown that both external tufted cells and periglomerular cells synapse with OSN axons and form an excitatory/inhibitory microcircuit with one another in a glomerulus (Gire and Schoppa, 2009). This microcircuit acts as an intermediary between OSN axons and dendrites of mitral/tufted cells (internal and middle tufted) to process odour input information (Gire and Schoppa, 2009).

In the mammalian OB, the external plexiform layer (EPL) is located beneath the glomerular layer. It contains the dendrites of mitral cells as well as the cell bodies and dendrites of middle tufted and internal tufted cells, with middle tufted cell bodies located in the more dorsal portion of the EPL and internal tufted cell bodies located in the more

ventral portion of the EPL (Shepherd, 1972; Mori, 1987; Shepherd and Greer, 1998). The axons of both mitral cells and tufted cells project along the lateral olfactory tract. Mitral cell bodies are found within the narrow mitral cell layer, which is located between the EPL and the internal plexiform layer (IPL) (Shepherd, 1972; Mori, 1987; Shepherd and Greer, 1998). The IPL contains local interneurons as well as the axons of external tufted cells that project to the contralateral OB (Mori, 1987; Shepherd and Greer, 1998; Shepherd et al., 2007). The most internal cell layer, the granule cell layer, contains local interneurons known as granule cells which form dendrodendritic synapses with mitral cells (Mori, 1987; Shepherd and Greer, 1998; Shepherd et al., 2007) (Figure 1.3).

The OB of teleost fish has four layers: the olfactory nerve layer, glomerular layer, mitral cell layer, and granule cell layer. Fish do not possess periglomerular or external tufted cells and therefore have less-defined glomeruli/glomerular layer than that of mammals (Dryer and Graziadei, 1994). Examination by transmission electron microscopy has shown that in fish, OSN axons synapse onto the dendrites of mitral cells within a glomerulus (Satou, 1990). The primary projection neurons of the teleost OB are mitral cells. The somata are in the mitral cell layer and dendrites extend into the glomerular layer where they synapse with the axon terminals of OSNs. Interestingly, while a single mitral cell only innervates one glomerulus in mammals, they innervate more than one glomerulus in fish, as has also been observed in the mammalian accessory OB (Meisami and Bhatnagar, 1998). Mitral cells also receive inhibitory dendrodendritic synapses from granule cells (Satou, 1990; Laberge and Hara, 2001).

Some species of fish including the goldfish, catfish, sea eel, and zebrafish have another form of projection neuron known as ruffed cells, which have a distinctive ruffle



Figure 1.3. The layers and neurons of the olfactory bulb (OB) in mammals. The layers of the olfactory bulb are the olfactory nerve layer (ONL), glomerular layer (GL), external plexiform layer (EPL), mitral cell layer (MCL), internal plexiform layer (IPL), granule cell layer (GCL). The glomeruli are denoted by spherical structures of dashed lines in the GL. A: The principle neurons of the OB are the mitral cells (m), external tufted (eT), middle tufted (mT), and internal tufted (iT). Mitral and tufted cells possess primary and lateral dendrites (d) as well as axons (a) that project along the lateral olfactory tract (LOT). B: The local interneurons of the olfactory bulb include the periglomerular cells (PG) and granule cells (G), as well as short axon cells (SA). Modified from Mori, 1987. Progress in Neurobiology. Vol 29: 275-320.

on the initial segment of the axon (Kosaka and Hama, 1979; Kosaka, 1980; Kosaka and Hama, 1980, 1981; Satou, 1990; Fuller and Byrd, 2005). Ruffed cells are situated in the mitral cell layer and do not directly synapse with OSN axons or mitral cells, but instead receive input by axodendritic connections with granule cells, which in turn synapse with mitral cells (Kosaka and Hama, 1982). Ruffed cells project axons along the olfactory tract and may play a role in oscillatory activity observed in the OB of fish (Zippel et al., 1999; Zippel et al., 2000). Moreover, ruffed cells respond to a variety of odours in theopposite fashion as mitral cells (i.e. a given odour may elicit an excitatory response in a mitral cell and a suppressed response in an associated ruffed cell)(Zippel et al., 1999; Zippel et al., 2000; Laberge and Hara, 2001). The role of ruffed cells in odour information processing is still relatively unknown.

1.4.5 Temporal coding in the OB

Olfactory information is not only spatially encoded in the OB, but temporally encoded as well, by the firing pattern of primary projection neurons (mitral/tufted cells in mammals and fish; projection neurons in insects) (Laurent et al., 1996; Wehr and Laurent, 1996; Friedrich and Laurent, 2001; Laurent, 2002; Friedrich and Laurent, 2004; Kay and Stopfer, 2006). Primary projection neurons make dendrodendritic synapses with inhibitory interneurons, which shape the temporal structure of the PN response patterns through lateral inhibition (Laurent et al., 1996; MacLeod and Laurent, 1996; Shepherd and Greer, 1998; Urban and Sakmann, 2002; Wiechert et al., 2010). The temporal coding of odour responses along parallel processing pathways in the OB can be informative of odour identity in higher brain structures (Laurent, 2002; Wick et al., 2010). Odours
activate several mitral cells at the same time but each individual mitral cell has its own slow temporal firing pattern with increasing and decreasing firing rates over the course of the response. In addition, any given mitral cell may respond to several odours of similar structure (i.e. two different amino acids). Activity of the responding mitral cells get redistributed over the group of responding mitral cells and becomes more unique to that particular odour over the course of the response by decorrelation (Friedrich and Laurent, 2001). This process of decorrelation makes the temporal response pattern of a group of mitral cells unique to a specific odour over time, and therefore different from similar odours (Friedrich and Laurent, 2001; Laurent, 2002). This allows for higher order structures to interpret the overall slow temporal firing pattern of the collection of mitral cells to decode the stimulus identity (Friedrich and Laurent, 2001; Laurent, 2002; Wick et al., 2010). Fast oscillatory responses are also present in the OB and are generated in mitral cells by the dendrodendritic inhibitory interneurons and their circuit connections with primary projection neurons. These fast oscillatory waveforms are believed to play a role in making odour representations more unique from one another and aiding in odour identity in olfactory cortical regions for mammals (Laurent and Davidowitz, 1994; Laurent, 2002; Kay and Stopfer, 2006; Kay et al., 2009).

1.4.6 OB projection sites

The bulbar projection neurons transmit the spatially and temporally coded odour information from the OB to higher brain regions where it is integrated and ultimately affects behavioural responses. In the main OB, mitral/tufted cell axons project along the lateral olfactory tract to the anterior olfactory nucleus, olfactory tubercle, piriform cortex, amygdala, and entorhinal area. Projections from these areas go to the hypothalamus and

higher cortical regions (See review by Ma, 2007). Recent evidence suggests mitral and tufted cells in the main OB make up two parallel processing pathways that project their axons to different regions of the olfactory cortex from one another (Igarashi et al., 2012). Furthermore, mitral cells in the accessory OB have direct axonal projections to various nuclei of the limbic system. From limbic system nuclei, the accessory olfactory pathway continues to hypothalamic nuclei (Meredith, 1998; Dulac and Wagner, 2006; Ma, 2007).

In fish, mitral cells project their axons along the lateral or medial olfactory tracts to the telencephalon (Doving and Selset, 1980; Kosaka and Hama, 1982; Satou, 1990; Hamdani and Doving, 2007), where a chemotopic map similar to that observed in the OBs persists (Nikonov et al., 2005). Moreover, in sturgeon, cod, and goldfish, mitral cells also project to midbrain structures such as the preoptic area, thalamus, habenula, and hypothalamus (Vonbartheld et al., 1984; Rooney et al., 1992; Huesa et al., 2000, 2003, 2006; Zielinski and Hara, 2006). Studies by Hamdani and collaborators (Hamdani et al., 2000; Hamdani et al., 2001a; Hamdani et al., 2001b; Hamdani and Doving, 2007) in crucian carp have utilized retrograde degeneration to investigate the relationship between fish behaviour, and the lateral and medial olfactory tracts. They found that lateral olfactory tract (containing mitral cell axons from the lateral portion of the OB) controlled feeding behaviours; the medial portion of the medial olfactory tract (containing mitral cell axons from the medial region of the OB) controlled alarm reaction, and the lateral portion of the medial olfactory tract controlled reproductive behaviours. These studies have begun to explore the role of bulbar output on the organization of the olfactory system. There is clearly much more to be explored with regards to the role of targets of bulbar projection neurons on the function and organization of the olfactory system.

1.5 Olfaction in the sea lamprey

1.5.1 Olfactory signals during the life cycle

The life cycle of the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*), an extant species of ancient vertebrate lineage, consists of distinct life history phases including a larval stage, transformer stage (metamorphosis), parasitic juveniles, migrating adults, and spawning adults. Larval stage lamprey remain buried in stream sediments for approximately 3-18 years until they reach a size of 150 mm, at which time they undergo a radical metamorphosis and begin migrating downstream (Youson and Potter, 1979; Purvis, 1980; Potter et al., 1982). Once metamorphosis is complete the now parasitic lamprey move into open water and actively feed on other fish for 12-15 months (Potter et al., 1982; Bird et al., 1994). During the parasitic feeding stage, lamprey are thought to locate their prey using amino acids and amines released by the fish (Kleerekoper and Mogensen, 1963). In the spring, migrating adult lamprey move upstream and encounter a mixture of compounds that are released from larval sea lamprey in the streambed. This mixture includes petromyzonol sulphate (PZS), allocholic acid (ACA), and two disulphated aminosterol derivatives known as petromyzonamine disulphate (PADS) and petromyzonolsterol disulphate (PSDS). This mixture acts as a pheromone that migrating adult lamprey detect and use as an indicator of suitable spawning habitat (Li et al., 1995; Bjerselius et al., 2000; Sorensen et al., 2005). Moreover, once in the spawning stream it is known that spermiated male sea lamprey release the pheromones 3-keto petromyzonol sulphate (3kPZS) and 3-keto allocholic acid (3kACA), which induces movement/searching behaviours and spawning behaviours, respectively in ovulating female sea lamprey (Li et al., 2002; Siefkes et al., 2003; Siefkes and Li, 2004; Johnson et

al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2009). After spawning, adult lampreys quickly deteriorate and die.

1.5.2 The peripheral olfactory organ

The peripheral olfactory organ in lampreys, contains both a main olfactory epithelium (MOE) as well as tubular diverticula known as the accessory olfactory organ (AOO) (Hagelin and Johnels, 1955) (Figure 1.4). The MOE of sea lamprey consists of columnar cells that contain three morphotypes of olfactory sensory neurons (OSN). The three morphotypes have been termed tall, intermediate, and short OSN with the tall morphotype being most prominent and the intermediate and short morphotype less prominent (Laframboise et al., 2007). The 3 morphotypes were also found to be present in both metamorphic and reproductive adult sea lamprey indicating that these cells develop early and remain through adulthood (Laframboise et al., 2007). Interestingly, the density of OSN present in the MOE is greatest during the larval life stage when the cells are narrow and steadily decreases throughout maturation/development as the cells increase in width (Vandenbossche et al., 1995). Furthermore, a detailed examination of the peripheral olfactory organ (MOE and AOO) revealed that drastic remodelling occurs during metamorphosis. Specifically, the entire olfactory organ enlarges in size and weight as it changes from an epithelial lined tube to a nasal sac containing lamellar folds with a partial midline septum that separates the nasal sac into two regions (VanDenBossche et al., 1997). Moreover, during metamorphosis the AOO also becomes more prominent as two distinct cell types begin to form diverticula that are surrounded by blood vessels and nonmyelinated nerve bundles (Hagelin and Johnels, 1955; VanDenBossche et al., 1997).



Figure 1.4. The Main and accessory olfactory organs of the sea lamprey. The main olfactory epithelium (MOE) consists of tall (red), intermediate (yellow) and short (green) olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs). The OSNs extend their cilia into the lumen of the olfactory organ and project their axons (red) to primarily the non-medial regions of the olfactory bulb, and sparsely to the medial region of the olfactory bulb. The OSNs of the accessory olfactory organ (blue) are ovoid shaped and extend their cilia into the lumen of the accessory olfactory organ (AOO), which is connected to the MOE via ducts. The OSNs of the AOO project their axons exclusively to the medial region of the olfactory bulb in the sea lamprey.

Several electrophysiological studies have demonstrated that the MOE physiologically responds to amino acids as well as a variety of biologically important bile acids. Li et al (1995) recorded extracellular field potentials from the MOE of migratory adult sea lamprey in response to the bile acids PZS and ACA of larval sea lamprey. Interestingly, of 38 bile acids tested, migratory adult sea lamprey showed very high olfactory sensitivity, with threshold responses near 10⁻¹² M, for PZS and ACA (Li et al., 1995). Furthermore, a subsequent cross-adaptation (inhibition) study suggested that there are at least four independent receptors within the MOE for bile acids including PZS and ACA (Li and Sorensen, 1997). An examination of the genome revealed that lampreys possess the canonical olfactory receptors (ORs), as well as trace amine associated receptors (TAARs), and vomeronasal type 1 receptors (V1Rs) (Libants et al., 2009). Due to the relatively inaccessible location and small size there is presently no information regarding the physiological responses of the AOO to odourants.

1.5.3 The lamprey olfactory bulb and bulbar projections

Iwahori et al (1987) described the OB of the lamprey, *Lampetra japonica*, as having four layers that include: the layer of the olfactory fibers, layer of the olfactory glomeruli with mitral cells, the granule cell layer, and the layer of ependymal cells. The layer of olfactory fibers consists of fiber bundles that cover the entire surface of the OB and travel in many different directions. These fiber bundles eventually terminate in olfactory glomeruli within the glomerular layer of the OB (Iwahori et al., 1987). The glomerular layer of the OB contains numerous aggregations of spherical or oval



Figure 1.5. The layers of the olfactory bulb (OB) of the lamprey (*Lampetra japonica*). The lamprey OB consists of four layers including the layer of the olfactory fibers (OF), layer of the olfactory glomeruli (OG) with mitral cells (MC), the granule cell layer (GC), and the layer of ependymal cells (EC). The olfactory ventricle (OV) is also shown. Mitral cells (MC) are located near the glomeruli as well as deeper in the OB near the granule cell layer. The layers of the lamprey OB are not as laminar as seen in the OB of mammals or teleost fish. Scale bar is 200 μ m. Illustration from Iwahori et al, 1987. Neuroscience research. Vol 5: 126-139.

glomeruli that contain olfactory nerve fibers, mitral cell bodies and dendrites, as well as projections from both the granule and ependymal cells (Figure 1.5). Two morphologically distinct types of mitral cells were observed in the lamprey OB based on soma size and shape and both were found in close proximity to OB glomeruli. Interestingly, Iwahori et al (1987) also found that some mitral cell dendrites terminated in two or more glomeruli but that a majority of mitral cells terminate into a single glomerulus. The granule and ependymal cell layers comprise a large portion of the lamprey OB and processes from these cells extend into the glomerular cell layer as well (Iwahori et al., 1987).

Currently, in sea lamprey it is unknown how olfactory information is organized in the OB and whether a chemotopic map, similar to that observed in teleost fish, contributes to odourant discrimination. Frontini et al (2003) demonstrated signs of glomerular territories by reporting that OSNs projecting to dorsal, lateral and ventral glomeruli were immunoreactive for the olfactory regulator G protein G_{aolf}, the OSNs projecting to the medial region lacked this immunoreactivity. This indicates that the medial region of the OB is biochemically different from the other regions of the OB and lends evidence towards the existence of spatial organization within the sea lamprey OB. Tract tracing experiments have shown that OSNs from the MOE extend to the medial and lateral regions of the ipsilateral OB and that the AOO contains sensory neurons that project axons solely to the medial region of the OB (Ren et al., 2009). Moreover, PNs in the medial region of the OB project their axons to the posterior tuberculum (PT), which relays to the mesencephalic locomotor region (MLR); neurons in the MLR project to the reticulospinal neurons in the hindbrain responsible for locomotion in the sea lamprey

(Derjean et al., 2010). This pathway from the medial OB to the hindbrain constitutes the neural substrate for olfactory-driven locomotion in the sea lamprey (Derjean et al., 2010) (Figure 1.6). Neural projections of primary projection neurons from the lateral OB of sea lamprey project to the lateral pallium as well as other forebrain regions and do not seem to connect to reticulospinal neurons (Derjean et al., 2010) (Figure 1.6). Therefore, this other olfactory pathway is likely not directly involved in locomotion but may be involved in further integration of odour information (Derjean et al., 2010). This division of neural projections from the peripheral olfactory organ to the OB also indicates that there is a possibility of spatial organization within the OB of the sea lamprey. This further implies that the OBs may be organized according to functional output rather than olfactory sensory neuron input.

1.6 Overview of the thesis

This thesis examines olfactory subsystems at the base of vertebrate evolution in the OB of the sea lamprey. Previous work by Ren et al. (2009) showed that peripheral input from the accessory olfactory organ into the lamprey OB was limited to the medial region of the OB. In addition, Derjean et al. (2010) showed that olfactory-locomotor control is exerted by projection neurons in the medial region of the OB. These studies provide a foundation for experiments that probe the following two predictions: 1) that there are neuroanatomical differences between the projection neurons located in the medial region of the OB that extend to the posterior tuberculum and those bulbar projection neurons in the nonmedial OB regions that project to the lateral pallium (Chapter 2); and 2) that chemosensory responses display regional differences in the OB, which correlate with the output organization of medial and non-medial projection



Figure 1.6. Parallel olfactory processing pathways of the olfactory bulb in the sea lamprey. The medial region of the olfactory bulb receives inputs primarily from the OSNs (blue) of the accessory olfactory organ (AOO) (blue) and sparsely from the OSNs (red) of main olfactory epithelium (MOE) (red). Primary projection neurons of the medial olfactory bulb (purple) project their axons (purple) to the posterior tuberculum (PT). Neurons of the PT project to the mesencephalic locomotor region (MLR), which connects to the reticulospinal cells in the hindbrain that are responsible for initiating locomotion. This medial OB pathway constitutes the neural substrate for olfactory-driven locomotion in the sea lamprey. Conversely, the non-medial regions of the olfactory bulb receive inputs exclusively from the MOE (red). Primary projection neurons of the non-medial OB regions (green) project their axons (green) to pallial regions of the forebrain. This pathway is proposed to be involved with further integration of olfactory information in the sea lamprey (Derjean et al, 2010). neurons (Chapter 3).

In particular, I examined the distribution, location, size, and shape of projection neuron soma in the parallel processing pathways (medial and non-medial) of the sea lamprey OB. In addition, I used two different electrophysiological methods known as multi-unit and local field potential recordings to examine the odour-induced response of primary projection neurons to four different groups of odours in three distinct regions of the OB (Figure 1.7). These three regions were the medial, dorsal, and lateral regions of the OB, which relate to the medial and non-medial parallel olfactory pathways previously described in the sea lamprey. Two recording techniques were utilized in order to examine odour-induced OB responses at both the individual/few neuron response scale and population level response scale. Moreover, in both types of recordings the spatial and temporal characteristics of the odour-induced responses were examined across all four odour groups and all three OB regions.

Finally, over the duration of my thesis I co-authored two manuscripts not presented in the main body of this thesis, but still relevant to my studies in the OB of the sea lamprey. This work examined the organization of olfactory sensory neuron input to the OB from both the main and accessory olfactory organs of the sea lamprey, which contributed to a published manuscript I co-authored entitled "Projections from the accessory olfactory organ into the medial region of the OB in the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*): A novel vertebrate sensory structure?" by Ren et al. (2009) in the *Journal of Comparative Neurology* (Appendix A). In addition, I co-authored a review paper entitled "Chemosensory-induced motor behaviours in fish" by Daghfous et al. (2012) in the journal *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (Appendix B). This manuscript



Figure 1.7. Flow diagram of the knowledge gaps and questions addressed in this thesis. Previous work by Ren et al. (2009) and Derjean et al. (2010) illustrate the parallel olfactory pathways in the lamprey. The 'flyout' of the olfactory bulb (OB) shows the questions that this thesis addresses with respect to the neuroanantomy and physiology of projection neurons in the OB. Accessory olfactory organ (AOO), main olfactory epithelium (MOE), posterior tuberculum (PT), mesencephalic locomotor region (MLR), reticulospinal cells (RS cells).

examines the role of chemosensory systems, especially the olfactory system, in driving behaviours in fish and highlights the olfactory-locomotor neural substrate of the sea lamprey described in part by Ren et al (2009) and in its entirety by Derjean et al (2010).

1.7 References

Ahissar E, Arieli A (2001) Figuring space by time. Neuron 32:185-201.

- Baum MJ (2012) Contribution of pheromones processed by the main olfactory system to mate recognition in female mammals. Front Neuroanat 6:20. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2012.00020.
- Baxi KN, Dorries KM, Eisthen HL (2006) Is the vomeronasal system really specialized for detecting pheromones? Trends Neurosci 29:1-7.
- Belanger RM, Smith CM, Corkum LD, Zielinski BS (2003) Morphology and histochemistry of the peripheral olfactory organ in the round goby, Neogobius melanostomus (Teleostei : Gobiidae). J Morphol 257:62-71.
- Berghard A, Buck LB (1996) Sensory transduction in vomeronasal neurons: Evidence for G alpha o, G alpha i2, and adenylyl cyclase II as major components of a pheromone signaling cascade. Journal of Neuroscience 16:909-918.
- Bird DJ, Potter IC, Hardisty MW, Baker BI (1994) Morphology, Body-Size and Behavior of Recently-Metamorphosed Sea Lampreys, Petromyzon-Marinus, from the Lower River Severn, and Their Relevance to the Onset of Parasitic Feeding. J Fish Biol 44:67-74.
- Bjerselius R, Li WM, Teeter JH, Seelye JG, Johnsen PB, Maniak PJ, Grant GC, Polkinghorne CN, Sorensen PW (2000) Direct behavioral evidence that unique bile acids released by larval sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) function as a migratory pheromone. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 57:557-569.
- Boeckh J, Tolbert LP (1993) Synaptic Organization and Development of the Antennal Lobe in Insects. Microsc Res Tech 24:260-280.
- Brennan PA, Zufall F (2006) Pheromonal communication in vertebrates. Nature 444:308-315.

- Buck L, Axel R (1991) A Novel Multigene Family May Encode Odorant Receptors a Molecular-Basis for Odor Recognition. Cell 65:175-187.
- Buck LB (1996) Information coding in the vertebrate olfactory system. Annu Rev Neurosci 19:517-544.
- Carcaud J, Hill T, Giurfa M, Sandoz JC (2012) Differential coding by two olfactory subsystems in the honeybee brain. J Neurophysiol 108:1106-1121.
- Christensen TA, Hildebrand JG (1987) Male-Specific, Sex Pheromone-Selective Projection Neurons in the Antennal Lobes of the Moth Manducasexta. J Comp Physiol A-Sens Neural Behav Physiol 160:553-569.
- Christensen TA, Mustaparta H, Hildebrand JG (1989) Discrimination of Sex-Pheromone Blends in the Olfactory System of the Moth. Chemical Senses 14:463-477.
- Christensen TA, Heinbockel T, Hildebrand JG (1996) Olfactory information processing in the brain: Encoding chemical and temporal features of odors. J Neurobiol 30:82-91.
- Christensen TA, Harrow ID, Cuzzocrea C, Randolph PW, Hildebrand JG (1995) Distinct Projections of 2 Populations of Olfactory Receptor Axons in the Antennal Lobe of the Sphinx Moth Manduca-Sexta. Chemical Senses 20:313-323.
- Derjean D, Moussaddy A, Atallah E, St-Pierre M, Auclair Fo, Chang S, Ren X, Zielinski B, Dubuc Rj (2010) A Novel Neural Substrate for the Transformation of Olfactory Inputs into Motor Output. PLoS Biol 8:e1000567.
- Doving KB, Selset R (1980) Behavior Patterns in Cod Released by Electrical-Stimulation of Olfactory Tract Bundlets. Science 207:559-560.
- Dryer L, Graziadei PPC (1994) Mitral Cell Dendrites a Comparative Approach. Anat Embryol 189:91-106.
- Dulac C, Axel R (1995) A Novel Family of Genes Encoding Putative Pheromone Receptors in Mammals. Cell 83:195-206.
- Dulac C, Torello AT (2003) Molecular detection of pheromone signals in mammals: From genes to behaviour. Nat Rev Neurosci 4:551-562.
- Dulac C, Wagner S (2006) Genetic analysis of brain circuits underlying pheromone signaling. In: Annual Review of Genetics, pp 449-467. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.

Firestein S (2001) How the olfactory system makes sense of scents. Nature 413:211-218.

- Friedrich RW, Korsching SI (1997) Combinatorial and chemotopic odorant coding in the zebrafish olfactory bulb visualized by optical imaging. Neuron 18:737-752.
- Friedrich RW, Korsching SI (1998) Chemotopic, combinatorial, and noncombinatorial odorant representations in the olfactory bulb revealed using a voltage-sensitive axon tracer. Journal of Neuroscience 18:9977-9988.
- Friedrich RW, Laurent G (2001) Dynamic optimization of odor representations by slow temporal patterning of mitral cell activity. Science 291:889-894.
- Friedrich RW, Laurent G (2004) Dynamics of olfactory bulb input and output activity during odor stimulation in zebrafish. J Neurophysiol 91:2658-2669.
- Frontini A, Zaidi AU, Hua H, Wolak TP, Greer CA, Kafitz KW, Li W, Zielinski BS (2003) Glomerular territories in the olfactory bulb from the larval stage of the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus). J. Comp. Neurol. 465:27-37.
- Fuller CL, Byrd CA (2005) Ruffed cells identified in the adult zebrafish olfactory bulb. Neurosci Lett 379:190-194.
- Galizia CG, Menzel R (2000) Odour perception in honeybees: coding information in glomerular patterns. Curr Opin Neurobiol 10:504-510.
- Gire DH, Schoppa NE (2009) Control of On/Off Glomerular Signaling by a Local GABAergic Microcircuit in the Olfactory Bulb. Journal of Neuroscience 29:13454-13464.
- Gray JM, Hill JJ, Bargmann CI (2005) A circuit for navigation in Caenorhabditis elegans. P Natl Acad Sci USA 102:3184-3191.
- Hagelin L, Johnels AG (1955) On the structure and function of the accessory olfactory organ in lampreys. Acta Zool 36:113-125.
- Halpern M, Martinez-Marcos A (2003) Structure and function of the vomeronasal system: an update. Prog Neurobiol 70:245-318.
- Hamdani EH, Doving KB (2002) The alarm reaction in crucian carp is mediated by olfactory neurons with long dendrites. Chemical Senses 27:395-398.
- Hamdani EH, Doving KB (2007) The functional organization of the fish olfactory system. Prog Neurobiol 82:80-86.

- Hamdani EH, Kasumyan A, Doving KB (2001a) Is feeding behaviour in crucian carp mediated by the lateral olfactory tract? Chemical Senses 26:1133-1138.
- Hamdani EH, Alexander G, Doving KB (2001b) Projection of sensory neurons with microvilli to the lateral olfactory tract indicates their participation in feeding behaviour in crucian carp. Chemical Senses 26:1139-1144.
- Hamdani EH, Stabell OB, Alexander G, Doving KB (2000) Alarm reaction in the crucian carp is mediated by the medial bundle of the medial olfactory tract. Chemical Senses 25:103-109.
- Hansen A, Finger TE (2000) Phyletic distribution of crypt-type olfactory receptor neurons in fishes. Brain Behav Evol 55:100-110.
- Hansen A, Rolen SH, Anderson K, Morita Y, Caprio J, Finger TE (2003) Correlation between olfactory receptor cell type and function in the channel catfish. Journal of Neuroscience 23:9328-9339.
- Hansson BS, Ljungberg H, Hallberg E, Lofstedt C (1992) Functional Specialization of Olfactory Glomeruli in a Moth. Science 256:1313-1315.
- Hara TJ, Zhang CB (1996) Spatial projections to the olfactory bulb of functionally distinct and randomly distributed primary neurons in salmonid fishes. Neurosci Res 26:65-74.
- Hara TJ, Zhang C (1998) Topographic bulbar projections and dual neural pathways of the primary olfactory neurons in salmonid fishes. Neuroscience 82:301-313.
- Hildebrand JG, Shepherd GM (1997) Mechanisms of olfactory discrimination: Converging evidence for common principles across phyla. Annu Rev Neurosci 20:595-631.
- Huesa G, Anadon R, Yanez J (2000) Olfactory projections in a chondrostean fish, Acipenser baeri: An experimental study. J Comp Neurol 428:145-158.
- Huesa G, Anadon R, Yanez J (2003) Afferent And efferent connections of the cerebellum of the chondrostean Acipenser baeri: a carbocyanine dye (DiI) tracing study. J Comp Neurol 460:327-344.
- Huesa G, Anadon R, Yanez J (2006) Topography and connections of the telencephalon in a Chondrostean, Acipenser baeri: An experimental study. J Comp Neurol 497:519-541.

- Igarashi KM, Ieki N, An M, Yamaguchi Y, Nagayama S, Kobayakawa K, Kobayakawa R, Tanifuji M, Sakano H, Chen WR, Mori K (2012) Parallel Mitral and Tufted Cell Pathways Route Distinct Odor Information to Different Targets in the Olfactory Cortex. Journal of Neuroscience 32:7970-7985.
- Imamura K, Mataga N, Mori K (1992) Coding of Odor Molecules by Mitral Tufted Cells in Rabbit Olfactory-Bulb .1. Aliphatic-Compounds. J Neurophysiol 68:1986-2002.
- Iwahori N, Kiyota E, Nakamura K (1987) A Golgi-Study on the Olfactory-Bulb in the Lamprey, Lampetra-Japonica. Neurosci Res 5:126-139.
- Iwema CL, Fang HS, Kurtz DB, Youngentob SL, Schwob JE (2004) Odorant receptor expression patterns are restored in lesion-recovered rat olfactory epithelium. Journal of Neuroscience 24:356-369.
- Jakupovic J, Kang N, Baum MJ (2008) Effect of bilateral accessory olfactory bulb lesions on volatile urinary odor discrimination and investigation as well as mating behavior in male mice. Physiol Behav 93:467-473.
- Johnson BA, Leon M (2007) Chemotopic odorant coding in a mammalian olfactory system. J Comp Neurol 503:1-34.
- Johnson BA, Woo CC, Leon M (1998) Spatial coding of odorant features in the glomerular layer of the rat olfactory bulb. J Comp Neurol 393:457-471.
- Johnson NS, Siefkes MJ, Li WM (2005) Capture of ovulating female sea lampreys in traps baited with spermiating male sea lampreys. North Am J Fish Manage 25:67-72.
- Johnson NS, Yun SS, Thompson HT, Brant CO, Li WM (2009) A synthesized pheromone induces upstream movement in female sea lamprey and summons them into traps. P Natl Acad Sci USA 106:1021-1026.
- Kanzaki R, Shibuya T (1992) Olfactory Processing Pathways of the Insect Brain. Zool Sci 9:241-264.
- Kanzaki R, Arbas EA, Strausfeld NJ, Hildebrand JG (1989) Physiology and Morphology of Projection Neurons in the Antennal Lobe of the Male Moth Manduca-Sexta. J Comp Physiol A-Sens Neural Behav Physiol 165:427-453.
- Kay LM, Stopfer M (2006) Information processing in the olfactory systems of insects and vertebrates. Semin Cell Dev Biol 17:433-442.

- Kay LM, Beshel J, Brea J, Martin C, Rojas-Libano D, Kopell N (2009) Olfactory oscillations: the what, how and what for. Trends Neurosci 32:207-214.
- Kent PF, Mozell MM, Murphy SJ, Hornung DE (1996) The interaction of imposed and inherent olfactory mucosal activity patterns and their composite representation in a mammalian species using voltage-sensitive dyes. Journal of Neuroscience 16:345-353.
- Kirschner S, Kleineidam CJ, Zube C, Rybak J, Grunewald B, Rossler W (2006) Dual olfactory pathway in the honeybee, Apis mellifera. J Comp Neurol 499:933-952.
- Kleerekoper H, Mogensen J (1963) Role of Olfaction in the Orientation of Petromyzon marinus. I. Response to a Single Amine in Prey's Body Odor. Physiological Zoology 36:347-360.
- Konishi M (2003) Coding of auditory space. Annu Rev Neurosci 26:31-55.
- Korsching SI (2001) Odor maps in the brain: Spatial aspects of odor representation in sensory surface and olfactory bulb. Cell Mol Life Sci 58:520-530.
- Kosaka T (1980) Ruffed Cell a New Type of Neuron with a Distinctive Initial Unmyelinated Portion of the Axon in the Olfactory-Bulb of the Goldfish (Carassius-Auratus) .2. Fine-Structure of the Ruffed Cell. J Comp Neurol 193:119-145.
- Kosaka T, Hama K (1979) Ruffed Cell New Type of Neuron with a Distinctive Initial Unmyelinated Portion of the Axon in the Olfactory-Bulb of the Goldfish (Carassius-Auratus) .1. Golgi Impregnation and Serial Thin Sectioning Studies. J Comp Neurol 186:301-319.
- Kosaka T, Hama K (1980) Presence of the Ruffed Cell in the Olfactory-Bulb of the Catfish, Parasilurus-Asotus, and the Sea Eel, Conger-Myriaster. J Comp Neurol 193:103-117.
- Kosaka T, Hama K (1981) Ruffed Cell a New Type of Neuron with a Distinctive Initial Unmyelinated Portion of the Axon in the Olfactory-Bulb of the Goldfish (Carassius, Auratus) .3. 3-Dimensional Structure of the Ruffed Cell Dendrite. J Comp Neurol 201:571-587.
- Kosaka T, Hama K (1982) Synaptic organization in the teleost olfactory bulb. Journal de physiologie 78:707-719.

- Laberge F, Hara TJ (2001) Neurobiology of fish olfaction: a review. Brain Res Rev 36:46-59.
- Laframboise AJ, Ren X, Chang S, Dubuc R, Zielinski BS (2007) Olfactory sensory neurons in the sea lamprey display polymorphisms. Neurosci Lett 414:277-281.
- Laurent G (2002) Olfactory network dynamics and the coding of multidimensional signals. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:884-895.
- Laurent G, Davidowitz H (1994) Encoding of Olfactory Information with Oscillating Neural Assemblies. Science 265:1872-1875.
- Laurent G, Wehr M, Davidowitz H (1996) Temporal representations of odors in an olfactory network. Journal of Neuroscience 16:3837-3847.
- Li W, Sorensen PW (1997) Highly independent olfactory receptor sites for naturally occurring bile acids in the sea lamprey, Petromyzon marinus. J Comp Physiol A-Sens Neural Behav Physiol 180:429-438.
- Li WM, Sorensen PW, Gallaher DD (1995) The Olfactory System of Migratory Adult Sea Lamprey (Petromyzon-Marinus) Is Specifically and Acutely Sensitive to Unique Bile-Acids Released by Conspecific Larvae. J Gen Physiol 105:569-587.
- Li WM, Scott AP, Siefkes MJ, Yan HG, Liu Q, Yun SS, Gage DA (2002) Bile acid secreted by male sea lamprey that acts as a sex pheromone. Science 296:138-141.
- Libants S, Carr K, Wu H, Teeter JH, Chung-Davidson YW, Zhang ZP, Wilkerson C, Li WM (2009) The sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus genome reveals the early origin of several chemosensory receptor families in the vertebrate lineage. BMC Evol Biol 9.
- Ma MH (2007) Encoding olfactory signals via multiple chemosensory systems. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 42:463-480.
- Ma MH, Shepherd GM (2000) Functional mosaic organization of mouse olfactory receptor neurons. P Natl Acad Sci USA 97:12869-12874.
- MacLeod K, Laurent G (1996) Distinct mechanisms for synchronization and temporal patterning of odor-encoding neural assemblies. Science 274:976-979.
- Matsumoto SG, Hildebrand JG (1981) Olfactory Mechanisms in the Moth Manduca-Sexta - Response Characteristics and Morphology of Central Neurons in the Antennal Lobes. Proc R Soc B-Biol Sci 213:249-+.

- Meeks JP, Holy TE (2009) An ex vivo preparation of the intact mouse vomeronasal organ and accessory olfactory bulb. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 177:440-447.
- Meeks JP, Arnson HA, Holy TE (2010) Representation and transformation of sensory information in the mouse accessory olfactory system. Nat Neurosci 13:723-798.
- Meisami E, Bhatnagar KP (1998) Structure and diversity in mammalian accessory olfactory bulb. Microsc Res Tech 43:476-499.
- Meredith M (1998) Vomeronasal, olfactory, hormonal convergence in the brain -Cooperation or coincidence? In: Olfaction and Taste Xii: An International Symposium, pp 349-361. New York: New York Acad Sciences.
- Miyamichi K, Serizawa S, Kimura HM, Sakano H (2005) Continuous and overlapping expression domains of odorant receptor genes in the olfactory epithelium determine the dorsal/ventral positioning of glomeruli in the olfactory bulb. Journal of Neuroscience 25:3586-3592.
- Mombaerts P, Wang F, Dulac C, Chao SK, Nemes A, Mendelsohn M, Edmondson J, Axel R (1996) Visualizing an olfactory sensory map. Cell 87:675-686.
- Mori K (1987) Membrane and Synaptic Properties of Identified Neurons in the Olfactory-Bulb. Prog Neurobiol 29:275-&.
- Mori K, Mataga N, Imamura K (1992) Differential Specificities of Single Mitral Cells in Rabbit Olfactory-Bulb for a Homologous Series of Fatty-Acid Odor Molecules. J Neurophysiol 67:786-789.
- Mori K, Takahashi YK, Igarashi KM, Yamaguchi M (2006) Maps of odourant molecular features in the mammalian olfactory bulb. Physiol Rev 86: 409-433.
- Munger SD, Leinders-Zufall T, Zufall F (2009) Subsystem organization of the mammalian sense of smell. Annu Rev Physiol 71: 115-140.
- Morita Y, Finger TE (1998) Differential projections of ciliated and microvillous olfactory receptor cells in the catfish, Ictalurus punctatus. J Comp Neurol 398:539-550.
- Nikonov AA, Caprio J (2001) Electrophysiological evidence for a chemotopy of biologically relevant odors in the olfactory bulb of the channel catfish. J Neurophysiol 86:1869-1876.

- Nikonov AA, Caprio J (2004) Odorant specificity of single olfactory bulb neurons to amino acids in the channel catfish. J Neurophysiol 92:123-134.
- Nikonov AA, Finger TE, Caprio J (2005) Beyond the olfactory bulb: An odotopic map in the forebrain. P Natl Acad Sci USA 102:18688-18693.
- Nodari F, Hsu FF, Fu XY, Holekamp TF, Kao LF, Turk J, Holy TE (2008) Sulfated steroids as natural ligands of mouse pheromone-sensing neurons. Journal of Neuroscience 28:6407-6418.
- Potter IC, Hilliard RW, Bird DJ (1982) Stages in metamorphosis. In: The biology of lampreys (Hardisty MW, Potter IC, eds), pp 137-164. New York: Academic Press.
- Purvis HA (1980) Effects of Temperature on Metamorphosis and the Age and Length at Metamorphosis in Sea Lamprey (Petromyzon-Marinus) in the Great-Lakes. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 37:1827-1834.
- Rauschecker JP, Tian B (2000) Mechanisms and streams for processing of "what" and "where" in auditory cortex. P Natl Acad Sci USA 97:11800-11806.
- Ren X, Chang S, Laframboise A, Green W, Dubuc R, Zielinski B (2009) Projections from the Accessory Olfactory Organ into the Medial Region of the Olfactory Bulb in the Sea Lamprey (Petromyzon marinus): A Novel Vertebrate Sensory Structure? J Comp Neurol 516:105-116.
- Ressler KJ, Sullivan SL, Buck LB (1993) A Zonal Organization of Odorant Receptor Gene-Expression in the Olfactory Epithelium. Cell 73:597-609.
- Ressler KJ, Sullivan SL, Buck LB (1994) Information Coding in the Olfactory System -Evidence for a Stereotyped and Highly Organized Epitope Map in the Olfactory-Bulb. Cell 79:1245-1255.
- Restrepo D, Teeter JH, Schild D (1996) Second messenger signaling in olfactory transduction. J Neurobiol 30:37-48.
- Restrepo D, Arellano J, Oliva AM, Schaefer ML, Lin WH (2004) Emerging views on the distinct but related roles of the main and accessory olfactory systems in responsiveness to chemosensory signals in mice. Horm Behav 46:247-256.
- Rolen SH, Caprio J (2007) Processing of bile salt odor information by single olfactory bulb neurons in the channel catfish. J Neurophysiol 97:4058-4068.

- Rooney D, Doving KB, Ravailleveron M, Szabo T (1992) The Central Connections of the Olfactory Bulbs in Cod, Gadus-Morhua L. Journal Fur Hirnforschung 33:63-75.
- Ryba NJP, Tirindelli R (1997) A new multigene family of putative pheromone receptors. Neuron 19:371-379.
- Sato K, Touhara K (2009) Insect olfaction: receptors, signal transduction, and behavior. Results and problems in cell differentiation 47:121-138.
- Sato Y, Miyasaka N, Yoshihara Y (2005) Mutually exclusive glomerular innervation by two distinct types of olfactory sensory neurons revealed in transgenic zebrafish. Journal of Neuroscience 25:4889-4897.
- Satou M (1990) Synaptic Organization, Local Neuronal Circuitry, and Functional Segregation of the Teleost Olfactory-Bulb. Prog Neurobiol 34:115-142.
- Schild D, Restrepo D (1998) Transduction mechanisms in vertebrate olfactory receptor cells. Physiol Rev 78:429-466.
- Schneider D (1969) Insect Olfaction Deciphering System for Chemical Messages. Science 163:1031-&.
- Schoenfeld TA, Cleland TA (2006) Anatomical contributions to odorant sampling and representation in rodents: Zoning in on sniffing behavior. Chemical Senses 31:131-144.
- Sharp FR, Kauer JS, Shepherd GM (1975) Local Sites of Activity-Related Glucose-Metabolism in Rat Olfactory Bulb during Olfactory Stimulation. Brain Research 98:596-600.
- Sharp FR, Kauer JS, Shepherd GM (1977) Laminar Analysis of 2-Deoxyglucose Uptake in Olfactory-Bulb and Olfactory Cortex of Rabbit and Rat. J Neurophysiol 40:800-813.
- Sheldon RE (1912) The olfactory tracts and centers in teleosts. J Comp Neurol 22:177-339.
- Shepherd GM (1972) Synaptic Organization of the Mammalian Olfactory Bulb. Physiol Rev 52:864-917.
- Shepherd GM, Greer CA (1998) Olfactory Bulb. In: The synaptic organization of the brain. 4th Ed. (Shepherd GM, ed), pp 159-204. New York: Oxford University Press.

- Shepherd GM, Chen WR, Willhite D, Migliore M, Greer CA (2007) The olfactory granule cell: From classical enigma to central role in olfactory processing. Brain Res Rev 55:373-382.
- Siefkes MJ, Li W (2004) Electrophysiological evidence for detection and discrimination of pheromonal bile acids by the olfactory epithelium of female sea lampreys (Petromyzon marinus). J Comp Physiol A -Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol 190:193-199.
- Siefkes MJ, Scott AP, Zielinski B, Yun SS, Li WM (2003) Male sea lampreys, Petromyzon marinus L., excrete a sex pheromone from gill epithelia. Biol Reprod 69:125-132.
- Slotnick B, Restrepo D, Schellinck H, Archbold G, Price S, Lin WH (2010) Accessory olfactory bulb function is modulated by input from the main olfactory epithelium. Eur J Neurosci 31:1108-1116.
- Sorensen PW, Fine JM, Dvornikovs V, Jeffrey CS, Shao F, Wang JZ, Vrieze LA, Anderson KR, Hoye TR (2005) Mixture of new sulfated steroids functions as a migratory pheromone in the sea lamprey. Nat Chem Biol 1:324-328.
- Soucy ER, Albeanu DF, Fantana AL, Murthy VN, Meister M (2009) Precision and diversity in an odor map on the olfactory bulb. Nat Neurosci 12: 210-220.
- Speca DJ, Lin DM, Sorensen PW, Isacoff EY, Ngai J, Dittman AH (1999) Functional identification of a goldfish odorant receptor. Neuron 23:487-498.
- Spehr M, Spehr J, Ukhanov K, Kelliher KR, Leinders-Zufall T, Zufall F (2006) Parallel processing of social signals by the mammalian main and accessory olfactory systems. Cell Mol Life Sci 63:1476-1484.
- Stengl M, Hatt H, Breer H (1992) Peripheral Processes in Insect Olfaction. Annu Rev Physiol 54:665-681.
- Stewart WB, Kauer JS, Shepherd GM (1979) Functional-Organization of Rat Olfactory-Bulb Analyzed by the 2-Deoxyglucose Method. J Comp Neurol 185:715-734.
- Strausfeld NJ, Lee JK (1991) Neuronal Basis for Parallel Visual Processing in the Fly. Visual Neurosci 7:13-33.
- Thornhil RA (1967) Ultrastructure of Olfactory Epithelium of Lamprey Lampetra Fluviatilis. J Cell Sci 2:591-&.

- Tolbert LP, Hildebrand JG (1981) Organization and Synaptic Ultrastructure of Glomeruli in the Antennal Lobes of the Moth Manduca-Sexta - a Study Using Thin-Sections and Freeze-Fracture. Proc R Soc B-Biol Sci 213:279-+.
- Turaga D, Holy TE (2012) Organization of Vomeronasal Sensory Coding Revealed by Fast Volumetric Calcium Imaging. Journal of Neuroscience 32:1612-1621.
- Urban NN, Sakmann B (2002) Reciprocal intraglomerular excitation and intra- and interglomerular lateral inhibition between mouse olfactory bulb mitral cells. J Physiol-London 542:355-367.
- Vandenbossche J, Seelye JG, Zielinski BS (1995) The Morphology of the Olfactory Epithelium in Larval, Juvenile and Upstream Migrant Stages of the Sea Lamprey, Petromyzon-Marinus. Brain Behav Evol 45:19-24.
- VanDenBossche J, Youson JH, Pohlman D, Wong E, Zielinski BS (1997)Metamorphosis of the olfactory organ of the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus L): Morphological changes and morphometric analysis. J Morphol 231:41-52.
- Vassar R, Chao SK, Sitcheran R, Nunez JM, Vosshall LB, Axel R (1994) Topographic Organization of Sensory Projections to the Olfactory-Bulb. Cell 79:981-991.
- Vonbartheld CS, Meyer DL, Fiebig E, Ebbesson SOE (1984) Central Connections of the Olfactory-Bulb in the Goldfish, Carassius-Auratus. Cell Tissue Res 238:475-487.
- Wachowiak M, Cohen LB (2001) Representation of odorants by receptor neuron input to the mouse olfactory bulb. Neuron 32:723-735.
- Wachowiak M, Cohen LB (2003) Correspondence between odorant-evoked patterns of receptor neuron input and intrinsic optical signals in the mouse olfactory bulb. J Neurophysiol 89:1623-1639.
- Wachowiak M, Denk W, Friedrich RW (2004) Functional organization of sensory input to the olfactory bulb glomerulus analyzed by two-photon calcium imaging. P Natl Acad Sci USA 101:9097-9102.
- Wehr M, Laurent G (1996) Odour encoding by temporal sequences of firing in oscillating neural assemblies. Nature 384:162-166.
- Wick SD, Wiechert MT, Friedrich RW, Riecke H (2010) Pattern orthogonalization via channel decorrelation by adaptive networks. J Comput Neurosci 28:29-45.

- Wiechert MT, Judkewitz B, Riecke H, Friedrich RW (2010) Mechanisms of pattern decorrelation by recurrent neuronal circuits. Nat Neurosci 13:1003-U1132.
- Xu FQ, Greer CA, Shepherd GM (2000a) Odor maps in the olfactory bulb. J Comp Neurol 422:489-495.
- Xu FQ, Kida I, Hyder F, Shulman RG (2000b) Assessment and discrimination of odor stimuli in rat olfactory bulb by dynamic functional MRI. P Natl Acad Sci USA 97:10601-10606.
- Xu FQ, Liu N, Kida L, Rothman DL, Hyder F, Shepherd GM (2003) Odor maps of aldehydes and esters revealed by functional MRI in the glomerular layer of the mouse olfactory bulb. P Natl Acad Sci USA 100:11029-11034.
- Xu FQ, Schaefer M, Kida I, Schafer J, Liu N, Rothman DL, Hyder F, Restrepo D, Shepherd GM (2005) Simultaneous activation of mouse main and accessory olfactory bulbs by odors or pheromones. J Comp Neurol 489:491-500.
- Youson JH, Potter IC (1979) Description of the Stages in the Metamorphosis of the Anadromous Sea Lamprey, Petromyzon-Marinus L. Can J Zool 57:1808-1817.
- Zhao H, Firestein S (1999) Vertebrate odorant receptors. Cell Mol Life Sci 56:647-659.
- Zielinski BS, Hara TJ (2006) Olfaction. In: Sensory Systems Neuroscience (Hara TJ, Zielinski BS, eds), pp 1 43: Elsevier.
- Zippel HP, Reschke C, Korff V (1999) Simultaneous recordings from two physiologically different types of relay neurons, mitral cells and ruffed cells, in the olfactory bulb of goldfish. Cell Mol Biol 45:327-337.
- Zippel HP, Gloger M, Luthje L, Nassar S, Wilcke S (2000) Pheromone discrimination ability of olfactory bulb mitral and ruffed cells in the goldfish (Carassius auratus). Chemical Senses 25:339-349.

CHAPTER 2

The neuroanatomy of projections neurons in two

parallel pathways of the olfactory bulb

2.1 Introduction

An animal's environment contains a variety of chemosensory cues with the potential of eliciting context-specific movements (Gray et al. 2005; Kimchi and Dulac 2007; Johnson et al. 2009). Recently, the entire neural substrate underlying olfactorybased locomotor transformation was described in a vertebrate, the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*; Derjean et al. 2010). Olfactory sensory input is conducted by projection neurons (PNs) in the medial region of the olfactory bulb (OB) to the posterior tuberculum and stimulate neurons projecting to the mesencephalic locomotor region, where projecting axons activate reticulospinal cells - the motor command neurons of the hindbrain. The sensory inputs to this medial region of the OB are predominately from the accessory olfactory organ (Ren et al. 2009) and are biochemically distinct from the rest of the OB (Frontini et al. 2003). The axons of olfactory sensory neurons projecting into the glomeruli of the OB (both medial and nonmedial) can be visualized by labeling with GS1B4 lectin (Tobet et al. 1996; Frontini et al 2003). The axonal projections of projection neurons from non-medial regions of the lamprey OB are located in various forebrain structures, but not in the posterior tuberculum (Northcutt and Puzdrowski 1988, Polenova and Vesselkin 1993) and stimulation of these non-medial bulbar regions does not stimulate locomotor activity (Derjean et al., 2010). However, it is unknown if the arborization of the dendrites and localization of the cell bodies of the medial second order neurons differs from the PNs in rest of the OB. Moreover, it is not known if these PNs differ during the migratory or spawning adult stages, when locomotor responses to pheromones are of primary importance (Sorensen et al. 2005; Johnson et al. 2009).

Dendritic morphology is an important indicator of synaptic interactions. For invertebrate olfactory antennal PNs, (*Bombyx mori*), dendrites are heterogenous and depend on the innervating glomeruli (Namiki and Kanzaki 2011). For the PNs in the mammalian OB (mitral/tufted cells), a single primary dendrite extends radially from the cell body into a single glomerulus and lateral branches (secondary dendrites) extend horizontally into the external plexiform layer (Shepherd 1972). Mitral cells possess multiple primary dendrites that extend radially into multiple glomeruli in the mammalian accessory olfactory bulb (e.g. Shepherd and Greer 1998; Meisami and Bhatnagar 1998; Del Punta et al. 2002) and in the OB of teleost fish (e.g. Dryer and Graziadei 1994; Alonso et al. 1988; Satou 1990; Fuller et al. 2006).

J.B. Johnson (1902) observed that mitral cells were not well developed in lamprey, and Nieuwenhuys (1977) pointed out that the position and shape of mitral cells in this basal vertebrate differed from the typical mitral cells of teleost fish or terrestrial vertebrates. The cell bodies did not form a distinct layer, but were dispersed between as well as beneath glomeruli (Heier 1948; Iwahori et al. 1987; Viller-Cervino et al. 2011); multiple primary dendrites extended into glomerular neuropil and lateral branches were absent (Iwahori et al. 1987). These descriptions of mitral cells relied on Golgi impregnation (Johnson 1902; Heier 1948; Iwahori et al. 1987), Bodian staining (e.g. Heier 1948), immunocytochemistry and *in situ* hybridization (Viller-Cervino et al. 2011). While effective at staining neurons, these techniques do not allow for precise localization of PNs that target specific regions of the brain. Both neural connectivity and dendritic morphology are evident by retrograde tract tracing.

The objective of this study was to investigate the distribution and morphology of

the dendrites and the somal position of PNs that transmit olfactory inputs to locomotor centers (the medial projections to the posterior tuberculum; Derjean et al. 2010), to compare these with the PNs that connect to the lateral pallium; and to look for clues of spatial boundaries imposed on the medial PNs compared to the non-medial counterparts. Since retrograde neuronal labelling was utilized, we have designated the labelled cells as PNs, rather than mitral cells. These studies show that medial PNs exhibit a confined pattern of dendritic localization and morphometric parameters that likely affect the transmission of synaptic input to locomotor output in newly transformed as well as spawning adult stages.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Experimental Animals

We compared metamorphic stage seven or downstream migrants (transformers) and spawning-phase adult sea lamprey (Potter et al. 1982) (n=60) to test for possible morphological or morphometric differences in the PNs that extended from the OB during these two life stages. Transformers and spawning-phase adults were caught from Michigan streams and held at the U.S. Geological Survey Lake Huron Biological Station in Millersburg, Michigan, or were caught in Ontario streams and housed at either the Department of Fisheries and Oceans Canada Sea Lamprey Control center in Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario, or at the Boyd Field Centre, Toronto Region Conservation Authority, Downsview, Ontario. All animals were transported to the University of Windsor and housed in aquaria at 7 °C \pm 1 °C in dechlorinated water under static renewal conditions. Transformer and adult sea lamprey weighed 4.2g \pm 0.4 and 259.5g \pm 6.9 (mean \pm SEM) respectively, and measured 12.8 cm \pm 0.8 and 47.2 cm \pm 0.8 (mean \pm SEM), respectively.

All housing conditions and experimental procedures were in compliance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Special care was taken to minimize the number of animals used in this study.

2.2.2 Cresyl violet staining of the olfactory bulb

Sea lampreys were euthanized in a 1 g/L solution of tricaine methane sulfonate (MS222, FINQUEL, Averst Laboratory, New York) and decapitated. The brain was isolated within the cartilaginous skull and the olfactory bulbs, pallia, and midbrain were exposed. The entire dissection was conducted in cold, oxygenated Ringer's solution (130 mM NaCl, 2.1 mM KCl, 2.6 mM CaCl₂, 1.8 mM MgCl₂, 4.0 mM HEPES, 4.0 mM dextrose, and 1.0 mM NaHCO₃, pH 7.4). The excised tissue was fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB, pH = 7.4) for at least 24 hours. The tissue was then cryoprotected using a sucrose gradient (10%, 20%, then 30% sucrose in 0.1M phosphate buffered saline; PBS) and cryosectioned (Leica CM3050 S, Leica Microsystems, Germany) in serial 14 µm coronal sections. Tissue sections were dehydrated using an ethanol gradient (70%, 95%, 100%), cleared (Histosol[™], National Diagnostics, Georgia, USA. Cat # HS-100), rehydrated (100% - 70% ethanol), and stained with cresyl violet. Tissue sections were subsequently differentiated (in acetic acid solution), dehydrated (70 – 100 % ethanol), cleared (Histosol[™]) and coverslipped with permount (Fisher Scientific, cat # SP15-100).

2.2.3 Retrograde tracing of olfactory bulb PNs

Biocytin (B-1592, Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) was utilized here to retrograde label the cell bodies and dendrites of PNs extending from the OB. Biocytin's relatively small molecular weight (372 kDa), makes it useful when labelling fine processes. It was previously used as an anterograde and retrograde tracer (Kobbert et al. 2000), and as a retrograde label in the sea lamprey (Ren et al. 2009). For this study, biocytin was dissolved in deionized water, and then allowed to dry on a slide. The remaining biocytin crystals were applied onto the tip of tungsten probes (tip diameter = $1\mu m$; 501316, World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL) for loading into brain tissue. Sea lampreys were anaesthetized in a 100 mg/L solution of tricaine methane sulfonate (MS222, FINQUEL, Ayerst Laboratory, New York) and decapitated. The brain was isolated within the cartilaginous skull and the olfactory bulbs, pallia, and midbrain were exposed. The entire dissection was conducted in cold, oxygenated Ringer's solution (130 mM NaCl, 2.1 mM KCl, 2.6 mM CaCl₂, 1.8 mM MgCl₂, 4.0 mM HEPES, 4.0 mM dextrose, and 1.0 mM NaHCO₃, pH 7.4). Derjean et al. (2010) showed that the axons of PNs in the medial region of the OB terminate in the ventral diencephalon, specifically, the posterior tuberculum. Accordingly, these PNs were labeled by inserting biocytin crystals into the ventral diencephalon including the posterior tuberculum. Since axons of non-medial PNs project to and terminate in the lateral pallium (Derjean et al. 2010), these PNs were labeled by cutting the pallium and inserting biocytin crystals into the entire lateral pallium. The brain was then incubated in cold oxygenated Ringer's solution for 8 hours to allow biocytin to move retrogradely in the axon and label PN cell bodies and dendrites. Following incubation, the tissue was fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB, pH = 7.4) for at least 24 hours. The tissue was then cryoprotected using a sucrose gradient (10%, 20%, then 30% sucrose in 0.1M phosphate buffered saline; PBS) and cryosectioned (Leica CM3050 S, Leica Microsystems, Germany) in serial 35 µm coronal sections. The cryosections were rehydrated in 0.1M PBS and then placed in

Alexa Fluor 568 streptavidin (S11226: 1:200 Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) in 0.1 M PBS overnight at 4 °C to visualize the biotinylated PNs. Slides were rinsed with 0.1M PBS 3 times for 10 minutes and coverslipped using fluoromount-G (cat. # 0100-01, Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL). The dura was removed from all preparations, since endogenous expression of avidin binding sites was located in the dura (data not shown) in negative controls that were labelled with streptavidin, but did not receive an insertion of biocytin. The region between adjacent olfactory bulbs was inaccessible for removing dura; therefore a small amount of dura remained on the medial surface of the OB for these experiments.

2.2.4 GS1B₄ labelling of olfactory glomeruli

The *Griffonia simplicifolia* lectin I, isolectin B4 (GS1B₄) binds to galactosyl residues present on the axons of lamprey olfactory sensory neurons (Tobet et al. 1996; Zielinski et al. 2000). It was utilized to show the spatial relationship between retrogradely labeled PNs and the axons of olfactory sensory neurons. After the biocytin filled PNs had been labelled with Alexa Fluor Streptavidin 568, these slides were placed into Fluorescein 488 *Griffonia simplicifolia* Lectin I, isolectin B4 (10 µg/ml, FL-1201, Vector Laboratories, Burlington, ON) and incubated overnight at 4°C. Slides were then rinsed in 0.1 M PBS (3 rinses, 10 minutes each) and coverslipped.

2.2.5 Microscopy

Tissue sections were observed on a Nikon Eclipse E600 fluorescence microscope (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) and images were archived with a Q-Imaging Retiga 1300 digital camera (Q-Imaging Corporation, Burnaby, B.C., Canada) using Northern Eclipse software (EMPIX Imaging Inc., Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). Confocal microscopy

(Olympus FluoView FV1000 FV-10 ASW, Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) was used to investigate the morphology of PNs, including the dendritic arborizations.

2.2.6 Morphometry

The location and size of the bulbar region containing the medial PNs was determined in transformer (n=4) and migratory adult (n=3) lampreys. The rostral-caudal location of the medial PNs as well as the length of the OB was determined by counting the number of sections from the rostral surface to the caudal-most section containing glomeruli – as indicated by GS1B₄ lectin labelling, and multiplying the number of sections by the section thickness (35 μ m). The distance occupied by the medial PNs was determined by multiplying the number of sections that contained labelled PNs somata by the thickness of each section (35 μ m).

The diameter of PN cell bodies on their major (longest) axis was measured using Northern Eclipse software (EMPIX Imaging Inc., Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). We measured only PN cell bodies that were visible in their entirety by focusing through sections with a 40X oil immersion objective (NA 1.3). The length of the major axis (diameter along the longest axis) was measured in the plane of focus where the cell was largest. A total of 50 PNs were selected in medial (n=5) and non-medial labelled (n=5) OB tissue in both transformer and adult sea lamprey. Values reported for PNs cell body diameters are mean \pm SD. Post acquisition analysis of differences in cell body diameter between the medial and non-medial regions of the OB passed the statistical test for normality but not for equal variance, thus a Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks followed by Tukey *post hoc* pairwise-comparisons was used (Sigmastat, Systat software Inc).

The primary dendrites were directed outwardly towards a glomerulus (Shepherd 1972) and were differentiated from an axon based on size (dendrites have a thicker diameter than axons (Iwahori et al. 1987)). Generally, PN cell dendrites project towards the surface of the OB, while axons project towards the centre of the OB (Iwahori et al. 1987). We utilized nomenclature defined by Fuller et al. (2006) for designating the dendritic composition of the PNs as unidendritic (possessing a single primary dendrite) or multidendritic (with two or more primary dendrites). Tallies of PNs (unidendritic and multidendritic) were performed utilizing two transformer and two adult lamprey for both the medial (10 PNs/tissue; n=4; 40 PNs total) and non-medial (20 PNs/tissue; n=4; 80 PNs total) regions of the OB. Only PNs that included the entire cell body and at least the proximal portion of these neuronal processes within a tissue section were assessed as unidendritic or multidendritic. Moreover, the classification of PNs as unidendritic or multidendritic was established by through-focus examination and confocal microscope zstack reconstruction of these cells. In the confocal z-stacks, each section was examined from the proximal portion of the dendrite at the cell body to the distal end of the dendrite to ensure the continuity of the dendrites.

2.3 Results

In accordance with Iwahori et al. (1987), two strata - the layer with glomeruli and mitral cells and the granule cell layer (Figure 2.1) - were prominent in coronal views of the lamprey OB.

2.3.1 Localization of Olfactory Bulb PNs

Biocytin, inserted into the ventral diencephalon, retrogradely labeled medial PNs along the rostral-caudal extent of the medial glomerular neuropil, without labeling cells

in other regions of the OB (Figure 2.2 A-C). Non-medial PNs were labeled following biocytin application to the lateral pallium (Figure 2.2 D-F); and the dendrites of these non-medial PNs did not extend into the medial glomerulus (Figure 2.3). Axonal fibers extended caudally and were traced back to the biocytin injection site. In both post metamorphic and spawning adult stages, the medial PNs were clustered within glomerular neuropil that spanned the middle third of the length of the OB. Although the OB was approximately 1.5 X longer in the spawning adult compared to the post metamorphic stage, the position and relative length occupied by dendrites and somata of the medial PNs remained unchanged (Table 2.1). These measurements indicate the bulbar length occupied by the medial PNs increased proportionately with the total length of the OB, from the transformer to the spawning adult stage.

The double labelling of PNs (with biocytin) and of the extracellular surface of the axons of olfactory sensory neurons (with $GS1B_4$ lectin) revealed that the cell bodies and dendrites of the medial PNs were confined to the glomerulus (Figure 2.4 A, B). For non-medial PNs, the somal position was outside (often proximal) to glomeruli, and dendrites extended into glomerular neuropil (Figure 2.4 C, D).



Figure 2.1. A cresyl violet stained cross section of the olfactory bulb from a transformer stage sea lamprey shows the layer with mitral cells and glomeruli (GLMC) and the granule cell layer (GrC). The scale bar is $100 \mu m$.


Figure 2.2. Rostral-caudal distribution of retrograde labeled PNs in coronal sections of the transformer olfactory bulb following insertion of biocytin into the posterior tuberculum (A-C) or the lateral pallium (D-F). Biocytin insertion into the posterior tuberculum exclusively labelled medial PNs (A-C) while biocytin insertion into the lateral pallium labelled non-medial PNs (D-F). Scale bar, shown in A (125 μ m) is the same for all images. Inset in C is a diagram of the olfactory bulb in the horizontal plane with lines representing the location of the coronal sections. Dashed lines in A-F outline the location of the medial glomerular neuropil. Arrows point to retrograde labeled cell bodies.



Figure 2.3. Non-medial projection neurons (PNs) retrograde labeled from the lateral pallium did not enter the medial glomerulus. Dashed line denotes the boundary of the medial glomerulus. Scale bar is $60 \mu m$.

2.3.2 Size of PN Somata

In adult lamprey, the cell body diameter of medial PNs was $19.56 \pm 1.82 \,\mu\text{m}$ (mean \pm SD) compared to $15.32 \pm 1.93 \,\mu\text{m}$ (mean \pm SD) in non-medially located PNs (Kruskal-Wallis, H₃=137.5, P<0.001). A difference in cell body size was also observed in transformer stage lamprey, as medial PN cell body diameter was $14.05 \pm 1.50 \,\mu\text{m}$ (mean \pm SD) compared to $12.56 \pm 0.90 \,\mu\text{m}$ (mean \pm SD) in non-medial PNs (Kruskal-Wallis, H₃=137.5, P<0.001). These findings indicate that PN cell body size was always greater in spawning adult lamprey compared to transformer lamprey regardless of whether cell bodies were medial or non-medial (Table 2.1). However, medial PNs were larger than non-medial PN cell bodies in both post metamorphic (transformer) and spawning adult lampreys.

2.3.3 Projection neuron morphology

The morphology of medial (Figure 2.5 A-D) and non-medial (Figure 2.5 E-H) retrogradely labelled PNs was similar in many ways. In both locations, the shape of the labelled cell bodies was mitre, ovoid, or elongate. The dendrites were classified as primary dendrites (Shepherd et al. 1972) since they extended towards glomeruli, into glomeruli or were situated entirely within glomeruli (in the case of the medial PNs). Secondary dendrites (extending laterally into the granular layer) were absent. Dendrites of medial PNs were oriented radially. Dendrites of non-medial PNs were also radial, although some tangentially oriented dendrites were also observed (Figure 2.5 G). Unidendritic and multidendritic PNs were located in both the medial and non-medial





Table 2.1. Length of the olfactory bulb and medial glomerulus containing projection neurons (PNs) and the soma size of PNs in the medial and non-medial olfactory bulb of post metamorphic and spawning adult sea lamprey. All values are mean \pm SD. Sample size is indicated in brackets for each category. Asterisk denotes a significant difference (p<0.001) between medial and non-medial PN soma size within a given life stage.

	Transformer	Spawning Adult
Length of the olfactory bulb (μm)	645 ± 34.2 (4)	962.5 ± 24.7 (3)
Percent length occupied by medial PNs	43 ± 0.032 (3)	41 ± 0.04 (3)
Soma Size of medial PNs (µm)	14.05 ± 1.5 (50)*	19.56 ± 1.8 (50)*
Soma Size of nonmedial PNs (µm)	12.56 ± 0.9 (50)	15.32 ± 1.9 (50)



Figure 2.5. The morphology of medial and non-medial PNs retrograde labelled with biocytin in the olfactory bulb of transformers and adults. Multi-dendritic PNs are shown in the medial (A-C) and non-medial (E-G) region of the olfactory bulb. Unidendritic PNs were observed in the medial (D) and non-medial (H) olfactory bulb. Axons (a) and dendrites (d) of PNs are indicated on each image. Each of the PNs shown were radially oriented, except G, which was tangential. Scale bar is 20 µm.

regions (Figure 2.5). In the non-medial region, 68.75% of the PNs were unidendritic (55/80; n=4; $\chi^2 = 11.25$; p<0.001; df=1); and in the medial region, 62.5% were unidendritic (25/40; n=4; $\chi^2 = 2.5$; p>0.10; df=1). Of the multidendritic PNs observed, a larger proportion was located in the medial region (37.5%; 15/40, n=4) compared to the non-medial region (31.25%; 25/80, n=4). These findings show that the medial and non-medial retrograde labelled PNs shared a common somal shape and dendritic morphology.

2.4 Discussion

The location of somata and dendrites of medial PNs entirely within the medial glomerulus suggests that these second order neurons recruit synaptic information solely from this region. Conversely, the cell bodies of nonmedial PNs were widespread, and predominantly outside glomerular neuropil. Moreover, the dendrites of non-medial PNs did not extend into the medial glomerulus.

The anatomical isolation of PNs inside the medial OB glomerulus represents a unique condition with potentially profound functional consequences. The PNs of the medial glomerulus obtain synaptic information exclusively from dendritic and somatal surfaces within glomerular neuropil, and not from deeper bulbar regions. This suggests that neural signals processed in the medial glomerulus are not influenced directly by the processing of information by PNs in other regions of the OB; however, they may be subject to lateral inhibition by granule cells associated with PNs of the non-medial glomerulus. Moreover, because the somata and proximal dendrites of the medial PNs are able to come into contact with synaptic terminals entirely within glomerular neuropil, the space constant will be considerably small for these inputs, and there will be a large input

effect on these medial PNs.

The organisation that we observed for medial PNs in the sea lamprey is quite different from that of the mammalian main olfactory bulb; and suggests a potential difference in the functional PN circuit compared to the mammalian main olfactory bulb where inhibition of the lateral dendritic branches of mitral cells is widespread (Yokoi et al. 1995; Johnson et al. 1998; Aungst et al. 2003; review by Shepherd et al. 2007).

Three observations support a distinct functional role compared to that of the rest of the olfactory bulb; 1) these medial PNs are the origin of an olfactory pathway that leads to locomotion (Derjean et al. 2010); 2) the isolated nature of the medial PNs (dendrites are entirely within the glomerulus); and 3) the location of these medial PNs is the sole projection site of the sensory neurons of the accessory olfactory organ (Ren et al. 2009).

The relative length of the region occupied by the cell bodies and dendrites of the medial PNs was constant in both post metamorphic and adult stages. The post metamorphic stage leads directly to the parasitic feeding stage that moves in response to the odours of prey (Kleerekoper and Mogensen 1963); whereas the migratory adult and spawning adult lamprey show movement responses to pheromones (Li et al. 2002; Sorensen et al. 2005; Johnson et al. 2009). Possibly, this olfactory-locomotor substrate is important for both life stages.

The arrangement of cell bodies beneath and around glomeruli for non-medial PNs confirmed the arrangement of mitral cells previously seen in lamprey (Johnson 1902; Heier 1948; Nieuwenhuys 1977; Iwarhori et al. 1987; Villar-Cervino 2011). The olfactory bulbs of elasmobranchs and teleosts also demonstrate compartmentalization and

specificity of the medial region. Dryer and Graziadei (1993) demonstrated a medial "subbulb" that has different inputs and outputs compared to the lateral "sub-bulb" in sharks. The medial region of the OB in teleost fish is also distinct. Mitral cells in the medial region predominantly display responses to bile acids and project axons along the medial olfactory tract, whereas mitral cells in the lateral OB predominately respond to amino acids and project axons along the lateral olfactory tract (e.g. Hamdani and Doving 2003; Fuller et al. 2006; Hara and Zhang 1998; Nikonov and Caprio 2001; Hansen et al. 2003). Although sea lampreys display anatomical compartmentalization of the medial OB, odourant specificity of the medial OB (and other bulbar regions) has yet to be fully elucidated. In the moth antennal lobe, PNs innervating the macroglomerular complex (responding to pheromones) did not have extraglomerular processes (Namike and Kanzaki, 2011). Del Punta et al. (2002) have shown that the multi-dendritic second order neurons in the accessory olfactory bulb of mice project dendrites to glomeruli innervated by axons of sensory neurons expressing the same V1R or the same V2R gene.

The somal shape of the PNs investigated in the present study matched the morphology of mitral cells in the Arctic lamprey seen by Iwahori et al. (1987). However, we also observed unidendendritic PNs, previously seen by retrograde labelling in the OB of zebrafish (Fuller et al. 2006). Also in accordance with PNs (mitral cells) in zebrafish (Fuller et al. 2006); a greater proportion of multidendritic PNs were located in the medial region and soma size for medial PNs was greater than for non-medial PNs. In elasmobranchs, two types of mitral cells based on dendritic branching are also distributed throughout the OB (Dryer and Graziadei 1994). Furthermore, in the tench (*Tinca tinca*), a teleost, two types of mitral cells (based on soma) were differentially distributed in the

OB (Alonso et al. 1988).

The results of the present study demonstrate that the medial region of the OB in the sea lamprey is an anatomically defined and morphologically distinct region that seems to be isolated from the other regions of the OB. Previous work has demonstrated that the medial OB of sea lamprey has a unique output pathway to locomotor command centres (Derjean et al. 2010) and is the only site of sensory input from the accessory olfactory organ (Ren et al. 2009). The unique neuroanatomical features described here suggest that the medial region may be not only anatomically different, but also functionally different from other OB regions. Furthermore, this study supports the hypothesis of Derjean et al. (2010) that there are two olfactory pathways originating in the sea lamprey OB, one for odour discrimination and one for generating olfactorymediated motor responses. Future work in our lab is focused on determining the mitral cell odour response profiles in the medial OB and how these responses are modulated.

2.5 References

- Alonso JR, Lara J, Covenas R, Aijon J (1988) Two types of mitral cells in the teleostean olfactory bulb. Neurosci Res Commun. 3:113-118.
- Aungst JL, Heyward PM, Puche AC, Karnup SV, Hayar A, Szabo G, Shipley MT (2003) Centre-surround inhibition among olfactory bulb glomeruli. Nature 426:623-629.
- Del Punta K, Puche A, Adams NC, Rodriguez I, Mombaerts P (2002) A divergent pattern of sensory axonal projections is rendered convergent by second-order neurons in the accessory olfactory bulb. Neuron. 35:1057-1066.
- Derjean D, Moussaddy A, Atallah E, St-Pierre M, Auclair Fo, Chang S, Ren X, Zielinski B, Dubuc Rj (2010) A novel neural substrate for the transformation of olfactory inputs into motor output. PLoS Biol. 8:e1000567.
- Dryer L, Graziadei PPC (1993) A pilot-study on morphological compartmentalization and heterogeneity in the elasmobranch olfactory bulb. Anat Embryol 188:41-51.

- Dryer L, Graziadei PPC (1994) Mitral cell dendrites a comparative approach. Anat Embryol. 189:91-106.
- Frontini A, Zaidi AU, Hua H, Wolak TP, Greer CA, Kafitz KW, Li W, Zielinski BS (2003) Glomerular territories in the olfactory bulb from the larval stage of the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus). J. Comp. Neurol. 465:27-37.
- Fuller CL, Yettaw HK, Byrd CA (2006) Mitral cells in the olfactory bulb of adult zebrafish (*Danio rerio*): Morphology and distribution. J Comp Neurol. 499:218-230.
- Gray JM, Hill JJ, Bargmann CI (2005) A circuit for navigation in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 102:3184-3191.
- Hamdani EH, Doving KB (2003) Sensitivity and selectivity of neurons in the medial region of the olfactory bulb to skin extract from conspecifics in crucian carp, *Carassius carassius*. Chem Senses. 28:181-189.
- Hansen A, Rolen SH, Anderson K, Morita Y, Caprio J, Finger TE (2003) Correlation between olfactory receptor cell type and function in the channel catfish. J Neurosci 23: 9328-9339.
- Hara TJ, Zhang C (1998) Topographic bulbar projections and dual neural pathways of the primary olfactory neurons in salmonid fishes. Neuroscience. 82:301-313.
- Heier P (1948) Fundamental principles in the structure of the brain. A study of the brain of *Petromyzon fluviatilis*. Acta Anat. 8:9-89.
- Iwahori N, Kiyota E, Nakamura K (1987) A Golgi study on the olfactory bulb in the lamprey, *Lampetra japonica*. Neurosci Res. 5:126-139.
- Johnson BA, Woo CC, Leon M (1998) Spatial coding of odorant features in the glomerular layer of the rat olfactory bulb. J Comp Neurol. 393:457-471.
- Johnson JB (1902) The brain of *Petromyzon*. J Comp Neurol. 12:2-82.
- Johnson NS, Yun SS, Thompson HT, Brant CO, Li WM (2009) A synthesized pheromone induces upstream movement in female sea lamprey and summons them into traps. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 106:1021-1026.
- Kimchi T, Dulac C (2007) A functional circuit underlying male sexual behaviour in the female mouse brain. Nature. 448:1009-10014.
- Kleerekoper H, Mogensen J (1963) Role of Olfaction in the Orientation of Petromyzon marinus. I. Response to a Single Amine in Prey's Body Odor. Physiological Zoology 36:347-360.

- Kobbert C, Apps R, Bechmann I, Lanciego JL, Mey J, Thanos S (2000) Current concepts in neuroanatomical tracing. Prog Neurobiol. 62:327-351.
- Li WM, Scott AP, Siefkes MJ, Yan HG, Liu Q, Yun SS, Gage DA (2002) Bile acid secreted by male sea lamprey that acts as a sex pheromone. Science. 296:138-141.
- Meisami E, Bhatnagar KP (1998) Structure and diversity in mammalian accessory olfactory bulb. Microsc Res Tech. 43:476-499.
- Namiki S, Kanzaki R (2011) Heterogeneity in dendritic morphology of moth antennal lobe projection neurons J Comp Neurol. 519:3367-3386.
- Nieuwenhuys, R (1977) The brain of the lamprey in a comparative perspective. Annals New York Academy of Sciences. 299:97-145.
- Nikonov AA, Caprio J (2001) Electrophysiological evidence for a chemotopy of biologically relevant odors in the olfactory bulb of the channel catfish. J Neurophysiol. 86:1869-1876.
- Northcutt RG, Puzdrowski RL (1988) Projections of the olfactory bulb and nervus terminalis in the Silver Lamprey. Brain Behav Evol. 32:96-107.
- Polenova OA, Vesselkin NP (1993) Olfactory and nonolfactory projections in the river lamprey (*Lampetra fluviatilis*) telencephalon. J Hirnforsch. 34:261-279.
- Potter IC, Hilliard RW, Bird DJ (1982) Stages in metamorphosis. In: Hardisty MW, Potter IC, (eds.), The biology of lampreys. New York: Academic Press. p. 137-164.
- Ren X, Chang S, Laframboise A, Green W, Dubuc R, Zielinski B (2009) Projections from the accessory olfactory organ into the medial region of the olfactory bulb in the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*): A novel vertebrate sensory structure? J Comp Neurol. 516:105-116.
- Satou M (1990) Synaptic organization, local neuronal circuitry, and functional segregation of the teleost olfactory bulb. Prog Neurobiol. 34:115-142.
- Shepherd GM (1972) Synaptic organization of the mammalian olfactory bulb. Physiol Rev. 52:864-917.
- Shepherd GM, Chen WR, Willhite D, Migliore M, Greer CA (2007) The olfactory granule cell: From classical enigma to central role in olfactory processing. Brain Res Rev. 55:373-382.

- Shepherd GM, Greer CA (1998) Olfactory Bulb. In: Shepherd GM, (ed.), The synaptic organization of the brain. 4th Ed. New York: Oxford University Press. p. 159-204.
- Sorensen PW, Fine JM, Dvornikovs V, Jeffrey CS, Shao F, Wang J, Vrieze LA, Anderson KR, Hoye TR (2005) Mixture of new sulfated steroids functions as a migratory pheromone in the sea lamprey. Nat Chem Biol. 1(6): 324-8.
- Tobet SA, Chickering TW, Sower SA (1996) Relationship of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons to the olfactory system in developing lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*). J Comp Neurol. 376:97-111.
- Villar-Cervino V, Barreiro-Iglesias A, Mazan S, Rodico MC, Anadon R (2011) Glutamatergic neuronal populations in the forebrain of the sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus*: an in situ hybridization and immunocytochemical study. J Comp Neurol. 519:1712-35.
- Yokoi M, Mori K, Nakanishi S (1995) Refinement of odor molecule tuning by dendrodendritic synaptic inhibition in the olfactory bulb. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 92:3371-3375.
- Zielinski BS, Moretti N, Hua HN, Zaidi AU, Bisaillon AD (2000) Serotonergic nerve fibers in the primary olfactory pathway of the larval sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus*. J Comp Neurol. 420:324-334.

CHAPTER 3

Chemosensory responses of the olfactory bulb

3.1 Introduction

Parallel processing pathways serve to process different features of the sensory stimulus and have been observed in the visual, auditory, somatosensory, and olfactory systems. The processing of olfactory information occurs in the olfactory bulb (OB) and is projected along output pathways to specific targets in the central nervous system, ultimately driving odour-mediated behaviours. The olfactory systems of invertebrate and vertebrate organisms possess parallel processing pathways whereby different types of odourants are processed in different parallel olfactory subsystems. In the male moth and cockroach general odours are processed in glomeruli of the antennal lobe (AL) while sex pheromones are processed in the macroglomerulus/macroglomerular complex (Christensen and Hildebrand, 1987; Hansson et al., 1992; Christensen et al., 1995a; Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997; Kay and Stopfer, 2006). Moreover, in rodents, general volatile odours are processed by the main olfactory system while non-volatile social odours are processed by the accessory olfactory system, although some overlap does occur (Restrepo et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2005; Spehr et al., 2006; Slotnick et al., 2010). In the honeybee, distinct medial and lateral parallel olfactory subsystems exist that are anatomically distinct (Kirschner et al., 2006) and differentially respond to odourant features such as carbon chain length and functional groups (Carcaud et al., 2012). Studies in cod (*Gadus morhua*) and crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*), where the different bundles of the medial and lateral olfactory tracts (MOT and LOT) were selectively cut one at a time, and the behaviour to feeding, reproductive, or alarm odours were examined, have shown that different bundles of the lateral and medial olfactory

tracts are functionally distinct (Doving and Selset, 1980; see review Hamdani and Doving, 2007). In particular, the LOT propagates feeding information; the lateral bundle of the MOT propagates reproductive information; and the medial bundle of the MOT propagated alarm reaction information from the OB to the telencephalon (Hamdani et al., 2000; Hamdani et al., 2001; Weltzien et al., 2003). In addition, the chemotopic organization of odour activity seen in the olfactory bulbs of the channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus) is maintained in the telencephalon (Nikonov et al., 2005). Bile salts are spatially represented in the medial region of both the OB and telencephalon, while amino acids and nucleotides are spatially represented in the rostral lateral and caudal lateral regions, respectively, in both structures (Nikonov et al., 2005). Interestingly, a recent study by Igarashi et al (2012) has shown parallel output pathways from the main olfactory bulb to the olfactory cortex in mice. The mammalian olfactory bulb possesses two types of primary projection neurons, mitral and tufted cells, which are located in different layers of the OB (Shepherd and Greer, 1998). Mitral cells have a longer onset latency (slower response) and project to many regions of the olfactory cortex, while tufted cells have shorter onset latencies (faster response) and project to four small specific regions of the olfactory cortex including the anterior olfactory nucleus pars externa (AON_{pE}), the posteroventral part of the AON (AON_{pV}), the ventrorostral part of the anterior piriform cortex (APC $_{VR}$), and the anterolateral part of the olfactory tubercle (OT_{CAP})(Igarashi et al., 2012), suggesting a functional difference between these two OB output pathways within the main olfactory subsystem of rodents

In the OB, odour-evoked activity patterns contain both spatial and temporal aspects, which encode olfactory information (Laurent, 2002; Wachowiak and Shipley,

2006; Johnson and Leon, 2007). In the main olfactory bulb (MOB), afferents (i.e. olfactory sensory neurons, OSNs) expressing the same receptor converge onto one or a few circular aggregations of neuropil known as glomeruli (Mombaerts et al., 1996), where they synapse with primary projection neurons (PNs) (Pinching and Powell, 1971; Shepherd, 1972). Different odours activate different combinations of glomeruli and therefore each odour is spatially represented in the OB by a combinatorial glomerular activity pattern (Friedrich and Korsching, 1997, 1998; Johnson et al., 1998). Moreover, odours of similar chemical structure display similar glomerular activity patterns (Zhao et al., 1998; Malnic et al., 1999) and activate regionally localized glomeruli creating a chemotopically organized map on the surface of the OB (Friedrich and Korsching, 1997; Bozza and Kauer, 1998; Friedrich and Korsching, 1998; Hara and Zhang, 1998; Johnson et al., 1998; Nikonov and Caprio, 2001; Johnson and Leon, 2007; Soucy et al., 2009). Additionally, in the antennal lobe (AL) of insects, the spatial representation of general odours by combinatorial glomerular activation patterns has been observed (Galizia et al., 2000; Hansson et al., 2003; Sandoz, 2006; Zube et al., 2008) while sex pheromones elicit activity exclusively in a male-specific macroglomerulus/macroglomerular complex of the AL (Christensen and Hildebrand, 1987; Christensen et al., 1995b; Christensen et al., 1995a; Hildebrand and Shepherd, 1997). The spatial coding of odour information by a single glomerulus is known as non-combinatorial odour coding, and while considered to be rare in the OB, has been observed in the AL of cockroaches and moths, as well as in the OB of zebrafish (Hansson et al., 1992; Friedrich and Korsching, 1998). Noncombinatorial odour coding involves information of a single odour, usually a pheromone,

being encoded in the OB by a single glomerulus and can be considered a functionally distinct subsystem of the OB (or AL).

Within a glomerulus, the axons of OSNs synapse with the PNs known as mitral (and tufted) cells (known as PNs in the AL of insects) (Pinching and Powell, 1971; Shepherd, 1972; Boeckh and Tolbert, 1993; Shepherd and Greer, 1998). These PNs also interact with local inhibitory interneurons, which help shape the temporal aspect of odour-evoked signals prior to being propagated to other brain regions (Satou, 1990; Laurent, 1996, 2002; Sachse and Galizia, 2002; Urban and Sakmann, 2002; Aungst et al., 2003; Friedrich and Laurent, 2004; Tan et al., 2010). Individual PNs display different temporal firing patterns to different odours (Friedrich and Laurent, 2001) and a given odour can simultaneously activate multiple projection neurons, each with their own unique temporal firing pattern to the same odour (Macrides and Chorover, 1972; Kauer and Moulton, 1974; Meredith, 1986; Buonviso et al., 1992; Friedrich and Laurent, 2001). Hence, when recording local field potentials (LFPs; population level responses) in the OB (or AL) the temporal component of the LFP changes over the time course of the odour response due to periodic synchronized firing of multiple projection neurons with different temporal firing patterns (Wehr and Laurent, 1996; Friedrich and Laurent, 2001; Laurent, 2002; Kay et al., 2009). The synchronized firing of projection neurons and the dendrodendritic local circuit interactions of excitatory projection neurons and inhibitory interneurons generates the oscillatory activity generally observed in LFPs of the OB (Shepherd and Greer, 1998). The LFPs convey general odour information to higher brain regions but do not provide information about the precise odour identity (Friedrich et al., 2004). The temporal firing pattern of a group of non-synchronized primary projection

neurons in the OB and AL to chemically similar odours has been shown to initially be very similar to one another, but quickly diverge over the course of the odour-evoked response, so that the temporal response pattern of the ensemble of mitral cells (MC) become very different (decorrelate) from one another to the different odours (Friedrich and Laurent, 2001; Laurent, 2002; Stopfer et al., 2003; Daly et al., 2004; Friedrich and Laurent, 2004). This process of decorrelation allows for temporal response patterns of ensembles of neurons to become more informative about the precise identity of chemically similar odours and allows for odour discrimination (Friedrich et al., 2004; Friedrich and Laurent, 2004; Blumhagen et al., 2011). Interestingly, the temporal aspects of MC responses have been shown to vary in the main olfactory and accessory olfactory subsystems of rodents. Mitral cells in the accessory olfactory bulb (AOB) exhibit sustained responses to natural odours that last up to 30 seconds after odour sampling has stopped (Luo et al., 2003). Moreover, recent work by Shpak et al (2012) demonstrated that MC responses to brief electrical stimulation in the main olfactory bulb (MOB) were transient while those responses of MCs in the AOB were sustained, lasting up to minutes after the stimulus was removed. The sustained MC responses in the AOB emphasize the functional differences of the main and accessory olfactory subsystems of the rodent and are proposed to have functional consequences for social interactions (Luo et al., 2003; Shpak et al., 2012). The aforementioned studies demonstrate that there are parallel pathways of the OB that are anatomically, physiologically, and functionally distinct.

The detailed neural substrate through which olfactory information generates locomotor responses is not well understood, except in the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*) (Derjean et al., 2010). The sea lamprey, a model species for studies of

locomotion (Grillner et al., 1981; Grillner et al., 1983a; Grillner et al., 1983b; Grillner and Wallen, 1985; Dubuc et al., 2008), provides an ideal preparation for examining OB projection neuron response characteristics and their functional consequences. This preparation is ideal due to the ease by which an ex-vivo preparation of the entire intact nervous system can be maintained, easy access to large olfactory bulbs relative to the rest of the brain, and the benefit of a nervous system that has two well-defined parallel OB output pathways with connections to a well characterized locomotor system. The medial region of the OB receives inputs primarily from an accessory olfactory organ (Ren et al., 2009) and medial OB projection neurons project solely to the posterior tuberculum (Derjean et al., 2010). From the posterior tuberculum a multisynaptic pathway through the mesencephalic locomotor region ends at the reticulospinal cells (motor command neurons) in the hindbrain, forming an olfactory –locomotor neural substrate (Derjean et al., 2010). In contrast, the non-medial regions of the OB receive inputs only from the main olfactory epithelium (Ren et al., 2009) and non-medial OB projection neurons project to several forebrain structures including the contralateral OB, ipsilateral and contralateral pallia, the striatum, as well as other forebrain regions (Derjean et al., 2010). In addition, recent work by Green et al. (Chapter 2) showed that medial OB projection neurons are spatially isolated and anatomically unique compared to those projection neurons in the non-medial OB regions. While these studies suggest a functional difference in the two OB output pathways, very little is known about the odour response characteristics of the projection neurons or their functional consequences for either pathway.

To examine whether the response characteristics of projection neurons have temporal and spatial differences in the medial and non-medial OB pathways, extracellular local field potential and multiunit responses of these projection neurons were recorded in the medial, dorsal, and lateral OB regions in response to known amino acid, bile salt, and pheromone odours (Kleerekoper, 1963; Li, 1994; Li et al., 1995; Li and Sorensen, 1997; Bjerselius et al., 2000; Li et al., 2002; Fine et al., 2004; Sorensen et al., 2005; Fine and Sorensen, 2008). Overall, medial PNs showed responses to all of the odours tested and exhibited transient temporal response characteristics that differed from the dorsal and lateral (non-medial) OB projection neurons. In contrast, PNs in the lateral OB responded only to amino acid odours and exhibited sustained temporal response characteristics. These results provide further evidence that the parallel pathways of the OB are organized based on their functional output and support the hypothesis that the medial OB pathway functions to initiate olfactory-mediated motor behaviours.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Animal collection

All animals were captured from the wild and all experiments were performed in accordance with the guidelines of the University of Windsor Animal Care Committee and the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Metamorphic stage-seven sea lamprey were caught via electroshock techniques from the Black mallard river (2009 & 2010), Millersburg MI and the Little carp river (2011), Baraga MI in cooperation with the United States Geological Survey Hammond Bay Biological Station, Millersburg MI. Spawning stage adult sea lamprey were caught in traps on the Humber River, Toronto ON, and the St. Mary's River, Sault Saint Marie, ON (2008 & 2009) by the Toronto

Region Conservation Authority, Toronto, Ontario and the Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Sault Saint Marie, Ontario, respectively. All animals were transported to the Department of Biological Sciences at the University of Windsor and held in dechlorinated water under static renewal conditions at 7 °C for 1 week prior to use.

3.2.2 Animal preparation

Lamprey were anesthetized in a solution of MS222 (150 mg/L) in dechlorinated water (pH adjusted to 7 using 2M NaOH) and decapitated at the 3rd brachial pore. Tissue was transferred to a solution of ice-cold lamprey Ringer's (NaCl 130 mM, KCl 2.1 mM, CaCl₂ 2.6 mM, MgCl₂ 1.8 mM, HEPES 4 mM, dextrose 4 mM, NaHCO₃ 1 mM) for the remainder of the dissection. The ventral surface of the remaining tissue, including the oral disk, was removed down to the level of the lumen of the nasopharyngeal pouch and the buccal cavity. The tissue was then placed dorsal side up and the skin, musculature, and cartilage were removed to expose the entire cranial and nasal cavities. Every effort was taken to keep the maximal amount of olfactory epithelium intact. The *dura mater* was then removed from the OBs and pallia. The explant preparation included the intact olfactory epithelium and entire brain up to the rostral-most portion of the spinal cord.

Once the dissection was complete the explant preparation was transferred to a chilled recording chamber and submersed in a chilled (10 °C) solution of lamprey Ringer's. The explant preparation was continuously perfused with chilled Ringers at a flow rate of 1 ml/min. Ringers solution entered the chamber near the caudal region of the brain and flowed towards the rostral region (the olfactory epithelium) via suction (Figure 3.1). In addition, chilled Ringer's solution continuously perfused the olfactory



Figure 3.1. Illustration of the test solution delivery apparatus (A), recording chamber, and *ex-vivo* preparation of the sea lamprey peripheral olfactory organ (PO) and brain (B). Extracellular local field potential and multiunit responses to odorant test solutions were recorded from the olfactory bulb (OB). The test solutions flowed into the PO via a test solution delivery tube. Cooled Ringer's solution continuously flowed through this tube, except during the delivery of odour test solutions, which entered into this tube through a solenoid apparatus. The olfactory organ/brain preparation was perfused by cooled Ringer's solution flowing into the rear of the chamber and out via suction at the front of the chamber at a rate of 1 ml/min. The olfactory test solution was removed from the PO through this outflow tube as well. The walls of the recording chamber contained cooled re-circulating antifreeze in order to help maintain the Ringer's solution at a consistent temperature of 10 °C. Rostral (R), caudal (C), pallium (Pal).

epithelium via an odour delivery system (Figure 3.1) (see *odour delivery* below). The preparation was allowed to recover for approximately 1 hour prior to the beginning of experimentation. Ringer's solution was made fresh daily, chilled, oxygenated (95% oxygen, 5% carbon dioxide), and the pH was adjusted to 7.4 using 5 M NaOH prior to use. The lamprey Ringer's solution was oxygenated continuously throughout the experiment.

3.2.3 Preparation and delivery of odourant test solutions

Stock solutions of L-arginine (A5006, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) and L-histidine (H-8000, Sigma-Aldrich) were made daily at a concentration of 10^{-2} M in chilled lamprey Ringer's. Just prior to experimentation a mixture of 10⁻³ M L-arginine and L-histidine was made in Ringer's solution and serial dilutions of this mixture were made down to 10⁻⁵ M. A stock solution of taurocholic acid (T4009, Sigma-Aldrich) was made daily at a concentration of 10⁻² M. Just prior to experimentation the stock solution was diluted in Ringer's solution to working concentrations of 10^{-4} M and 10^{-5} M. The following five putative pheromones (Li et al., 2002; Sorensen et al., 2005) were utilized throughout all electrophysiological experiments: 3-keto petromyzonol sulfate (3KPZS), 3-keto allocholic acid (3KACA), petromyzonol sulfate (PZS), Petromyzonamine disulfate (PADS), Petromyzonsterol disulfate (PSDS). All pheromones were acquired from Dr. Weiming Li (Michigan State University) in powder form (pheromones received May 29, 2008; July 21, 2009; May 20, 2010)(Batch IDs: 3KPZS - 06 08 2006; 3KACA - 152-EJH-158-2; PZS - 152-EJH-282-3; PADS - 155-TNN-287D; PSDS - 158-IDE-223-1). Stock solutions of these pheromones were made by reconstituting each pheromone in a

1:1 solution of high purity methonal (cat no. CABDH6048-4, VWR, Mississauga, ON, Canada) : ultra-pure water (18 M Ω .cm, Milli-Q reference system, Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) at a concentration of 1 mg/mL. Once reconstituted, aliquots were stored in 2 mL screw top glass vials (cat no. 224881, Wheaton, Millville, NJ, USA) at -80°C. Substocks of 10⁻⁵ M pheromones in Ringer's solution were made from stock solutions on the day of testing. Working solutions of pheromone mixtures were made each day just prior to experimentation. The sex pheromone mixture contained 10⁻⁶ M 3KPZS and 3KACA while the migratory pheromone mixture contained 10⁻⁶ M PZS, PADS and PSDS. Serial dilutions were made down to a concentration of 10⁻⁹ M of these mixtures.

A custom-made 9-chamber odour delivery/cooling system was utilized to chill and deliver background medium (Ringer's solution) and odours over the olfactory epithelium at the same temperature as the chilled preparation. Briefly, background Ringer's solution was continuously perfused over the olfactory epithelium via a gravity fed, valve-controlled odour delivery system and an electronically triggered, computer controlled, three-way solenoid valve (adapted from a design kindly provided by Dr. D. Restrepo, U. of Colorado) allowed fast switching from background Ringer's to a desired odour and back to background Ringer's with no interruption in flow or changes in pressure to the naris (Figure 3.1 and 3.2). Odour deliveries were 5s (LFP) or 30s (multiunit) in duration and were at least 3 minutes apart to prevent adaptation to odourants (Figure 3.2). Prior to experimentation, adaptation of odour responses in the OB were examined, and 3 minutes was found to be sufficient time to allow for consistent olfactory responses to be observed to repeated deliveries of odour test solutions. Each odour was delivered between 3-6 times and a negative control (either Ringer's solution or









Figure 3.2. The time course and delivery of test solutions into the peripheral olfactory organ (PO) during the LFP experiments. A blue solution (5% Fast Blue) was utilized to demonstrate the passage of an odour test solution. **A.** The timing of odour test solution delivery during an LFP experiment. Background Ringers was perfused for 3 minutes (t= - 3 to 0 minutes); the test solution was applied for 5 seconds (LFP) or 30 seconds (multiunit) (t= 0; red bar), then the Ringers solution was switched back for 3 minutes (t=5 sec to 3 minutes). **B.** Prior to the delivery of the test solution, lamprey Ringer's solution flowed into the PO via the test solution delivery tube. **C.** The fast blue solution filled the PO. **D.** Ringer's solution returned to flowing into the PO. Some pale blue was seen surrounding the PO. **E.** The Fast Blue was not seen in the peripheral olfactory organ.

methanol: ultra pure water diluted in Ringer's solution down to the same dilution as the odours being tested, depending on the vehicle for the odours) was delivered at various intervals throughout each recording. There was no olfactory response to the negative controls containing the methanol : ultra pure water mixture (0.01 % for 10^{-6} M pheromones).

3.2.4 Extracellular electrophysiology recordings

Extracellular local field potentials (LFPs) in the olfactory bulb (N=29) were recorded from either the medial (N=8), dorsal (N=6), or lateral (N=15) surface of OB (Figure 3) using glass micropipettes (~ 8-10 µm tip diameter) filled with 2M NaCl (0.1 Mohm impedance). Micropipettes were connected to a headstage via a silver wire and the headstage-amplifier circuit was grounded and referenced via silver wires connected to the headstage, placed in the recording bath. Signals were filtered between 1 Hz and 1 kHz, amplified 10,000 times (model P511L amplifier, Grass Technologies Inc., West Warwick, RI, USA) and subsequently digitized at 10 kHz (Powerlab 4/30, model ML866, ADInstruments, Colorado Springs, CO, USA). LFPs were viewed online during



Figure 3.3. Illustration of the local field potential and multiunit recording locations in the medial, dorsal, and lateral regions of the olfactory bulb (OB). Hatched lines denote the medial, dorsal, and lateral recording regions in both the dorsal and cross-section views. Olfactory sensory neuron inputs via the olfactory nerve (ON) to the medial olfactory bulb from the accessory olfactory organ (AOO) (teal) and main olfactory epithelium (MOE) (red) are shown. The medial OB projection neuron projections to the posterior tuberculum (PT) are purple. Olfactory sensory neuron inputs to the dorsal and lateral

olfactory bulb from the main olfactory epithelium (red) are shown. The OB projection neuron projections to the lateral pallium are green. The inset shows a cross-section view of the olfactory bulb and the position of the recording electrode in the dorsal region. Scale bar is $200 \ \mu\text{m}$. The innervation of the olfactory bulb by sensory input from the peripheral olfactory organ is from Ren et al. (2009) and the location of the targets for the OB projection neurons is summarized from Derjean et al. (2010).

recording to ensure good signal to noise ratio and digitally filtered and analyzed offline using LabChart software (version 6.1.3, ADInstruments).

Extracellular multi/few unit recordings (N=25) were recorded from either the medial (N = 11), dorsal (N = 5), or lateral (N = 9) OB (Figure 3.3) using glass micropipettes (2-3 µm tip diameter) filled with lamprey Ringers solution (2-5 Mohm impedance). Micropipettes were connected to a headstage via a silver wire and the headstage-amplifier circuit was grounded and referenced via silver wires connected to the headstage, placed in the recording bath. The recording electrode was slowly inserted into the desired region of the OB using a manual hydraulic micro-drive (Narishige Inc.) to a depth of $\sim 150 \,\mu\text{m}$ for metamorphic stage seven lamprey and to a depth of $\sim 300 \,\mu\text{m}$ for adult lamprey. Previous histological examination of the OB had shown that the somata of PNs were located at these depths (Figure 3.4) (Also see Green et al, Chapter 2). Signals were filtered between 10 Hz and 10 kHz, amplified 10,000 times (model 1800, A-M systems, Sequim, WA, USA) and subsequently digitized at 20 kHz (powerlab 4/30, model ML866, ADInstruments). Spikes were viewed online during recording to ensure adequate signal to noise ratio and analyzed offline for changes in spike frequency during odour delivery using LabChart software (version 6.1.3, ADInstruments).

3.2.5 Data analysis

Each case (a single recording location within an animal) was examined for odour responses and was only included in the analysis if a consistent response (across three repetitive deliveries) was observed to at least one test odour and the negative control (blank) exhibited no response. Both local field potential and multiunit recordings were examined for spatial and temporal response patterns across the medial, dorsal, and lateral OB regions.



Figure 3.4. Cross sectional view of the sea lamprey olfactory bulb stained with cresyl violet. **A.** Three layers of the olfactory bulb as classified by Iwahori et al, (1987). The olfactory nerve layer (ONL) is thin, while the layer of glomeruli with mitral cells (GL/MCL), and the granule cell layer (GCL) are prominent. Beneath the ONL, glomeruli are located around the periphery as ovoid regions of neuropil with scarce nuclei. Scale bar is 200 μ m. **B.** Arrows show mitral cells beneath the glomeruli. The mitral cells are recognized by the large nuclear size. Scale bar is 100 μ m.

3.2.6 Local field potentials

Prior to analysis all local field potentials were digitally filtered post-acquisition with a 100 Hz low-pass filter using LabChart software (version 6.1.3, ADInstruments). Within each case, individual odour deliveries were examined and for each odour delivery a pre-odour baseline mean and standard deviation was calculated for the 5-second time period just prior to the onset of odour delivery. The response threshold for each odour delivery was then calculated as 3-times the baseline standard deviation. This threshold was utilized to distinguish odour evoked LFP responses from baseline deviations and spontaneous projection neuron activity. In addition, odour-evoked LFPs were distinguished from background spontaneous activity by comparing odour-evoked responses to spontaneous activity rates and ensuring that odour-evoked responses were consistent and repeatable across multiple deliveries of a given odour. Only those responses that were consistent and repeatable were considered an odour-evoked response. Local field potential peaks within an odour response period that were greater than the threshold were counted as part of the response and the total number of LFP peaks in each response were recorded. In addition to the number of peaks in an LPF response, the amplitude of each peak, time of each peak, interpeak interval, and change in peak amplitude over the time course of each sustained response were determined. Peak amplitude was measured as the voltage change between the pre peak baseline mean and the peak maximum. To further characterize the temporal aspects of each peak within an LFP response, the waveform data (time and amplitude values every 0.0001 seconds) for each peak was examined using custom written routines in R (Version 2.14.0, R Development Core Team 2011). These routines were used to determine the time at which

10%, 50% and 90% of the pre and post peak maximum amplitude occurred. The time values were then used to calculate the peak duration (10% pre-max to 10% post-max), halfwidth (50% pre-max to 50% post-max), falling phase (10% pre-max to 90% premax), and rising phase (90% post-max to 10% post-max) of each peak (Figure 3.5). The 10% and 90% of peak-maximum time points were used in order to account for changes in the LFP due to any signal noise at the beginning, maximum, and end of each peak. In this way, more representative temporal values were determined for each peak, regardless of signal noise. The differences among treatments for a given LFP peak characteristic was analyzed using a two-way ANOVA on ranks (Scheirer-Ray-Hare extension of the Kruskal-Wallis test) testing for the main effects of OB region, odour, and the OB region x odour interactions followed by a Holm-Sidak post-hoc analysis. Differences among groups were considered statistically significant when $p \le 0.05$. In order to examine the spatial relationship of odour responses in the medial, dorsal and lateral regions of the olfactory bulb; the percentage of cases showing responses to a particular odour(s) in each OB region was also calculated.

3.2.7 Multiunit recordings

The change in spike frequency (spikes/s) was examined for the time course (180 s) of each odour delivery over the 30 seconds pre odour delivery, 30 second odour delivery period, and 120 seconds post odour delivery period using the spike histogram module (version 2.4.1) within LabChart software. Post-stimulus time histograms (PSTHs) were made for the time course (180 s) of each odour response period with spikes being



Figure 3.5. Local field potential characteristics. Five measurements were made for each individual peak of an odour response: peak amplitude, duration, halfwidth, falling phase, and rising phase. Peak amplitude was measured as the voltage change between the pre peak baseline mean and the peak maximum; peak duration was measured as the time between 10% pre and 10% post maximal peak; halfwidth was measured as the time between 50% pre and 50% post maximal peak, falling phase was measured as the time between 10% and 90% pre maximal peak; and rising phase was measured as the time between 90% and 10% post maximal peak.

sorted into 1-second time bins. PSTHs were used to examine the change in spike frequency over the 180 second time period and classify responses as excitatory, inhibitory, or null. An odour response was considered excitatory if spike frequency at least doubled in rate above background spontaneous activity during the odour delivery period. An odour response was considered inhibitory if spike frequency at least decreased by half (50%) in rate below background spontaneous activity during the odour delivery period and was considered null if there was no change in spontaneous firing rate. Odour responses were also examined for consistency and repeatability across multiple odour deliveries. Once each odour delivery was classified as excitatory, inhibitory, or null, the percentage of cases exhibiting an excitatory response was calculated for each odour in each OB region that was tested. The response duration of each odour delivery was determined by examining the time of an odour response onset (spike frequency doubling in rate or halving in rate compared to average spontaneous background rate) and an odour response offset (spike frequency returns to average spontaneous background rate) using PSTHs in LabChart spike histogram module (version 2.4.1). The odour response duration data for all odours were pooled for each OB region and analyzed offline using a one-way Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA on ranks using MATLAB (Version 7.9, The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA 2009). Differences among groups were considered statistically significant when $p \le 0.05$.

3.3 Results

Local field potential and multiunit neural responses were recorded from the OB in response to stimulation with odours previously shown to elicit electro-olfactogram

responses from the olfactory epithelium (Li, 1994; Li et al., 1995; Li and Sorensen, 1997; Li et al., 2002; Sorensen et al., 2005). These odours included the basic amino acids Larginine and L-histidine; the bile acid taurocholic acid; the sex pheromones 3-keto petromyzonol sulfate and 3-keto allocholic acid; and the migratory pheromones petromyzonol sulfate, petromyzonamine disulfate, and petromyzosterol disulfate. Within a given recording location each test odour was delivered 3-6 times and the resulting response patterns were consistent > 90% of the time. A minimum of three consistent odour responses was required in order to include data for analysis. In addition, no responses were observed to the negative control (Ringer's solution or a methanol/Ringer's solution, depending on the vehicle in which the odour was dissolved/diluted).

3.3.1 Local field potential recordings exhibit transient and sustained odour-evoked responses

The LFP recordings exhibited transient and sustained responses to odour test solutions. Transient odour-induced LFP responses consisted of a single peak that occurred within the five-second odour delivery period, followed by a brief period of hyperpolarization and return to baseline (Figure 3.6). Sustained odour-induced LFP responses consisted of two or more peaks occurring within or lasting longer than the odour delivery period (Figure 3.6). Sustained responses were observed to be complete when neural activity subsided to pre-odour delivery baseline spontaneous firing rates. Local field potential responses were observed in all 29 cases (a case is a single recording location in an animal).



Figure 3.6. Examples of transient and sustained local field potential (LFP) responses to odour test solutions. The Ringer's solution was applied as a negative control. The transient responses include a prominent peak, as shown by the arrowhead, during the five second odour delivery period. Several prominent peaks, shown by arrowheads, illustrate a sustained response over the five second odour delivery period (solid bar above each response). Local field potential responses 1, 2, and 3 are repetitive deliveries of an odour test solution. Each delivery is shown in two views. The upper trace is 25 seconds in duration and a lower trace that is 5 seconds in duration. The latter shows a detailed view. The solid line above the upper trace denotes the 5 second test solution delivery period in which the 3-way solenoid valve was activated. The 'plus' symbols indicate spontaneous activity and the arrowheads indicate peaks recorded during the delivery of the test solution.


Figure 3.7. The distribution of all odourant test solution response durations for the local field potential (LFP) recordings in the olfactory bulb. **(A)** Histogram of the number of peaks in a local field potential (LFP) response. **(B)** Histogram showing the response duration of transient and sustained LFPs. The duration of transient responses was measured from the beginning to the end of the single peak. The duration of sustained responses was measured from the beginning of the first peak to the end of the last peak.

In 5.3 % of LFP cases, responses were entirely transient, 36.8% of cases had entirely sustained responses, and 57.9% of cases had a mixture of transient and sustained LFP responses. The transient or sustained response pattern to a given odour was consistent within a recording location. In 33.8% of LFP responses, a transient (single peak) response was observed (Figure 3.7A). In addition, LFP responses exhibited a range of durations, some lasting longer than the five-second odour delivery period (Figure 3.7B). The first peak of sustained local field potentials were typically the largest and each subsequent peak got smaller, although there were exceptions to this response pattern (Appendix C Figure 3).

3.3.2 Multiunit recordings exhibit excitatory and inhibitory odour-evoked responses of varying durations

Multiunit recordings exhibited spontaneous activity that was variable within and across recording locations (Figure 3.8A). Excitatory multiunit responses were observed in the medial, dorsal, and lateral OB regions. Excitatory responses varied in duration and typically exhibited a rapid increase in spike frequency at the odour onset (Figure 3.8 B-E). Responses were considered excitatory if they had at least a doubling in spike frequency during the odour delivery period. In addition, inhibitory responses were also observed during multiunit recordings in the OB (Figure 3.9). Odour-evoked responses were considered inhibitory responses were also observed by at least half during the odour delivery period. Inhibitory responses were also consistent in duration and repeatable across odour deliveries (Figure 3.9). The duration of 64 (38 %) multiunit responses lasted \leq 30 seconds, the duration of the odour delivery period (Figure 3.8 B) (Figure 3.10). In addition, the duration of 50 (29.5 %) multiunit responses was between



Figure 3.8. Examples of excitatory multiunit recordings from the olfactory bulb during the delivery of odour test solutions to the peripheral olfactory organ. Each test solution was delivered for 30 seconds (gray overlay). The three rasters above each post-stimulus time histogram show three repetitive recordings from a preparation during the delivery of the same test solution. The 3 responses were averaged, and the corresponding average post-stimulus time histogram is shown below the rasters. **A.** Three example raster plots of spontaneous activity from three different recording sites in the olfactory bulb. Each raster plot is 180 seconds in duration. **B** - **E** are examples of excitatory multiunit responses of various durations. Delivery of a negative control odour test solution (Ringer's) is shown for each example.



Inhibitory response

Figure 3.9. Examples of inhibitory multi-unit responses observed in the olfactory bulb. The rasters above each plot show three sequential recordings from the same location to the same stimulus. The corresponding post-stimulus time histogram (below) is averaged from the three multi-unit rasters. The grey shaded area denotes the 30 second delivery period for the olfactory test solution.



Figure 3.10. The distribution of all odourant test solution response durations for the multiunit recordings in the olfactory bulb. Each bin is 10 seconds.

30 and 60 seconds (Figure 3.8 C) (Figure 3.10) and 55 (32.5 %) multiunit recordings had response durations longer than 60 seconds (Figure 3.8 D, E) (Figure 3.10). Overall, odour-evoked responses of varying durations were observed using LFP and multi-unit recordings in the OB with excitatory responses being more prominent than inhibitory responses in the multiunit recordings.

3.3.3 Transient and sustained odour-evoked responses exhibit regional variation

Local field potential recordings (Figure 3.11) in the medial OB had 54.5% transient responses and 45.5% sustained responses. The lateral region had 23 % transient and 77 % sustained responses while the dorsal region had 35.8% transient and 64.2% sustained responses (Figure 3.12). In addition, sustained LFP responses in the medial OB have fewer peaks per response (Appendix C Figure 1) (Figure 3.11) and shorter interpeak intervals (Appendix C Figure 2) compared to sustained LFP in the dorsal and lateral OB regions. Interestingly, the proportions of each odour contributing to the transient and sustained responses in each region varied. In the medial OB approximately 46% of the transient odour responses in the medial OB were from the sex pheromone mix (Figure 3.12). In contrast, the transient and sustained LFPs in the lateral OB were all from amino acids while the dorsal region showed that roughly equal proportions of each odour contributed to the sustained LFPs (Figure 3.12).

The response duration of multiunit recordings to odour test solutions varied across the medial, dorsal, and lateral regions of the OB (Figure 3.13). The duration of odourevoked multi-unit responses in the medial, dorsal, and lateral OB regions were not



Figure 3.11. Examples of local field potential (LFP) recordings from the medial, dorsal and lateral OB regions during a 5 second application of odour test solutions (black bar above traces) to the peripheral olfactory organ. In all regions, no peaks were observed when Ringers solution was applied. The transient responses include a prominent peak, as shown by the arrowhead, during the odour delivery period. Several prominent peaks illustrate a sustained response over the odour delivery period. In the medial OB, transient responses were more common than in the dorsal and lateral regions. The shaded and unshaded blocks are example pairs of LFP traces, with each pair of LFP traces being from the same recording site in response to the same odour test solution.



Figure 3.12. The percentage of local field potential responses to odourant test solutions applied to the peripheral olfactory organ that exhibited transient or sustained response types in the medial, dorsal, and lateral regions of the olfactory bulb. The sample size for each region represents the total number of responses across all odours for that region.

Medial



Dorsal



Lateral

Ex. 1a Ex. 1b	 					
Ex. 2a Ex. 2b						
Ex. 3a Ex. 3b		 				
Ringer's						

Figure 3.13. Examples of multiunit recordings of varying durations from the medial, dorsal and lateral regions of the olfactory bulb during the application of test solutions to the peripheral olfactory organ. Paired raster plots show responses to two deliveries of the same odour during a given recording (i.e. Ex 1a/1b). Three example recordings are shown for each region of the olfactory bulb (i.e. Ex 1, 2, 3). The bars underneath each raster mark the odour response period. The shaded area denotes the 30 second odour delivery period. All rasters are 180 seconds in duration.

significantly different (Kruskal-Wallis, $H_{(2)} = 4.56$, P = 0.1022) (Figure 3.14), however, response durations in the lateral OB region did show a trend towards longer durations than those in the medial and dorsal OB regions (Figure 3.14). Interestingly, the mean response duration of multiunit recordings to both the migratory pheromone and sex pheromone mixtures was consistent across the medial, dorsal, and lateral OB regions (Figure 3.15). In contrast, the mean response duration to both the amino acid mixture and the taurocholic acid varied across all three OB regions (Figure 3.15). Overall, both the LFP and multiunit recordings demonstrate that the response duration to odourant test solutions varies across all three regions of the OB and that different odours exhibit different response durations in each of the three regions.

3.3.4 The medial OB responds to all odours while the dorsal and lateral OB regions show odour specificity

Previous experiments (Ren et al., 2009; Derjean et al., 2010) demonstrated that the OB has two olfactory pathways with each pathway having different inputs from the peripheral olfactory organ to distinct regions of the OB. These two distinct regions, known as the medial and non-medial regions, also have outputs to different areas of the brain. Therefore we wanted to test whether the medial and two non-medial regions (dorsal and lateral) of the OB respond to different odours.

The medial OB region elicited LFP responses to each of the odour categories tested (Figure 3.16) with 60% of trials exhibiting responses to the amino acid mix, 50% of trials responding to TCA, 85.7% of trials responding to the migratory pheromone mix,



Figure 3.14. Distribution of multiunit response durations in the medial, dorsal and lateral olfactory bulb regions. The upper and lower bounds of each box represent the 75th and 25th percentile respectively, and the centre line in each box represents the median of each data set. The 'plus' symbols denote outliers in the data.



Figure 3.15. The duration of multiunit responses (Mean \pm SEM) to each of four odour test solutions within the medial, dorsal, and lateral olfactory bulb. Odourant test solutions included an amino acid mixture (AA: L-arginine, L-histidine), taurocholic acid (TCA), sex pheromone mixture (SPM: 3KPZS, 3KACA), and a migratory pheromone mixture (MPM: PZS, PADS, PSDS). The number of multiunit responses (sample size) is indicated in brackets below each bar.





mixture (AA: L-arginine, L-histidine), taurocholic acid (TCA), sex pheromone mixture (SPM: 3KPZS, 3KACA), and a migratory pheromone mixture (MPM: PZS, PADS, PSDS). Example LFP responses from three different recording sites are shown for each odour in each OB region. Each LFP trace is 5 seconds in duration and the bar at the top of each column denotes the 5 second odour delivery period.

and 87.5% of trials responding to the sex pheromone mix (Table 3.1). In addition, multiunit recordings in the medial OB exhibited responses to each of the odour categories tested (Figure 3.17). Medial multiunit responses were observed to the amino acid mix and TCA in 72.7% and 63.6% of trials, respectively, while responses to the migratory pheromone and sex pheromone mixtures were observed in 33.3% and 18.2% of trials, respectively (Table 3.2). In the dorsal OB region both the LFP (Figure 3.16) and multiunit recordings (Figure 3.17) also showed responses to each of the odour categories tested. The TCA, migratory pheromone mix and sex pheromone mix elicited LFP responses in 100% of the trials while LFP responses to the amino acid mixture were observed in 75% of trials (Table 3.1). A high percentage of responses to the amino acid mixture (80%) were also observed in the multiunit recordings (Table 3.2), however, the response to TCA (60%), the migratory pheromone mix (50%) and sex pheromone mix (50%) (Table 3.2) was lower than those observed in the LFP recordings. Finally, in the lateral OB local field potential responses were only observed to the amino acid mixture (100%)(Figure 3.16, Table 3.1) while multiunit recordings in the lateral OB exhibited excitatory responses to the amino acid mixture (80%) (Figure 3.17, 3.18; Table 3.2) as well as a small percentage of excitatory responses to TCA (11.1%) and the sex pheromone mixture (11.1%) (Table 3.2; Figure 3.18). Taken together, both LFP and multiunit recordings in the medial and dorsal OB

Table 3.1. Percentage of local field potential recording responses to test solutions applied to the peripheral olfactory organ in the medial, dorsal and lateral regions of the olfactory bulb. The test solutions were the amino acid mixture (AA: L-arginine, L-histidine), taurocholic acid (TCA), sex pheromone mixture (SPM: 3KPZS, 3KACA), and a migratory pheromone mixture (MPM: PZS, PADS, PSDS).

Region	Odour	Sample size	% responding
Medial	AA	5	60
	TCA	4	50
	MPM	7	85.7
	SPM	8	87.5
Dorsal	AA	4	75
	TCA	6	100
	MPM	3	100
	SPM	3	100
Lateral	AA	15	100
	TCA	7	0
	MPM	7	0
	SPM	6	0

Table 3.2. Percentage of excitatory multiunit recording responses to test solutions applied to the peripheral olfactory organ in the medial, dorsal and lateral regions of the olfactory bulb. The test solutions were the amino acid mixture (AA: L-arginine, L-histidine), taurocholic acid (TCA), sex pheromone mixture (SPM: 3KPZS, 3KACA), and a migratory pheromone mixture (MPM: PZS, PADS, PSDS).

Region	Odour	Sample size	% responding
Medial	AA	11	72.7
	TCA	11	63.6
	MPM	3	33.3
	SPM	11	18.2
Dorsal	AA	5	80
	TCA	5	60
	MPM	2	50
	SPM	4	50
Lateral	AA	9	77.8
	TCA	9	11.1
	MPM	2	0
	SPM	9	11.1

	Medial	Dorsal	Lateral		
	Neuron 1	Neuron 12	Neuron 17		
Time (s)	0 30 60 90 12	0 0 30 60 90 12	20 0 <u>30 60 90 120</u>		
AA (N)		AA (I)	AA (E) 11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		
TCA (E)			TCA (N) 10 1 1 1 100 10110 11110 11110 1011000000		
SP (E)		SP (E) 1111 1111 11111 11111 1111 11111 111111	SP (N) 11 + 11111111111111111111111111111111		
Ringer's (N)	Ringer's (N) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Ringer's (N)		
	Neuron 9	Neuron 13	Neuron 19		
AA (E)		AA (E) I I IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	AA (E) 1110000 00000000000000000000000000000		
TCA (E)		TCA (E)	TCA (I)		
SP (N)		SP (E) I I I I I IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	SP (N)		
MP (E)		Ringer's (N) I I I I I I I I I I I I I I F	Ringer's (N) at the analysis and a state transformer to the state of the state of the state of the state of the		
Ringer's (N), стани с стана с сп <mark>истани и поста и с</mark>				
	Neuron 10	Neuron 14	Neuron 24		
AA (E)			AA (E) 18 81 11 91 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11		
TCA (N)		$TCA\;(N)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M)\;\;M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M)\;\;M)\;\;M)\;\;M(M)\;\;M$	TCA (I)		
SP (I)		SP (N)	SP (N) = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =		
MP (I)		MP(N)	MP (N) II III II III III III III III III III		
Ringer's (N) Manual International Internation					
	Neuron 11	Neuron 16	Neuron 25		
AA (E)	1 00 1 1 1 1 0 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0	AA (E)	AA (E)		
TCA (N)		TCA (E) 10 11 1 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 1	TCA (N)		
SP (I)					
51 (1)			SP (I) II I		
MP (N)		MP (E) 111 111 111 1111 1111 1111 1111 111	MP (N)		

Figure 3.17 (caption on following page)

Figure 3.17. Examples of multiunit rasters during the delivery of test solutions to the peripheral olfactory organ, recorded from the medial, dorsal and lateral regions of the olfactory bulb (OB). The test solutions were an amino acids mixture (AA), taurocholic acid (TCA), sex pheromone mixture (SP) or migratory pheromone mixture (MP). Responses were classified as excitatory (E), inhibitory (I) or null (N). The time course of each raster plot is shown at the top of each column with the shaded region representing the 30 second odour delivery period.



Figure 3.18. Summary of the multiunit recordings in the olfactory bulb during the application of odourant test solutions to the peripheral olfactory organ. Black circles denote an excitatory response, white circles an inhibitory response, dashes denote no change in spike firing rate, and N/T denotes that an odour was not tested.

regions exhibited responses to all of the tested odors while the lateral OB region exhibited responses solely (LFP) or primarily (multiunit) to the amino acid mixture and not to the TCA, sex pheromone mix or migratory pheromone mix. A more detailed examination of the LFP response peak characteristics demonstrates further regional differences in odour-evoked response patterns (see below).

3.3.5 Medial OB local field potential peak characteristics are the same for all odours

The temporal characteristics of the first peak of all the LFP responses from each region of the OB were examined for peak amplitude, duration, half-width, fall time, and rise time as described in the methods. We examined only the first peak of the LFP response in order to standardize the analysis across transient and sustained response patterns. A two-way ANOVA on ranks was conducted for each of the measured LFP peak characteristics and significant main effects of OB region (p<0.001) and the OB region x odour interaction (p<0.001) were determined for each of peak amplitude, duration, half-width, fall time, and rise time (See Table 3.3 for statistical details).

In the medial OB region peak amplitudes for all odours were similar in size, with mean values ranging from approximately 35 to 70 μ V. The peak amplitudes for both TCA and the migratory pheromone mix in the medial region were smaller than their respective peak amplitudes in the dorsal region (p<0.05), which were typically larger than 100 μ V (Figure 3.19A). Although the peak amplitude for all test odours in the medial region were small, the temporal features (peak duration, halfwidth, falling phase and rising phase) were as long as those in the other regions of the OB (p>0.05). Thus, LFP responses to all odours in the medial OB were on average between 110-170 ms in

LFP peak measure	F	df	Р		
Amplitude					
OB region	27.880	2, 79	< 0.001		
Odour	0.901	3	0.446		
Region x odour interaction	8.215	6, 79	<0.001		
Duration					
OB region	19.898	2, 79	< 0.001		
Odour	1.484	3	0.227		
Region x odour interaction	6.509	6, 79	<0.001		
Halfwidth					
OB region	18.109	2, 79	< 0.001		
Odour	1.613	3	0.194		
Region x odour interaction	6.415	6, 79	<0.001		
Falling phase					
OB region	19.226	2, 79	< 0.001		
Odour	1.256	3	0.297		
Region x odour interaction	5.429	6, 79	<0.001		
Rising phase					
OB region	17.839	2, 79	< 0.001		
Odour	1.657 7.047	3	0.184		
Region x odour interaction		6, 79	<0.001		

Table 3.3 Statistical values for the two-way ANOVA on ranks conducted for local field potential peak amplitude, duration, halfwidth, falling phase, and rising phase (as shown in Figures 3.19 A-E).

duration, producing small amplitude long duration LFP peaks (Figure 3.19 B, C, D, E). Interestingly, the medial region was the only region of the OB, where for any given peak characteristic, the amplitude and temporal values were approximately the same for all of the odours (p>0.05) (Figure 3.19 A-E).

3.3.6 Dorsal and lateral OB local field potential peak characteristics are odour dependent

The peak characteristics of LFPs in the dorsal region of the OB demonstrate that although LFP responses are observed to all odours in this region, two particular types of odours are shorter. All odours exhibited similar peak amplitudes with mean values greater than 100 µV (Figure 3.19A). However, the LFP peaks for the amino acid mixture and taurocholic acid exhibited a non-significant trend (p = 0.06 - 0.09 depending on the odour) towards having shorter average peak durations between 60 and 80 ms respectively, while those peak durations in response to the sex pheromone and migratory pheromone mixture averaged between 170 and 180 ms, respectively (Figure 3.19B). These non-significant trends (p = 0.06 - 0.09 depending on the odour) towards differences in the dorsal temporal peak characteristics for the amino acid mixture and taurocholic acid odours were also observed for the peak halfwidth, falling phase, and rising phase as well (Figure 3.19 C, D, E). Overall, local field potential responses in the dorsal OB region exhibit large amplitude, long duration responses for both the sex pheromones and migratory pheromones and large amplitude, shorter duration responses to amino acids and taurocholic acid.



Figure 3.19A. Amplitude and temporal measurements of local field potential (LFP) recordings from the olfactory bulb during the application of four odour classes to the peripheral olfactory organ. (A) peak amplitude (mean \pm SEM, μ V), (B) peak duration (mean \pm SEM, ms), (C) peak halfwidth (mean \pm SEM, ms), (D) peak falling phase (mean \pm SEM, ms), and (E) peak rising phase (mean \pm SEM, ms). The LFP peak characteristics were determined using only the first peak of the LFPs in order to standardize values across transient and sustained LFP response types. The number below each bar is the sample size. **A.** Bars that do not share the same letter within an OB region or with a corresponding odourant are significantly different (p<0.05). **B-E**. Asterisk indicates a significant difference (p<0.05). See text for statistical details.



Figure 3.19B



Figure 3.19C



Figure 3.19D



Figure 3.19E

The lateral OB region exhibited local field potential responses to only the amino acid mixture. The amplitude of these LFP peaks was large (typically greater than 100 μ V) and similar to peak amplitudes in the dorsal region (p>0.05) but larger than peak amplitudes in the medial region (p<0.05) (Figure 3.19A). The temporal characteristics of the lateral responses to amino acids (peak duration, halfwidth, falling phase and rising phase) were similar to both medial and dorsal OB region temporal peak characteristics (p>0.05)(Figure 3.19 B, C, D, E). Overall, lateral local field potential responses exhibit large peak amplitudes and peak durations. The detailed examination of LFP peak characteristics clearly demonstrates that the medial region of the OB responds to amino acids, TCA, migratory and sex pheromones with similar amplitude and temporal characteristics while LFP responses in the dorsal region are odour specific and more prominent to both migratory and sex pheromones. In addition, the lateral OB responds only to amino acid odours.

3.4 Discussion

The present study investigated odour coding in the OB as it relates to parallel processing pathways in a model olfactory-locomotor species, the sea lamprey. In the medial OB, a known olfactory-locomotor transformation region (Derjean et al., 2010), spatial as well as temporal differences in odour-evoked activity patterns were observed compared to the dorsal and lateral regions of the OB. Odour-evoked responses in the medial OB were generally transient and single LFP peaks in this region had smaller amplitudes with long durations. Responses in the medial OB were observed to amino acids, bile salts, and bile derived pheromones. In comparison, odour-evoked responses in

the lateral OB were generally sustained and LFP peaks had large amplitudes and long durations in response only to amino acid odours. In the dorsal region of the OB odour responses in both the multiunit and LFP recordings were observed to each of the odour types tested. Interestingly, the LFP peaks elicited larger amplitudes and durations specifically to the sex pheromones and migratory pheromones. Collectively these results suggest that odour information in the OB is temporally coded in relation to medial and non-medial OB output pathways, that the OB is chemotopically organized, and utilizes non-combinatorial odour coding in the single medial glomerulus responsive to all odours (Figure 3.20). Furthermore, our results demonstrate that the medial OB is functionally distinct from other regions of the OB and supports the conclusion that olfactory driven motor behaviours are initiated in this medial region as suggested by (Derjean et al., 2010).

3.4.1 Temporal pattern of odour-evoked responses

The medial region of the OB exhibited transient or shorter duration odour-evoked responses while the lateral region exhibited mainly sustained responses to odours. In mice, natural odours have been shown to induce transient and sustained responses in the MOB and AOB, respectively (Luo et al, 2003). Interestingly, Shpak et al (2012) also showed that transient and sustained mitral cell responses exist in the MOB and AOB, respectively, using electrical stimulation. Luo et al (2003) suggested that sustained responses in the AOB might be due to the additional time necessary to clear the



Figure 3.20. Photograph depicting the temporal, chemotopic and non-combinatorial organization of olfactory bulb regions within parallel olfactory pathways of the sea lamprey. Projection neurons elicited a mixture of transient (small symbols) and sustained (large symbols) responses to amino acids (Red: L-arginine and L-histidine), a bile salt (Green: taurocholic acid), putative sex pheromones (Blue: 3-keto petromyzonal sulfate and 3-keto allocholic acid), and putative migratory pheromones (Blue: petromyzonal sulfate, petromyzonal sulfate, petromyzonation disulfate, petromyzonsterol disulfate). The red, green, and blue symbols are representative recording locations to odour test solutions.

vomeronasal organ (VNO) of odours. Although this may be a factor in the sustained responses, Shpak et al (2012) provide evidence of a physiological basis for the sustained responses as being mediated by a calcium activated non-selective cationic current that utilizes TRPM4 channels (Shpak et al., 2012). The AOB processes non-volatile social odour cues and both Luo et al (2003) and Shpak et al (2012) suggests that the sustained firing of AOB neurons functions to integrate and perceive these social cues. In the current study, PNs of the lateral OB region also had primarily sustained LFP or longer duration multiunit responses and, based on the known projections of these neurons to the lateral pallium, suggests that neurons in this region are integrating and perceiving the odour cues associated with this region. Interestingly, sustained responses were observed in the lateral OB, which receives inputs only from the MOE. Therefore, the time required to clear the odour from the nasal cavity would be less of a factor due to the quick rinse out of odours from the MOE, and suggests a physiological basis for the sustained responses observed. In contrast, transient responses were observed in the medial OB, which receives olfactory inputs mainly from the AOO. If the medial OB is an olfactory centre responsible for fast initiation of locomotion and not integration as suggested by Derjean et al (2010) then transient responses may facilitate a quick olfactory-locomotor response.

Local field potentials in the OB and AL are typically oscillatory waveforms that can have varying frequencies depending on the species being studied and the neural circuitry involved (Kay and Stopfer, 2006; Rojas-Libano and Kay, 2008; Kay et al., 2009). Generally there are three frequency bands of oscillations in the OB, the theta (~1-12 Hz), beta (~15-30 Hz), and gamma (~40-100 Hz) frequency bands, although fish, frogs, and invertebrates show some deviation from these categories with odour-evoked

gamma-like oscillations ranging from 10-30 Hz (See review by Kay et al 2009). Oscillatory activity in the OB is linked to the respiration cycle of the animal and serves to make odour representations sparser, and therefore odour identification simpler. The lamprey OB did not exhibit any clear oscillatory activity in response to odour stimulation; however, a few responses did exhibit dampened oscillation-like activity. A possible explanation for the apparent lack of oscillatory activity in the OB is related to the lack of active sniffing and respiration in the ex-vivo preparation. Since OB oscillations are tightly linked to the respiratory cycle it is possible that a lack of respiratory activity, due to the removal of all respiratory tissue (gills), would cause the removal of oscillatory activity. However, extracellular recordings from the respiratory nuclei in the hindbrain still elicited strong stereotypical activity of 1 Hz throughout the recordings (data not shown). Regardless of the few oscillation-like responses, a majority of odour-evoked activity elicited slow temporal patterns that were either transient (single peak) responses or non-oscillatory sustained (multiple peak) responses. Interestingly, in the AL of locusts and honeybees, blocking of GABAA receptors removed the oscillatory component of the PN response but left the slow temporal pattern intact (Stopfer et al., 1997). The locusts and honeybees were still able to discriminate structurally different odours but not similar ones (Stopfer et al., 1997). The slow temporal patterns observed by Stopfer et al (1997) look similar to the LFPs observed in the current study of the sea lamprey OB. However, it is possible that the ex-vivo preparation used in the current study somehow causes the blocking of GABA_A receptors; although similar preparations have been used by Friedrich and Korsching (1997) and many subsequent studies by Friedrich with no such problem reported. In addition, this preparation has been used in previous

lamprey studies (Derjean et al., 2010) and the blocking of GABA_A leading to a loss of oscillatory waveforms has not been reported.

The medial region of the OB had several response characteristics that differed from the dorsal and lateral OB regions. This includes multiunit response duration, the number of peaks in an LFP response, the LFP response amplitude, and LFP peak duration. The medial OB is anatomically different from the other OB regions with medial PN cell bodies located inside the glomerulus and thus closely associated with OSN axons; while dorsal and lateral PN cell bodies are located deeper in the OB and project their dendrites into the glomerular layer (Green et al, chapter 2). This anatomical difference may be driving the physiological differences observed in the current study. There are fewer PNs in the medial OB compared to the rest of the OB, and since the medial OB is responsive to all odours tested, it may be that only a few medial PNs are driving the odour-evoked response to any given class of odour. This may account for the smaller amplitude of the medial LFPs observed. The lack of oscillatory activity suggests that the lamprey OB, and in particular the medial region of the OB, has a different basic circuitry than what is typically observed in a vertebrate OB. Oscillatory LFP activity is indicative of a high level of synchrony by projection neurons and is generated by the excitatory-inhibitory dendrodendritic interactions between primary projection neurons and granule cells (Shepherd and Greer, 1998). A lack of oscillatory LFP activity suggests a lack of synchronization of projection neurons in the lamprey OB and a possible difference in the projection neuron – interneuron circuitry or differences in innervation from higher brain centers. In the medial region where transient responses were prominent, it may be that granule cells have a different role or are not present at all.

Therefore another type of interneuron, known as periglomerular cells, may play an important role in modulating responses in the medial OB and have been shown to presynaptically modulate mitral/tufted cells in the mammalian OB (Gire and Schoppa, 2009) by releasing dopamine, thereby decreasing the amount of glutamate released onto the dendrites of mitral/tufted cells (Kay and Stopfer, 2006). The possible difference in the type and/or role of interneurons may be the reason for the small amplitude, but long duration, odour-evoked responses in the medial region of the lamprey OB. However, another explanation for the temporal differences observed in the odour responses in the medial OB may be the type of G-protein used in signal transduction. Previous work by (Frontini et al., 2003) indicated that olfactory sensory neurons projecting to the medial glomerulus do not contain the cAMP-dependent G protein G_{olf} while olfactory sensory neurons projecting to all other regions of the lamprey OB contain G_{olf}. Further studies are needed to focus on the transduction mechanisms related to the medial region of the OB.

3.4.2 Spatial pattern of odour-evoked responses

The topographic organization of odour information in the olfactory bulbs based on odourant chemical structure (chemotopy) has been extensively studied in mammals (Johnson and Leon, 2007). Similar findings have been observed in the olfactory bulbs of fishes, which are in general, chemotopically organized into medial and lateral regions based on odourant type and known medial and lateral output pathways of the OB (reviewed by Zielinski and Hara, 2006). Our findings in the sea lamprey, an extant agnathan vertebrate fish, demonstrate that the OB is divided into medial and non-medial (dorsal and lateral) regions, which are chemotopically organized as well as functionally organized according to their output pathways. Our results show that the medial OB

responds to amino acids, bile acids, and bile derived lamprey pheromones. Previous work in zebrafish (Friedrich and Korsching, 1998), catfish (Nikonov and Caprio, 2001; Hansen et al., 2003), and salmonids (Hara and Zhang, 1998) have shown that bile acids activate the medial OB region, while sex pheromones activate the medial OB in goldfish (Fujita et al., 1991). In addition, amino acids elicited weak responses in the medial region as well as most of the posterior half of the OB in brown trout (Hara and Zhang, 1998; Laberge and Hara, 2001, 2004). Taken together, these studies in conjunction with our findings suggest that depending on the species, the medial OB may be responsive to several types of odourants. Interestingly, bile acids have been shown to activate the dorsal OB in salmonids (Hara and Zhang, 1998), which is consistent with our results in the sea lamprey, that bile acids and bile derived pheromones elicit the strongest responses in the dorsal OB. Amino acids have been shown to activate the lateral region of the OB in zebrafish, catfish, and salmonids (Friedrich and Korsching, 1998; Hara and Zhang, 1998; reviewed in Laberge and Hara, 2001; Nikonov and Caprio, 2001; Hansen et al., 2003; Zielinski and Hara, 2006) and was also observed in the present study in sea lamprey. Nucleotides (which were not tested in the current study) have been shown to activate the caudal lateral region of the dorsal surface of OB in catfish (Nikonov and Caprio, 2001; Hansen et al., 2003). The peripheral olfactory organ of sea lamprey has been shown to be most sensitive to basic amino acids (Li, 1994) as well as a variety of bile acids including bile acid derived pheromones (Li et al., 1995; Li et al., 2002). The current study only focused on basic amino acids, a common bile acid (TCA) in fish and the known/putative sea lamprey pheromones. Future studies should examine the OB responses to nucleotides and a putative alarm substance (Wagner et al., 2011) and also examine whether
individual neurons in the medial and non-medial OB regions of the lamprey are responsive to particular chemical features (e.g. carbon chain length or functional group) of a specific odour class.

Although the canonical view of spatial encoding of olfactory information is that a given odour activates multiple glomeruli in a combinatorial fashion, there is growing evidence that particular odours, specifically pheromones, activate only a single glomerulus and therefore odour information is encoded in a noncombinatorial glomerular activity pattern (Friedrich and Korsching, 1998; Suh et al., 2004; Semmelhack and Wang, 2009). Previous work in the sea lamprey has shown that the medial region of the OB is comprised of a single glomerulus (Green et al, chapter 2) and that PNs associated with this glomerulus are part of an olfactory-locomotor pathway (Derjean et al., 2010). The current study demonstrates that the sex pheromones 3KPZS and 3KACA, as well as the migratory pheromones PZS, PADS, AND PSDS all activate PNs within the medial glomerulus. In addition, the general fish bile salt TCA and two amino acids L-arginine and L-histidine also activate the medial glomerulus PNs, suggesting that several classes of odours, not just pheromones, are represented in a noncombinatorial pattern in the medial OB. Interestingly, each of these odour classes were also represented in different non-medial OB regions in presumably a combinatorial activity pattern, although glomerular activation patterns were not examined using imaging techniques in the present study. Friedrich and Korsching (1998) proposed that noncombinatorial glomerular activation patterns of odours in a single glomerulus might require less processing by higher brain structures than combinatorial glomerular activation patterns across many glomeruli. The transient nature of responses observed in the single glomerulus of the

medial OB would presumably require less processing and interpretation by higher brain structures than the sustained responses observed in the non-medial OB regions.

Considering that the medial OB output constitutes a direct olfactory-locomotor pathway (Derjean et al., 2010) it may be beneficial to have such a transient response that requires less processing in order quickly induce olfactory driven motor responses to biologically relevant odours.

The medial glomerulus receives inputs primarily from olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs) in the accessory olfactory organ of the lamprey. The ligand-receptor specificity of OSNs in the accessory olfactory organ are unknown, but our current data suggests that they may be broadly tuned because the medial PNs are activated by a variety of odours. However, electro-olfactogram recordings have shown that there are at least four independent receptor sites for bile acid derived odours, including pheromones, in the main olfactory organ of the sea lamprey (Li and Sorensen, 1997). Moreover, the medial glomerulus has sparse OSN inputs from the main olfactory organ and these OSNs may be specifically tuned to a particular class of odourant, in-turn activating a specific subset of PNs in the medial glomerulus to that odourant. Further experimentation is required to understand the ligand-receptor specificity of OSNs in the accessory olfactory organ as well as that of the sparse OSNs in the main olfactory organ that project into the medial glomerulus.

3.4.3 Functional organization of projection neurons driving behaviour

The activity of primary projection neurons from the OB of vertebrates, or the antennal lobe of invertebrates, ultimately initiates and modifies the behaviours of an organism. Odours are first processed in the OB and there is growing evidence that the OB

is organized by its functional output rather then by its odour inputs. Recently, the OB of the sea lamprey has been shown to have two olfactory output pathways, one of which (the medial pathway) functions to initiate olfactory-locomotor behaviours (Derjean et al., 2010). Evidence of the OB being functionally organized based on output pathways related to specific behaviours has been observed in other vertebrates as well as invertebrates. In mice the OB is functionally divided into dorsal and ventral regions, with the dorsal regions having two subdomains, one initiates fear responses to a predator odour while the other initiates aversive responses to spoiled food (Kobayakawa et al., 2007; Matsumoto et al., 2010; Mori and Sakano, 2011). In addition, Igarashi et al (2012) recently demonstrated that mitral and tufted cells project to spatially segregated regions of the olfactory cortex. Tufted cells in particular transmit fast signals to cortical regions that potentially have a role in olfactory behaviour, although the functional role of these cortical areas is still largely undetermined (Igarashi et al., 2012). Attraction and aversion behaviours in *Drosophila* are mediated by individual glomeruli in the AL. Suh et al (2004) demonstrated that a single glomerulus in the AL was involved in avoidance behaviours to CO₂ while Semmelhack and Wang (2009) showed that two glomeruli, either one of which, when activated by a food odour was capable of eliciting attraction responses. Interestingly, when the food odour concentration was increased, an additional single glomerulus was activated that elicited aversive behaviours (Semmelhack and Wang, 2009). Tract-tracing studies in the ALs of the honeybee have shown two olfactory pathways whereby PNs innervating the ventral-rostral AL project along the lateral antenno-cerebral tract and PNs innervating the dorsal-caudal AL project along the medial antenno-cerebral tract (Kirschner et al., 2006). The medial and lateral antenno-cerebral

tracts project to the mushroom bodies and lateral horn where they innervate distinctly separate regions of these higher brain centres (Kirschner et al., 2006). These findings are similar to those in the sea lamprey where PNs of the medial OB innervate a single medial glomerulus (Green et al., chapter 2) and project along an isolated olfactory-locomotor pathway (Derjean et al., 2010). In addition to attraction and aversion behaviours to odours related to predators and food, olfactory pathways in mice have been associated with mating behaviours (Boehm et al., 2005; Yoon et al., 2005).

The results of the current study demonstrate that the PNs in the medial OB of the sea lamprey exhibit generally transient responses to each of the odours examined; while those PNs in the dorsal and lateral regions of the lamprey OB are generally more sustained and exhibit regionally specific odour responses suggesting chemotopic organization. Furthermore, our results support the hypothesis of two functionally distinct parallel olfactory pathways in the lamprey, a medial pathway for locomotion and a non-medial (dorsal and lateral) pathway(s) that may play a role in integration and perception of odours (Figure 19). Further studies are needed to examine whether the functional organization of the OB based on its output pathways is a widespread phenomenon and whether distinct fast-acting olfactory-locomotor pathways exist in other species.

3.5 References

- R Development Core Team (2011) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u>.
- Aungst JL, Heyward PM, Puche AC, Karnup SV, Hayar A, Szabo G, Shipley MT (2003) Centre-surround inhibition among olfactory bulb glomeruli. Nature 426:623-629.

- Bjerselius R, Li WM, Teeter JH, Seelye JG, Johnsen PB, Maniak PJ, Grant GC, Polkinghorne CN, Sorensen PW (2000) Direct behavioral evidence that unique bile acids released by larval sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) function as a migratory pheromone. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 57:557-569.
- Blumhagen F, Zhu PX, Shum J, Scharer YPZ, Yaksi E, Deisseroth K, Friedrich RW (2011) Neuronal filtering of multiplexed odour representations. Nature 479:493-U215.
- Boeckh J, Tolbert LP (1993) Synaptic Organization and Development of the Antennal Lobe in Insects. Microsc Res Tech 24:260-280.
- Boehm U, Zou ZH, Buck LB (2005) Feedback loops link odor and pheromone signaling with reproduction. Cell 123:683-695.
- Bozza TC, Kauer JS (1998) Odorant response properties of convergent olfactory receptor neurons. Journal of Neuroscience 18:4560-4569.
- Buonviso N, Chaput MA, Berthommier F (1992) Temporal Pattern Analyses in Pairs of Neighboring Mitral Cells. J Neurophysiol 68:417-424.
- Carcaud J, Hill T, Giurfa M, Sandoz JC (2012) Differential coding by two olfactory subsystems in the honeybee brain. J Neurophysiol 108:1106-1121.
- Christensen TA, Hildebrand JG (1987) Male-Specific, Sex Pheromone-Selective Projection Neurons in the Antennal Lobes of the Moth Manducasexta. J Comp Physiol A-Sens Neural Behav Physiol 160:553-569.
- Christensen TA, Mustaparta H, Hildebrand JG (1995a) Chemical Communication in Heliothine Moths .6. Parallel Pathways for Information-Processing in the Macroglomerular Complex of the Male Tobacco Budworm Moth Heliothis-Virescens. J Comp Physiol A-Sens Neural Behav Physiol 177:545-557.
- Christensen TA, Harrow ID, Cuzzocrea C, Randolph PW, Hildebrand JG (1995b) Distinct Projections of 2 Populations of Olfactory Receptor Axons in the Antennal Lobe of the Sphinx Moth Manduca-Sexta. Chemical Senses 20:313-323.
- Daly KC, Wright GA, Smith BH (2004) Molecular features of odorants systematically influence slow temporal responses across clusters of coordinated antennal lobe units in the moth Manduca sexta. J Neurophysiol 92:236-254.

- Derjean D, Moussaddy A, Atallah E, St-Pierre M, Auclair Fo, Chang S, Ren X, Zielinski B, Dubuc Rj (2010) A Novel Neural Substrate for the Transformation of Olfactory Inputs into Motor Output. PLoS Biol 8:e1000567.
- Doving KB, Selset R (1980) Behavior Patterns in Cod Released by Electrical-Stimulation of Olfactory Tract Bundlets. Science 207:559-560.
- Dubuc R, Brocard F, Antri M, Fenelon K, Gariepy JF, Smetana R, Menard A, Le Ray D, Di Prisco GV, Pearlstein E, Sirota MG, Derjean D, St-Pierre M, Zielinski B, Auclair F, Veilleux D (2008) Initiation of locomotion in lampreys. Brain Res Rev 57:172-182.
- Fine JM, Sorensen PW (2008) Isolation and Biological Activity of the Multi-Component Sea Lamprey Migratory Pheromone. J Chem Ecol 34:1259-1267.
- Fine JM, Vrieze LA, Sorensen PW (2004) Evidence that petromyzontid lampreys employ a common migratory pheromone that is partially comprised of bile acids. J Chem Ecol 30:2091-2110.
- Friedrich RW, Korsching SI (1997) Combinatorial and chemotopic odorant coding in the zebrafish olfactory bulb visualized by optical imaging. Neuron 18:737-752.
- Friedrich RW, Korsching SI (1998) Chemotopic, combinatorial, and noncombinatorial odorant representations in the olfactory bulb revealed using a voltage-sensitive axon tracer. Journal of Neuroscience 18:9977-9988.
- Friedrich RW, Laurent G (2001) Dynamic optimization of odor representations by slow temporal patterning of mitral cell activity. Science 291:889-894.
- Friedrich RW, Laurent G (2004) Dynamics of olfactory bulb input and output activity during odor stimulation in zebrafish. J Neurophysiol 91:2658-2669.
- Friedrich RW, Habermann CJ, Laurent G (2004) Multiplexing using synchrony in the zebrafish olfactory bulb. Nat Neurosci 7:862-871.
- Frontini A, Zaidi AU, Hua H, Wolak TP, Greer CA, Kafitz KW, Li WM, Zielinski BS (2003) Glomerular territories in the olfactory bulb from the larval stage of the sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus. J Comp Neurol 465:27-37.
- Fujita I, Sorensen PW, Stacey NE, Hara TJ (1991) The Olfactory System, Not the Terminal Nerve, Functions as the Primary Chemosensory Pathway Mediating Responses to Sex-Pheromones in Male Goldfish. Brain Behav Evol 38:313-321.

- Galizia CG, Sachse S, Mustaparta H (2000) Calcium responses to pheromones and plant odours in the antennal lobe of the male and female moth Heliothis virescens. J Comp Physiol A-Sens Neural Behav Physiol 186:1049-1063.
- Gire DH, Schoppa NE (2009) Control of On/Off Glomerular Signaling by a Local GABAergic Microcircuit in the Olfactory Bulb. Journal of Neuroscience 29:13454-13464.
- Grillner S, Wallen P (1985) Central Pattern Generators for Locomotion, with Special Reference to Vertebrates. Annu Rev Neurosci 8:233-261.
- Grillner S, McClellan A, Sigvardt K, Wallen P (1983a) On the Spinal Generation of Locomotion, with Particular Reference to a Simple Vertebrate - the Lamprey. Birth Defects-Original Article Series 19:347-356.
- Grillner S, McClellan A, Sigvardt K, Wallen P, Wilen M (1981) Activation of Nmda-Receptors Elicits Fictive Locomotion in Lamprey Spinal-Cord Invitro. Acta Physiol Scand 113:549-551.
- Grillner S, Wallen P, McClellan A, Sigvardt K, Williams T, Feldman J (1983b) The Neural Generation of Locomotion in the Lamprey - an Incomplete Account. Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology:285-303.
- Hamdani EH, Doving KB (2007) The functional organization of the fish olfactory system. Prog Neurobiol 82:80-86.
- Hamdani EH, Kasumyan A, Doving KB (2001) Is feeding behaviour in crucian carp mediated by the lateral olfactory tract? Chemical Senses 26:1133-1138.
- Hamdani EH, Stabell OB, Alexander G, Doving KB (2000) Alarm reaction in the crucian carp is mediated by the medial bundle of the medial olfactory tract. Chemical Senses 25:103-109.
- Hansen A, Rolen SH, Anderson K, Morita Y, Caprio J, Finger TE (2003) Correlation between olfactory receptor cell type and function in the channel catfish. Journal of Neuroscience 23:9328-9339.
- Hansson BS, Carlsson MA, Kalinova B (2003) Olfactory activation patterns in the antennal lobe of the sphinx moth, Manduca sexta. J Comp Physiol A -Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol 189:301-308.
- Hansson BS, Ljungberg H, Hallberg E, Lofstedt C (1992) Functional Specialization of Olfactory Glomeruli in a Moth. Science 256:1313-1315.

- Hara TJ, Zhang C (1998) Topographic bulbar projections and dual neural pathways of the primary olfactory neurons in salmonid fishes. Neuroscience 82:301-313.
- Hildebrand JG, Shepherd GM (1997) Mechanisms of olfactory discrimination: Converging evidence for common principles across phyla. Annu Rev Neurosci 20:595-631.
- Igarashi KM, Ieki N, An M, Yamaguchi Y, Nagayama S, Kobayakawa K, Kobayakawa R, Tanifuji M, Sakano H, Chen WR, Mori K (2012) Parallel Mitral and Tufted Cell Pathways Route Distinct Odor Information to Different Targets in the Olfactory Cortex. Journal of Neuroscience 32:7970-7985.
- Johnson BA, Leon M (2007) Chemotopic odorant coding in a mammalian olfactory system. J Comp Neurol 503:1-34.
- Johnson BA, Woo CC, Leon M (1998) Spatial coding of odorant features in the glomerular layer of the rat olfactory bulb. J Comp Neurol 393:457-471.
- Kauer JS, Moulton DG (1974) Responses of Olfactory Bulb Neurons to Odor Stimulation of Small Nasal Areas in Salamander. J Physiol-London 243:717-&.
- Kay LM, Stopfer M (2006) Information processing in the olfactory systems of insects and vertebrates. Semin Cell Dev Biol 17:433-442.
- Kay LM, Beshel J, Brea J, Martin C, Rojas-Libano D, Kopell N (2009) Olfactory oscillations: the what, how and what for. Trends Neurosci 32:207-214.
- Kirschner S, Kleineidam CJ, Zube C, Rybak J, Grunewald B, Rossler W (2006) Dual olfactory pathway in the honeybee, Apis mellifera. J Comp Neurol 499:933-952.
- Kleerekoper HaMJ (1963) Role of Olfaction in the Orientation of Petromyzon marinus. I. Response to a Single Amine in Prey's Body Odor. Physiological Zoology 36:347-360.
- Kobayakawa K, Kobayakawa R, Matsumoto H, Oka Y, Imai T, Ikawa M, Okabe M, Ikeda T, Itohara S, Kikusui T, Mori K, Sakano H (2007) Innate versus learned odour processing in the mouse olfactory bulb. Nature 450:503-U505.
- Laberge F, Hara TJ (2001) Neurobiology of fish olfaction: a review. Brain Res Rev 36:46-59.
- Laberge F, Hara TJ (2004) Electrophysiological demonstration of independent olfactory receptor types and associated neuronal responses in the trout olfactory bulb. Comp Biochem Phys A 137:397-408.

- Laurent G (1996) Dynamical representation of odors by oscillating and evolving neural assemblies. Trends Neurosci 19:489-496.
- Laurent G (2002) Olfactory network dynamics and the coding of multidimensional signals. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:884-895.
- Li W (1994) The Olfactory Biology of Adult Sea Lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*). In: Biology, p 184: University of Minnesota.
- Li W, Sorensen PW (1997) Highly independent olfactory receptor sites for naturally occurring bile acids in the sea lamprey, Petromyzon marinus. J Comp Physiol A-Sens Neural Behav Physiol 180:429-438.
- Li WM, Sorensen PW, Gallaher DD (1995) The Olfactory System of Migratory Adult Sea Lamprey (Petromyzon-Marinus) Is Specifically and Acutely Sensitive to Unique Bile-Acids Released by Conspecific Larvae. J Gen Physiol 105:569-587.
- Li WM, Scott AP, Siefkes MJ, Yan HG, Liu Q, Yun SS, Gage DA (2002) Bile acid secreted by male sea lamprey that acts as a sex pheromone. Science 296:138-141.
- Luo MM, Fee MS, Katz LC (2003) Encoding pheromonal signats in the accessory olfactory bulb of behaving mice. Science 299:1196-1201.
- Macrides F, Chorover SL (1972) Olfactory Bulb Units Activity Correlated with Inhalation Cycles and Odor Quality. Science 175:84-&.
- Malnic B, Hirono J, Sato T, Buck LB (1999) Combinatorial receptor codes for odors. Cell 96:713-723.
- Matsumoto H, Kobayakawa K, Kobayakawa R, Tashiro T, Mori K, Sakano H (2010) Spatial Arrangement of Glomerular Molecular-Feature Clusters in the Odorant-Receptor Class Domains of the Mouse Olfactory Bulb. J Neurophysiol 103:3490-3500.
- Meredith M (1986) Patterned Response to Odor in Mammalian Olfactory-Bulb the Influence of Intensity. J Neurophysiol 56:572-597.
- Mombaerts P, Wang F, Dulac C, Chao SK, Nemes A, Mendelsohn M, Edmondson J, Axel R (1996) Visualizing an olfactory sensory map. Cell 87:675-686.
- Mori K, Sakano H (2011) How Is the Olfactory Map Formed and Interpreted in the Mammalian Brain? In: Annual Review of Neuroscience, Vol 34, pp 467-499. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.

- Nikonov AA, Caprio J (2001) Electrophysiological evidence for a chemotopy of biologically relevant odors in the olfactory bulb of the channel catfish. J Neurophysiol 86:1869-1876.
- Nikonov AA, Finger TE, Caprio J (2005) Beyond the olfactory bulb: An odotopic map in the forebrain. P Natl Acad Sci USA 102:18688-18693.
- Pinching AJ, Powell TPS (1971) Neuron Types of the Glomerular Layer of the Olfactory Bulb. J Cell Sci 9:305-&.
- Ren X, Chang S, Laframboise A, Green W, Dubuc R, Zielinski B (2009) Projections from the Accessory Olfactory Organ into the Medial Region of the Olfactory Bulb in the Sea Lamprey (Petromyzon marinus): A Novel Vertebrate Sensory Structure? J Comp Neurol 516:105-116.
- Restrepo D, Arellano J, Oliva AM, Schaefer ML, Lin WH (2004) Emerging views on the distinct but related roles of the main and accessory olfactory systems in responsiveness to chemosensory signals in mice. Horm Behav 46:247-256.
- Rojas-Libano D, Kay LM (2008) Olfactory system gamma oscillations: the physiological dissection of a cognitive neural system. Cogn Neurodynamics 2:179-194.
- Sachse S, Galizia CG (2002) Role of inhibition for temporal and spatial odor representation in olfactory output neurons: A calcium imaging study. J Neurophysiol 87:1106-1117.
- Sandoz JC (2006) Odour-evoked responses to queen pheromone components and to plant odours using optical imaging in the antennal lobe of the honey bee drone Apis mellifera L. J Exp Biol 209:3587-3598.
- Satou M (1990) Synaptic Organization, Local Neuronal Circuitry, and Functional Segregation of the Teleost Olfactory-Bulb. Prog Neurobiol 34:115-142.
- Semmelhack JL, Wang JW (2009) Select Drosophila glomeruli mediate innate olfactory attraction and aversion. Nature 459:218-U100.
- Shepherd GM (1972) Synaptic Organization of the Mammalian Olfactory Bulb. Physiol Rev 52:864-917.
- Shepherd GM, Greer CA (1998) Olfactory Bulb. In: The synaptic organization of the brain. 4th Ed. (Shepherd GM, ed), pp 159-204. New York: Oxford University Press.

- Shpak G, Zylbertal A, Yarom Y, Wagner S (2012) Calcium-Activated Sustained Firing Responses Distinguish Accessory from Main Olfactory Bulb Mitral Cells. Journal of Neuroscience 32:6251-6262.
- Slotnick B, Restrepo D, Schellinck H, Archbold G, Price S, Lin WH (2010) Accessory olfactory bulb function is modulated by input from the main olfactory epithelium. Eur J Neurosci 31:1108-1116.
- Sorensen PW, Fine JM, Dvornikovs V, Jeffrey CS, Shao F, Wang JZ, Vrieze LA, Anderson KR, Hoye TR (2005) Mixture of new sulfated steroids functions as a migratory pheromone in the sea lamprey. Nat Chem Biol 1:324-328.
- Soucy ER, Albeanu DF, Fantana AL, Murthy VN, Meister M (2009) Precision and diversity in an odor map on the olfactory bulb. Nat Neurosci 12: 210-220.
- Spehr M, Spehr J, Ukhanov K, Kelliher KR, Leinders-Zufall T, Zufall F (2006) Parallel processing of social signals by the mammalian main and accessory olfactory systems. Cell Mol Life Sci 63:1476-1484.
- Stopfer M, Jayaraman V, Laurent G (2003) Intensity versus identity coding in an olfactory system. Neuron 39:991-1004.
- Stopfer M, Bhagavan S, Smith BH, Laurent G (1997) Impaired odour discrimination on desynchronization of odour-encoding neural assemblies. Nature 390:70-74.
- Suh GSB, Wong AM, Hergarden AC, Wang JW, Simon AF, Benzer S, Axel R, Anderson DJ (2004) A single population of olfactory sensory neurons mediates an innate avoidance behaviour in Drosophila. Nature 431:854-859.
- Tan J, Savigner A, Ma MH, Luo MM (2010) Odor Information Processing by the Olfactory Bulb Analyzed in Gene-Targeted Mice. Neuron 65:912-926.
- Urban NN, Sakmann B (2002) Reciprocal intraglomerular excitation and intra- and interglomerular lateral inhibition between mouse olfactory bulb mitral cells. J Physiol-London 542:355-367.
- Wachowiak M, Shipley MT (2006) Coding and synaptic processing of sensory information in the glomerular layer of the olfactory bulb. Semin Cell Dev Biol 17: 411-423.
- Wagner CM, Stroud EM, Meckley TD (2011) A deathly odor suggests a new sustainable tool for controlling a costly invasive species. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 68:1157-1160.

- Wehr M, Laurent G (1996) Odour encoding by temporal sequences of firing in oscillating neural assemblies. Nature 384:162-166.
- Weltzien FA, Hoglund E, Hamdani EH, Doving KB (2003) Does the lateral bundle of the medial olfactory tract mediate reproductive behavior in male crucian carp? Chemical Senses 28:293-300.
- Xu FQ, Schaefer M, Kida I, Schafer J, Liu N, Rothman DL, Hyder F, Restrepo D, Shepherd GM (2005) Simultaneous activation of mouse main and accessory olfactory bulbs by odors or pheromones. J Comp Neurol 489:491-500.
- Yoon HY, Enquist LW, Dulac C (2005) Olfactory inputs to hypothalamic neurons controlling reproduction and fertility. Cell 123:669-682.
- Zhao HQ, Ivic L, Otaki JM, Hashimoto M, Mikoshiba K, Firestein S (1998) Functional expression of a mammalian odorant receptor. Science 279:237-242.
- Zielinski BS, Hara TJ (2006) Olfaction. In: Sensory Systems Neuroscience (Hara TJ, Zielinski BS, eds), pp 1 43: Elsevier.
- Zube C, Kleineidam CJ, Kirschner S, Neef J, Rossler W (2008) Organization of the olfactory pathway and odor processing in the antennal lobe of the ant Camponotus floridanus. J Comp Neurol 506:425-441.

CHAPTER 4

Concluding Remarks

4.1 Concluding Remarks

The olfactory bulb (OB) is a vital component of the olfactory system. Information regarding odours that activate OSNs in the periphery, may be associated with a variety of biological functions including foraging, reproduction, and predator avoidance, are processed by neurons located in the OB and ultimately drive behaviour. To perceive and decode this information the OB utilizes parallel processing pathways that are topographically and temporally organized (Friedrich and Korsching, 1997; Laurent, 2002; Kay and Stopfer, 2006; Johnson and Leon, 2007). How odour information is encoded, processed and how this leads to a behavioural response are questions that have been under investigation in rodents, fish, and insects. While much progress has been made into understanding how odours are detected in the peripheral olfactory organ(s) and processed in the OB, the detailed neural substrates involved in odour driven behaviours are still poorly understood. However, significant progress in determining the olfactory-locomotor neural substrate has been made in the sea lamprey.

The neural circuits that control locomotion in the sea lamprey are well characterized, as this basal vertebrate has been utilized as a model species for the study of central regulation of motor systems, for several decades (Grillner and Wallen, 1985; Dubuc et al., 2008). Recently, a growing body of literature has examined odour responses in the peripheral olfactory organ and odour-induced behaviours of the sea lamprey (Li and Sorensen, 1997; Li et al., 2002; Fine et al., 2004; Sorensen et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2009). This background knowledge regarding the neurobiology of olfaction and locomotor control makes the sea lamprey an ideal model species for studying the

olfactory-locomotor neural substrate. Previous work by (Ren et al., 2009) and (Derjean et al., 2010) described the neural input pathways and output pathways of the OB, respectively. These two papers provided evidence of parallel olfactory pathways in the sea lamprey and describe a neural pathway from the medial region of the OB to the locomotor command neurons (reticulospinal cells) in the hindbrain. However, very little to nothing was known about the anatomical organization of bulbar PNs and their odour-induced physiological response characteristics. Thus, using the sea lamprey as a model species, this thesis contributes to further understanding of odour information processing in the OB, organization of odour information based on the function of OB output pathways, and their direct relevance to olfactory-locomotor output.

Chapter 2 examined whether projection neurons in the medial and non-medial OB exhibited anatomical differences including distribution, location, size and shape of the cell bodies in these two parallel OB pathways (Figure 4.1). Using retrograde labeling the findings show that the cell bodies (soma) and dendrites of PNs in the medial OB are clustered inside the glomerular neuropil, compared to the cell bodies of non-medial projection neurons that were predominantly located outside the glomeruli (frequently deeper in the OB). In addition, the somal size was greater in medial than in non-medial PNs and in both locations projection neurons contained single or multiple primary dendrites (Figure 4.1). This is the first study to show that there are anatomical differences in projection neuron location and size in the parallel medial and non-medial pathways of the sea lamprey OB. Furthermore, these findings provide more evidence for the anatomical basis of parallel olfactory pathways in the sea lamprey.



Figure 4.1. Flow diagram of the knowledge gaps and questions addressed in this thesis. Previous work by Ren et al. (2009) and Derjean et al. (2010) illustrate the parallel olfactory pathways in the lamprey. The 'flyout' of the olfactory bulb (OB) illustrates a summary of the results of the thesis. Accessory olfactory organ (AOO), main olfactory epithelium (MOE), posterior tuberculum (PT), mesencephalic locomotor region (MLR), reticulospinal cells (RS cells).

Chapter 3 examined the spatial and temporal coding of olfactory information in the medial and non-medial (dorsal and lateral) regions of the OB as they relate to the known odour processing pathways using a novel *ex-vivo* preparation and two electrophysiological recording techniques, LFPs and multiunit recordings (Figure 4.1). These findings supported the prediction that the chemosensory responses in the lamprey OB displays regional differences that correlate to the output organization of the medial and non-medial PNs. The data from LFPs and multiunit recordings were analyzed for topographic and temporal coding differences for four different classes of odours across the medial, dorsal, and lateral regions of the OB. Local field potentials revealed that projection neurons in the lamprey OB exhibit two types of responses to odours, transient and sustained. Both types of responses were observed in all three OB regions, however, the medial region showed a slightly higher proportion of transient responses, while the dorsal and lateral OB regions both showed much higher proportions of sustained LFP responses (in particular the lateral region) (Figure 4.1). From the multiunit recordings, the medial and dorsal OB regions exhibited an overall, trend towards shorter duration multiunit responses compared to the lateral region. Finally, both the LFP and multiunit recordings to the odour test solutions demonstrate that the medial OB is responsive to all four odour classes tested including basic amino acids, taurocholic acid, migratory pheromones, and sex pheromones. In contrast, LFP recordings showed that the lateral OB was only responsive to the basic amino acids, while the multiunit recordings showed that a few lateral projection neurons were responsive to taurocholic acid and sex pheromones, although these were the minority. The LFP and multiunit datasets show that the dorsal OB is responsive to amino acids, taurocholic acid, sex pheromones and migratory

pheromones. However, there were temporal differences in the LFP recordings between responses to pheromones compared to the amino acids and TCA, suggesting that the dorsal OB is more responsive to lamprey sex and migratory pheromones (Figure 4.1). Overall, the electrophysiological recordings demonstrate that the medial OB has different topographic and temporal odour coding compared to the dorsal and lateral OB regions, and that the lateral region is more responsive to basic amino acids than to taurocholic acid and pheromones. Odour information is topographically and temporally coded in the sea lamprey OB. Furthermore, when considering this dataset in the context of the known medial and non-medial output pathways of the OB it demonstrates that these two pathways are not only anatomically separate but are also physiologically different and that a wide variety of odours can activate the medial olfactory-locomotor pathway.

Overall, the results presented in Chapters 2 and 3 are the first studies to date on projection neuron anatomy and physiology in the sea lamprey OB. Furthermore, these results demonstrate the anatomical and physiological basis for odour information coding and processing in the sea lamprey OB. When considered in the context of the known medial olfactory-locomotor pathway, the unique findings that the medial OB responds to several different odour classes, each of which have an important biological function, support the concept of the OB being organized based on function. Taken together, the results from Chapters 2 and 3 as well as the previously published co-authored manuscripts presented in Appendix A and B contribute to the overall knowledge of parallel olfactory processing pathways and their relevance to understanding the neural substrate for olfactory-locomotor output.

Throughout the collection of data presented in this thesis many interesting research questions have been generated. Some are currently being examined, and others that have the potential to be examined in future studies. The medial OB region of the sea lamprey receives sensory neuron inputs primarily from the accessory olfactory organ (AOO) (Ren et al., 2009). At present, the odour ligands of the AOO sensory neurons are unknown. Since the AOO send input projections to the medial OB and it is involved in olfactory-locomotor transformation, it is imperative that the odour ligands of the AOO sensory neurons are characterized. In addition to the regional variation of odour responses observed in the OB it would be interesting to determine if single neurons in each of the regions respond to different chemical structures of a given class of odours. For example, do individual amino acid responsive projection neurons in the lateral OB respond to particular functional groups or side chain lengths of amino acid odours as seen by Nikonov and Caprio (2004)? This may provide further insight into the odour coding and processing mechanisms in the sea lamprey OB. The results of chapter 2 raise another interesting question as to the synaptic organization of projection neurons and interneurons in the medial and non-medial parallel olfactory pathways. Due to the projection neuron somata and dendrites being located entirely within the medial glomerular neuropil, it may be that the synaptic organization of these projection neurons and associated interneurons is different from the rest of the OB, which exhibits a more typical projection neuron arrangement to other fish. The differences in response duration observed in chapter 3 suggest that there may be an anatomical difference driving the physiological characteristics observed. Finally, previous anatomical studies have shown the presence of neurotransmitters such as glycine, glutamate, dopamine, γ -aminobutyric

acid, and serotonin in the OB (Zielinski et al., 2000; Villar-Cervino et al., 2008; Barreiro-Iglesias et al., 2009; Villar-Cervino et al., 2011). Their role in modulating the observed projection neuron responses is currently unknown and is important to fully understand the odour processing mechanisms present in the parallel olfactory processing pathways of the sea lamprey.

4.2 References

- Barreiro-Iglesias A, Villar-Cervino V, Anadon R, Rodicio MC (2009) Dopamine and gamma-aminobutyric acid are colocalized in restricted groups of neurons in the sea lamprey brain: insights into the early evolution of neurotransmitter colocalization in vertebrates. Journal of Anatomy 215:601-610.
- Derjean D, Moussaddy A, Atallah E, St-Pierre M, Auclair Fo, Chang S, Ren X, Zielinski B, Dubuc Rj (2010) A Novel Neural Substrate for the Transformation of Olfactory Inputs into Motor Output. PLoS Biol 8:e1000567.
- Dubuc R, Brocard F, Antri M, Fenelon K, Gariepy JF, Smetana R, Menard A, Le Ray D, Di Prisco GV, Pearlstein E, Sirota MG, Derjean D, St-Pierre M, Zielinski B, Auclair F, Veilleux D (2008) Initiation of locomotion in lampreys. Brain Res Rev 57:172-182.
- Fine JM, Vrieze LA, Sorensen PW (2004) Evidence that petromyzontid lampreys employ a common migratory pheromone that is partially comprised of bile acids. J Chem Ecol 30:2091-2110.
- Friedrich RW, Korsching SI (1997) Combinatorial and chemotopic odorant coding in the zebrafish olfactory bulb visualized by optical imaging. Neuron 18:737-752.
- Grillner S, Wallen P (1985) Central Pattern Generators for Locomotion, with Special Reference to Vertebrates. Annu Rev Neurosci 8:233-261.
- Johnson BA, Leon M (2007) Chemotopic odorant coding in a mammalian olfactory system. J Comp Neurol 503:1-34.
- Johnson NS, Yun SS, Thompson HT, Brant CO, Li WM (2009) A synthesized pheromone induces upstream movement in female sea lamprey and summons them into traps. P Natl Acad Sci USA 106:1021-1026.

- Kay LM, Stopfer M (2006) Information processing in the olfactory systems of insects and vertebrates. Semin Cell Dev Biol 17:433-442.
- Laurent G (2002) Olfactory network dynamics and the coding of multidimensional signals. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:884-895.
- Li W, Sorensen PW (1997) Highly independent olfactory receptor sites for naturally occurring bile acids in the sea lamprey, Petromyzon marinus. J Comp Physiol A-Sens Neural Behav Physiol 180:429-438.
- Li WM, Scott AP, Siefkes MJ, Yan HG, Liu Q, Yun SS, Gage DA (2002) Bile acid secreted by male sea lamprey that acts as a sex pheromone. Science 296:138-141.
- Nikonov AA, Caprio J (2004) Odorant specificity of single olfactory bulb neurons to amino acids in the channel catfish. J Neurophysiol 92:123-134.
- Ren X, Chang S, Laframboise A, Green W, Dubuc R, Zielinski B (2009) Projections from the Accessory Olfactory Organ into the Medial Region of the Olfactory Bulb in the Sea Lamprey (Petromyzon marinus): A Novel Vertebrate Sensory Structure? J Comp Neurol 516:105-116.
- Sorensen PW, Fine JM, Dvornikovs V, Jeffrey CS, Shao F, Wang JZ, Vrieze LA, Anderson KR, Hoye TR (2005) Mixture of new sulfated steroids functions as a migratory pheromone in the sea lamprey. Nat Chem Biol 1:324-328.
- Villar-Cervino V, Barreiro-Iglesias A, Anadon R, Rodicio MC (2008) Distribution of glycine immunoreactivity in the brain of adult sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus). Comparison with gamma-aminobutyric acid. J Comp Neurol 507:1441-1463.
- Villar-Cervino V, Barreiro-Iglesias A, Mazan S, Rodicio MC, Anadon R (2011) Glutamatergic Neuronal Populations in the Forebrain of the Sea Lamprey, Petromyzon marinus: An In Situ Hybridization and Immunocytochemical Study. J Comp Neurol 519:1712-1735.
- Zielinski BS, Moretti N, Hua HN, Zaidi AU, Bisaillon AD (2000) Serotonergic nerve fibers in the primary olfactory pathway of the larval sea lamprey, Petromyzon marinus. J Comp Neurol 420:324-334.

APPENDIX A

Projections from the Accessory Olfactory Organ into the Medial Region of the Olfactory Bulb in the Sea Lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*)– a Novel Vertebrate Sensory Structure?

The Journal of Comparative Neurology. 516: 105-116 (2009).

Xiang Ren¹, Steven Chang¹, Alyson Laframboise¹, Warren Green¹, Réjean Dubuc^{2,3} and Barbara Zielinski^{1*}

¹ Department of Biological Sciences, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ont. N9B 3P4

Canada

² Département de Kinanthropologie, Université du Québec à Montréal, PO Box 8888,

Succ. Centre-ville, Montréal, Qc H3P 3P8 Canada

³ Groupe de Recherche sur le Système Nerveux Central, Département de physiologie,

Université de Montréal, Montréal, Qc H3C 3J7 Canada

Abbreviated Title: The accessory olfactory organ in the sea lamprey

Key words: olfactory sensory neurons, tract tracing, olfactory bulb, fish

Corresponding author: Dr. Barbara S. Zielinski, Dept. of Biological Sciences, University

of Windsor, Windsor, Ont. Canada, N9B 3P4. Phone: 519-253-3000 xt 2726; Fax: 519-

971-3609; E-mail: zielin1@uwindsor.ca

Grant Support: This research was supported largely by the Great Lakes Fishery Commission (90%), as well as the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (Operating Grant number: 46383 B.Z., Alexander Graham Bell Graduate Scholarship to W.G.), the University of Windsor Faculty of Graduate Studies, and Individual and Group grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (Operating Grant Numbers: 15129 and 15176 R.D.).

ABSTRACT

While four different primary olfactory pathways have been described in tetrapod vertebrates, polymorphic olfactory sensory neurons comingle in the olfactory epithelium and project axons into separate bulbar regions in teleost fish. However, spatially segregated neurons may exist in the peripheral olfactory organ of lampreys, extant representatives of ancestral jawless vertebrates. In lampreys, the caudoventral portion of the peripheral olfactory organ contains tubular diverticula, named the accessory olfactory organ (AOO). Short ciliated AOO cells retrogradely labelled following application of biocytin or carbocyanine dyes to the medial region of the olfactory bulb. Tracer application to eight radial locations within the layer of glomeruli with mitral cells, of the olfactory bulb, showed that AOO projections were restricted to the medial region of the olfactory bulb. The outer boundary of the AOO projection extended to the ventromedial region of glomerular neuropil in 43% of the specimens. The olfactory sensory neurons in the main olfactory epithelium projected to glomerular neuropil throughout the olfactory bulb, including sparse projections to the medial region of the olfactory bulb. This study shows that these AOO neurons and their projections in the medial region of the olfactory bulb are anatomically distinct regions of the primary olfactory pathway in the sea lamprey.

INTRODUCTION

A wide variety of receptor cell types is seen within the olfactory epithelium of various vertebrates. These range from olfactory sensory neurons located in separate nasal epithelial regions, to different morphotypes within a single stretch of olfactory epithelium. Four spatially distinct olfactory subsystems, the main olfactory epithelium

(MOE), the vomeron as l organ, the septal organ of Masara and the Grüneberg ganglion have been observed in terrestrial vertebrates. In rodents, the axons of ciliated sensory neurons in the MOE terminate in the main olfactory bulb; microvillous primary sensory neurons located in the vomeronasal organ (at the rostral base of the nasal septum) extend into the accessory olfactory bulb (Meredith et al., 1980; Meredith, 1991); the septal organ of Masara (an island of MOE) is located within respiratory epithelium near the base of the nasal septum rostral to the nasopharyngeal canal (Levai and Strotmann, 2003), and the Grüneberg ganglion comprises of a cluster of rounded cells located in the submucosa of the MOE lining the rostral tip of the nasal septum, and with axons terminating in the caudal region of the olfactory bulb (Storan and Key, 2006). Diverticula lined with chemosensory epithelium extending off the main olfactory regions of the nasal cavity are termed Jacobson's organ or the vomeronasal organ in amphibians and reptiles (Negus, 1956; Freitag et al., 1995; Zuri and Halpern, 2003). Three olfactory sensory neuron morphotypes – ciliated, microvillous and crypt - intermix in the olfactory epithelium of teleost fish (Morita and Finger, 1998; reviewed by Hansen and Zielinski, 2005). The ciliated olfactory sensory neurons project to the lateral region of the olfactory bulb; the microvillous forms terminate in the medial region, and crypt cells extend to the ventrocaudal and ventrocentral region of the olfactory bulb (Morita and Finger, 1998; Hansen et al., 2003; Sato et al., 2005; Hamdani and Doving, 2005). Although separate peripheral locations for olfactory subsystems are absent from teleost fish, an accessory sensory olfactory structure may exist in lampreys, extant representatives of ancient vertebrates that existed 530 million years ago (Shu et al., 1999). In 1887, W.B. Scott discovered the accessory olfactory organ (AOO) - diverticula of the MOE concentrated in

the caudoventral region of the peripheral olfactory organ of lampreys. In histological sections of *Lampetra fluviatilis*, *Lampetra planeri* and *Petromyzon marinus*, the AOO appeared as epithelial pockets surrounded by nerve fibers and blood vessels, (Scott, 1887; Beer, 1925; Leach, 1951; Hagelin and Johnels, 1955, Vandenbossche et al., 1995) and sparse minute ducts linked the AOO to the lumen of the peripheral olfactory organ (Hagelin and Johnels, 1955). The presence of ciliated putative chemosensory neurons within this tubular structure lead Scott (1887) and Hagelin and Johnels (1955) to propose that the AOO is homologous to the vomeronasal organ. Exocrine and endocrine functions have also been postulated (e.g. Beer, 1925; Leach, 1951), and Lubosch (1905) considered the AOO follicles to be vestigial olfactory sacs in modern lampreys, which had been more extensively developed in earlier stages of evolution.

The cytoarchitecture of the olfactory bulb includes a circular layer of glomeruli and mitral cell bodies beneath the olfactory nerve layer in the lampreys *L. fluviatilis* (Heier, 1948) and *L. japonica* (Iwahori *et al.* 1987). The medial location of the layer of glomeruli and mitral cells contains biochemically distinct afferent projections in the sea lamprey *P. marinus* (Frontini et al., 2003), medial projection neurons project to the ventral thalamus (El Manira *et al.*, 1997) and the posterior tuberculum (St. Pierre *et al.*, 2007), and locomotion responses were activated following the activation of this medial region of the olfactory bulb (Derjean et al., 2008). Consequently, in the sea lamprey, the medial region of the olfactory bulb is able to link olfaction sensory input to locomotor neural activity.

In this study of *P. marinus*, retrograde neuroanatomical tract tracing techniques reveal the presence of olfactory sensory neurons within the AOO and the projection of

these axons into the medial region of the olfactory bulb; while the axons of olfactory sensory neurons in the MOE extend broadly into the layer of glomeruli and mitral cells, including the medial area. Further, this study demonstrates structural complexity in the olfactory system in aganathan vertebrates.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Animals

All experimental procedures used in this study were in compliance with protocols approved by the Canada Council for Animal Care. For this study, wild caught metamorphic stage 7 (transformers, Youson and Potter, 1979), parasitic phase and spawning phase (reproductively mature) lampreys were used. These were maintained at 6°C in recirculated dechlorinated water in the Department of Biological Sciences at the University of Windsor. The transformers and parasitic phase lampreys were captured during the autumn; and the spawning phase, during the spring and summer. The transformers and spawning phase lampreys were collected from Michigan streams, housed in the U.S. Geological Survey Lake Huron Biological Station in Millersburg, Michigan, then transported to the University of Windsor; or collected in Ontario streams and held at the Canada Department of Fisheries and Oceans Sea Lamprey Control Center in Sault Ste Marie, Ontario, before transport to the University of Windsor. The parasitic phase lampreys were captured by commercial fishers in Lake Huron, and held in Millersburg or Sault Ste Marie, then transported to the University of Windsor. For the transformers, the body length ranged from 11 - 17 cm and the weight, between 1.1 and 3. 4 grams. For the spawning-phase adults, the weight ranged from 106 - 324 grams and the body length from 34 to 52 cm. Specimens were deeply anesthetised with 0.5% MS

222 and decapitated prior to the processing of tissues for histology or neuroanatomical tracing experiments.

Semi-thin Sections

The cellular composition of the AOO follicles and the surrounding tissues was examined following toluidine blue staining of semi-thin sections. The peripheral olfactory organ was removed and fixed in a modified Karnovky's fixative containing 2.5% glutaraldehyde at 4°C overnight, then post-fixed in 1% OsO₄. The samples were dehydrated in ethanol and embedded into epoxy resin as previously described (Vandenbossche et al. 1995). Semi-thin sections (1 µm thick) were made on an RMC ultramicrotome, and stained with 1% toluidine blue in 1% aqueous sodium tetraborate.

Neuronal tract tracing

The peripheral origin of neurons projecting into specific regions of the olfactory bulb and the location of bulbar glomerular territories was investigated by *ex vivo* and *post mortem* tract tracing.

The central connectivity of the AOO cells and neurons in the MOE was examined by biocytin backfilling (Laframboise et al., 2007) from various regions of the olfactory bulb. The diencephalon and the caudal part of telencephalon were cut gently from the dissected peripheral olfactory organ/brain preparation and the targeted olfactory bulb region was exposed, then briefly lifted from the solution for biocytin application (Invitrogen, B1592). A micro-dissection pin (mounted onto a micromanipulator (Narishige, Tokyo, Japan)) was coated with flakes of biocytin then inserted into the olfactory bulb. The pin was kept within the olfactory bulb loading location for about 2 minutes to allow for the biocytin to dissolve into the tissue, before incubating in the cold

oxygenated Ringers solution (130 mM NaCl, 2.1 mM KCl, 2.6 mM CaCl₂, 1.8 mM MgCl₂, 4 mM HEPES, 4 mM dextrose, 1 mM NaHCO₃, pH 7.4) for 4 to 18 hours, then fixed, cryoprotected and cryosectioned as previously described. Some slides with sections of the retrogradely labeled peripheral olfactory organ were then immunostained with anti-acetylated tubulin for viewing cilia and microtubules, using a monoclonal antiacetylated antibody (known as 6-11B-1) in ascities fluid generated against acetylated atubulin from the outer arm of sea urchin sperm axonemes, (T6793; Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA). The 6-11B-1 antibody has a single binding site located on the a3 isoform axonemal a-tubulin of Clamydomonas (Piperno and Fuller, 1985) within four residues of Ly-40 when this amino acid is acetylated (LeDizet and Piperno, 1987). Western immunoblotting demonstrated the binding (to native and denatured a-tubulin); 2dimensional isoelectric focusing confirmed binding specificity; and solid-phase antibodybinding competition assay showed that this antibody bound to axonemal tubulin proteins but did not appreciably recognize cytoplasmic tubulin (Piperno and Fuller, 1985). The 6-11B-1 antibody has been used to detect a-tubulins acetylated on Lys-40 from a variety of organisms (LeDizet and Piperno, 1991), and binding to acetylated a-tubulin in axonemes was evident from previous applications that localized neurons: in L. japonica during cranial nerve development (Kuratani et al., 1997); in *P. marinus* during axon tract scaffolding (Barreiro-Iglesias et al., 2008) and in afferent gustatory fibers (Barreiro-Iglesias, 2008). This antibody also localized cilia in *P. marinus* olfactory sensory neurons (Frontini et al., 2003) and the round goby, Neogobius melanostomus, a teleost fish (Belanger et al., 2003). The slides were incubated in a blocking solution containing 4% normal horse serum in 0.1 M PBS for 20 minutes, then in the acetylated tubulin antibody

(1:1000 in 0.1 M PBS pH 7.4 containing 0.1% Triton X-100) overnight at 4°C, washed 3 times for 10 min in 0.1 M PBS and incubated with Alexa 488 conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody (1:200; A21151 Invitrogen) for 2 hours at room temperature before viewing by fluorescence or confocal microscopy

The olfactory nerve was anterogradely labelled *ex vivo* with biotinylated dextran amine (3000 MW, Molecular Probes D-7135) for examining the bulbar distribution of olfactory sensory neuron fibers and terminals. The peripheral olfactory organ and brain were removed as a single piece and immersed into a Petri dish containing cold oxygenated Ringers solution. The olfactory nerve was exposed by gently removing the olfactory lamellae, then 3 - 4 flakes of biotinylated dextran amine were picked up on the tips of fine forceps, placed directly onto the olfactory nerve and allowed to absorb into the nerve for a few minutes before incubating in cooled oxygenated Ringers for 4 to 18 hours, depending on the length of the olfactory nerve (shortest in the transformer stage and longest in the spawning adult stage). Following this incubation, the tissue was fixed by immersion into 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich, Mississauga, Canada) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB), pH 7.6 at 4 °C for 24 hours. The fixed tissue was then cryoprotected in 10% (2h), 20% (2h) and 30% (overnight) sucrose solution in 0.1 M PB and transverse sections were prepared on a cryostat (Microm, Heidelberg, Germany). Serial cross-sections were thaw-mounted onto Superfrost Plus slides (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA), then incubated in Alexa-568 conjugated streptavidin (1:100 in PBS; Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR), washed and coverslipped.

Bulbar topography of AOO projections

The bulbar location of the AOO cell projections was investigated by post mortem retrograde labelling with the lipophilic carbocyanine compound DiI (1,1 -dioctadecyl 3,3,3,3 -tetramethylindocarbocyanine perchlorate; D-282, Invitrogen Inc.). The specific bulbar location of these axons was probed by applying DiI crystals to specific foci in the layer of glomeruli and mitral cells (Heier, 1948; Iwahori et al. 1987). This layer forms a circular pattern (similar to a clock face) beneath the more superficial olfactory nerve layer. The radial distribution of olfactory glomeruli (within the layer of glomeruli and mitral cells) was visualized in cross-sectional views of the olfactory bulb of P. marinus that were anterogradely labelled from the olfactory nerve (described above), or histochemically stained with the α -D-galactose binding lectin *Griffonia simplicifolia* Iisolectin B4 (GS1B4), which labels olfactory sensory neuron axons the sea lamprey (Tobet et al., 1996; Zielinski et al., 2000; Frontini et al., 2003). For the GS1B4 staining, the head was removed, then immersed into fixative (4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M PB) overnight. Transverse cryosections were prepared, then incubated with biotin conjugated GS-1 isolectin B4 (1:100, B-1105; Vector Labs, Burlington, ON) in 0.1 M PBS pH 7.4, rinsed in 0.1 M PBS, then incubated in Alexa-488 streptavidin (1:100, Molecular Probes) in 0.1 M PBS for 2 hours at room temperature before rinsing and mounting, then viewed by fluorescence microscopy.

Eight radial DiI loading regions (dorsal, dorsolateral, lateral, ventrolateral, ventral, ventromedial, medial and dorsomedial) were selected, representing 45 degree arcs in the layer of glomeruli with mitral cells (Iwahori *et al.*, 1987) seen in cross sectional views of the olfactory bulb. For the DiI loading, the olfactory pathway, including the peripheral

olfactory organ and forebrain, were carefully removed from a fixed lamprey head (4%) paraformaldehyde in PB), embedded into 5% agarose (Sigma, A0169) then mounted onto a vibratome (Leica VT 1000S) in the transverse plane. The olfactory bulb was exposed for dye loading by shaving off caudal regions with the vibratome. The rostral edge of the lateral ventricle of the olfactory bulb served as an indicator of the location for DiI loading within the olfactory bulb for this study. Crystals of Dil were transferred onto the tip of a micro-dissection pin and inserted into one of these eight foci. The DiI-loaded preparation was then sealed with melted agarose, placed into fresh fixative and stored in darkness at 37°C for 13 to 30 days, to allow for retrograde diffusion from the olfactory bulb to the peripheral olfactory organ. Vibratome cross-sections of the olfactory bulb and peripheral olfactory organ were prepared and examined immediately for labelling by fluorescence microscopy. Possible contribution of extra-bulbar fibers was tested by examining AOO labelling following injection into the pre-optic area (N=3) and the area of the dorsal and ventral hypothalamic nuclei (N=3), both regions known to contain extrabulbar projections (Northcutt and Puzdrowski, 1988). Both application sites labelled fibers extending out of olfactory sensory neurons in the main olfactory epithelium, but did not label AOO cells or medial glomeruli.

The peripheral origin of fibers extending to medial and lateral regions of the layer of glomeruli and mitral cells, was directly compared by adapting a double labelling strategy with two spectrally distinct carbocyanine fluorophores, DiI (excited at 488 nm) and DiA, (excited at 568 nm; 4-4-dihexadecylaminostyryl-N-methyl-pyridinium iodide, D-3883 Invitrogen Inc.), a strategy previously used by Sullivan and Beltz (2001), Dunlop (2003) and Hu *et al.* (2004). The tissue was fixed and loaded with the carbocyanine

tracers under a stereomicroscope as previously described. The DiI was applied to the lateral region of the olfactory bulb, the DiA was applied into medial region; the tissue was incubated in fixative, and sectioned as previously described before examining by confocal microscopy.

Microscopy

The brightfield and fluorescence sections were photographed with a Q-imaging Retiga 1300 digital camera (Q-Imaging Corporation, Burnaby, Canada) on a Zeiss Axioskop 2, using Northern Eclipse software (EMPIX Imaging Inc., Mississauga, Canada). The confocal images were taken on an Olympus Fluoview FV1000 (FV10-ASW)) or a Biorad MRC 1024 equipped with Lasersharp software. Images were cropped, arranged and modified for contrast and brightness using Adobe Photoshop.

RESULTS

The AOO was located in the lamina propria beneath olfactory epithelium situated in the troughs between adjacent olfactory lamellae, in the caudoventral region of the peripheral olfactory organ of transformed and adult phase sea lampreys (Fig. 1A, B). These AOO pockets commenced midway along the rostral-caudal axis of the peripheral olfactory organ (Fig. 1A) and extended caudally beyond the olfactory lamellae. The simple cuboidal epithelium lining the AOO was noticeably shorter than the pseudostratified columnar MOE (Fig. 1C), and included ciliated cells (Fig. 1D, E), previously noted as putative sensory neurons by Scott (1887) and by Hagelin and Johnels (1955). Biocytin, applied throughout the olfactory bulb layer of glomeruli with mitral cells (Iwahori et al., 1987), retrogradely labelled olfactory sensory neurons in the MOE and in the AOO, as well as olfactory nerve fascicles in the lamina propria (Fig. 2A).



Figure 1.The accessory olfactory organ in *Petromyzon marinus*. **A:** Diagram illustrating cross-sectional views of the rostral, mid and caudal regions of the peripheral olfactory organ. The single peripheral organ contains bilaterally symmetrical cavities, lined by lamellae that are covered by the main olfactory epithelium (MOE). The rostral-most AOO follicles extend from the ventral region of the peripheral olfactory organ, from the base of the olfactory lamellae. The AOO follicles are also prominent in the caudal region of the peripheral olfactory organ. The area enclosed by a rectangle shows the region for sections shown in B to E. Bar is 1 mm. **B to E:** are epoxy semi-thin sections stained with toluidine blue. **B:** The AOO follicles are located in the lamina propria in a trough between adjacent olfactory lamellae that are covered by MOE. Fascicles containing olfactory sensory neuron axons (ONF) are located in the lamina propria of the olfactory

lamella. Bar is 100 μ m. C: The MOE is a pseudostratified columnar epithelium, and the AOO epithelium is simple cuboidal epithelium. Bar is 25 μ m. D and E are high power views of the AOO epithelium. The AOO contains rounded ciliated cells (arrows). Unciliated cells are adjacent to the ciliated cells. Bar is 10 μ m.

Labeled fibers traversed the loose connective tissue in the lamina propria and entered AOO follicles (Fig. 2B) and into individual AOO cells (Fig. 2C). These retrogradely labelled AOO cells were located in all AOO sacs, including prominent clusters caudal to the MOE and rostral to the olfactory bulb (Fig. 2 D,E), where the retrogradely labelled follicles were arranged in semi-circular pattern, surrounding olfactory nerve fascicles, with the largest AOO clusters positioned ventrally (Fig. 2E). High power views of the retrogradely labelled cells in the MOE and the AOO revealed the shape and composition of these olfactory sensory neurons. While the MOE neurons were predominately elongate (Fig. 3A), the AOO neurons were much shorter and rounder (Fig. 3B). A rounded olfactory knob was situated on the luminal surface of the MOE neurons, compared to the flatter and less bulbous apical region of the AOO cells (Fig. 3). A single axon extended from the basal region of the cell body of sensory neurons both in the MOE and the AOO (Fig. 3, 4) and abundant hair-like apical processes on the apical surface of the AOO cells were identified as cilia by acetylated tubulin-immunofluorescence (Fig. 4). The localization of acetylated tubulin immunoreactivity in the cell body, dendritic and axonal compartments of the AOO cells further substantiated their neuronal identity (Fig. 4B). Previous studies have shown that olfactory sensory neurons located in the MOE of the sea lamprey are ciliated (Vandenbossche et al., 1995; Laframboise et al., 2007), and that the cilia, cell bodies and axons of these cells are acetylated tubulin-immunoreactive (Frontini *et al.*, 2003). The AOO neurons were generally bipolar, with a short dendritic



Figure 2. Retrograde labelling of AOO cells from the olfactory bulb following biocytin application to the olfactory bulb. **A:** The retrogradely labelled AOO cells are short compared to the olfactory sensory neurons in the MOE. Olfactory nerve fibers (ONF) are located in the lamina propria beneath the MOE. Bar is 25 μ m. The inset illustrates the location of biocytin application in the olfactory bulb. **B:** Retrogradely labelled nerve fibers (asterisk) extend toward and enter the AOO follicles, and fibers extend from the retrogradely labelled AOO cells. Bar is 50 μ m. **C:** Retrogradely labelled nerve fibers (asterisk) are adjacent to AOO cells. Bar is 24 μ m **D:** Abundant AOO follicles are located in the submucosa caudal to the olfactory lamellae, and close to the olfactory nerve (ONF). Bar is 50 μ m. **E:** This cross-sectional view of the region between the peripheral olfactory organ and the olfactory bulb shows a radial arrangement of labelled olfactory nerve fibers (ONF) and surrounding AOO follicles (arrows). A high concentration of AOO follicles is seen in the ventromedial corner, shown at the bottom of the image. Bar is 50 μ m.



Figure 3. Confocal Z-stack images of backfilled olfactory sensory neurons in the MOE and the AOO. **A:** The olfactory sensory neurons in the MOE (backfilled with biocytin) are tall and narrow, with ciliated bulbous olfactory knobs (arrows). Bar is 10 μ m. **B:** The AOO retrogradely labelled with biotinylated dextran amine contains ciliated rounded cells, some with a flattened, narrow olfactory knob (arrows). Bar is 5 μ m.
apical portion, an ovoid cell body and a basal axon (Fig. 4). Some variation was observed in the relative size of the dendritic portion, with some cells appearing more elongate than others (Fig. 4A). The slight difference in neuronal shape constituted a continuum rather than specific neuronal subtypes.

The bulbar location of the AOO projections was identified by anterograde labelling from the olfactory bulb. The olfactory glomeruli formed a circular pattern, when viewed in transversely sectioned preparations of the olfactory bulb (Fig. 5A) and previously described in *Lampetra japonica* by Ichikawa et al. (1987). Anterograde labelling from the olfactory nerve revealed a tangle of very fine axons in the glomerular neuropil (Fig. 5B), including the medial region of the olfactory bulb. The bulbar projections of the AOO olfactory sensory neurons were systematically examined by retrograde DiI labelling of these bulbar glomerular regions in fixed *post mortem* specimens. The circular distribution of afferent input into the olfactory bulb allowed for systematic Dil application into eight radial regions of the layer of glomeruli with mitral cells in transversely sectioned *post mortem* olfactory bulbs (Fig. 5), for revealing specific topography of AOO projections. Global loads to all bulbar regions labelled olfactory sensory neurons in both the MOE and the rostral AOO follicles (directly abutting onto the MOE; Fig. 6A). These AOO follicles labelled only when the medial region of the olfactory bulb was included in the dye load (Fig. 6), with olfactory sensory neurons in both the MOE and the AOO labelling, even when a minute quantity of DiI was applied medially (Fig. 6C). These medial Dil loads labelled individual rounded AOO neurons, as



Figure 4. High power Z-stack confocal views of biocytin backfilled AOO olfactory sensory neurons (magenta), immunolabeled with acetylated tubulin (green). A to C) The backfilled AOO cells include a basal axonal process (arrows) and apical cilia. B and C) Microtubules (green) are seen within the cilia, cytoplasm and axons of AOO neurons that were not retrogradely labelled with biocytin (magenta). Bar is 10 µm.



Figure 5. The glomeruli in the olfactory bulb in the parasitic phase lamprey. **A:** This cross-sectional view of the olfactory bulb was labeled with $GS1B_4$ lectin. The eight regions of the layer of glomerui with mitral cells are indicated: M, medial; DM, dorsomedial; D, dorsal; DL, dorsolateral; L, lateral; VL, ventrolateral; V, ventral; VM, ventromedial. Bar is 250 µm. **B:** A high power confocal Z stack showing olfactory nerve fibers in the layer of glomeruli with mitral cells, anterogradely labelled from the olfactory nerve with biotinylated dextran amine. The axons of olfactory sensory neurons are a meshwork of fine fibers. Bar is 20 µm. The arrow in the inset shows the olfactory nerve site of the biocytin application.



Figure 6. Rostral AOO follicles label with DiI following global and medial olfactory bulb loads. A and B are low power views; C and D are high power views. Bar is 200 μ m for all. C and D are the same magnification. The bar is 500 μ m in the insets shown in A - D. A: The labeling is located in AOO follicles and in the MOE following diffuse (global) dye application to the olfactory bulb. B: Following application to the lateral region of the olfactory bulb (illustrated in the inset), labelling was observed in the MOE and in olfactory nerve fascicles (ONF), but absent from AOO follicles. C: Labelled cells were seen in the AOO follicles and in the MOE following application to the medial region of the olfactory bulb. D: Labelling was present in the MOE and in olfactory nerve fascicles, but absent from AOO follicles following application of the ventromedial region of the olfactory bulb.



Figure 7. High power fluorescence views of rostral AOO follicles retrogradely labelled with DiI from the medial region of the olfactory bulb. Bar is $100 \ \mu\text{m}$. A: Labelled olfactory sensory neurons are located in the MOE, as well as in the AOO. B: Axons (asterisks) extend into the AOO follicle. Labelled AOO cells line the AOO epithelium.

well as the axonal processes extending into the AOO follicles (Fig. 7). These labelled AOO neurons were bipolar, with small round cell bodies and a slightly constricted supranuclear region. The caudal AOO follicles (located ventral to the olfactory nerve) also labelled following Dil tracer application to the medial glomeruli, and failed to label following DiI application to the remaining glomerular regions (Fig. 8). From these experiments, it became clear that AOO neurons (from the rostral to the caudal follicles), project to the medial region of the olfactory bulb. Medial application of DiI consistently labelled olfactory sensory neurons in the AOO, as well as in the MOE (Table 1), indicating that the medial region of the olfactory bulb contained projections from olfactory sensory neurons in the MOE as the AOO. Abundant olfactory sensory neurons labelled in the MOE following application to the non-medial territories (Table 1). Although most ventromedial loads failed to label AOO neurons, the boundary of the AOO bulbar projection may extend to the ventromedial region of the olfactory bulb, since 3 out of 7 ventromedial bulbar applications labelled very sparse AOO neurons (Table 1). Alternatively, the DiI may have diffused to the medial region of the olfactory bulb during these ventromedial tracer application experiments.

The medial-only AOO axonal projection site was confirmed by a double labelling strategy with the carbocyanine dyes DiA and DiI (Fig. 9A). Following application of DiA to the medial region of the olfactory bulb, and DiI to the lateral region, only DiA was seen in AOO sensory neurons (Fig. 9B), and the neurons in the MOE were labelled with DiI or with DiA (Fig. 9C).



Figure 8. The medial region of the olfactory bulb contains projections from AOO cells caudal to olfactory lamellae. Bars are 500 μ m in inserts shown in A – C. A: Following DiI application to all glomerular territories, labelling was observed in AOO follicles and the olfactory nerve (ON). Bar is 500 μ m. B: Fluorescence was present in the olfactory nerve, and absent from AOO cells following DiI application to the lateral region of the olfactory bulb. Bar is 100 μ m. C: Following a minute DiI application to the medial region of the olfactory bulb, labelling was present in ipsilateral AOO cells (arrows) and the olfactory nerve (ON). Bar is 100 μ m.

Olfactory bulb region with tracer	AOO	MOE	Number of specimens examined
Dorsal	- (6)	+++ (6)	6
Dorsolateral	- (4)	+++ (4)	4
Lateral	- (6)	+++ (6)	6
Ventrolateral	- (4)	+++(4)	4
Ventral	- (5)	+++ (5)	5
Ventromedial	- (4) + (3)	+++ (7)	7
Medial	+++ (9)	+ (9)	9
Dorsomedial	- (8)	+++ (8)	8

TABLE 1. Labelling of Olfactory Sensory Neurons in the AOO and t	he MOE
Following Dil Tracer Application Into Specific Glomerular Territo	ries ¹

¹+++, abundant labelled cells; +, rare labelled cells; -, absence of labelled cells. Number in parentheses indicates the number of animals for each observation (N value).





DISCUSSION

These experiments show that olfactory sensory neurons in the AOO specifically target the medial region of the olfactory bulb, and those in the MOE project broadly into the layer of glomeruli and mitral cells. The presence of this accessory olfactory pathway in the sea lamprey, an agnathan vertebrate, may be significant in an evolutionary context.

Although previous investigators had noticed these small ciliated cells located in the crypt-like invaginations of the olfactory epithelium of lampreys, and suggested olfactory sensory function for these cells (e.g. Scott, 1887; Hagelin and Johnels, 1955; Pombal et al., 2002), the use of tract tracing strategies has confirmed that axons project from AOO cells to the olfactory bulb. The short stature of the AOO neurons reflects their cuboidal epithelial morphology, compared to taller pseudostratified MOE (e.g. Thornhill, 1967; Vandenbossche, 1997; Laframboise et al., 2006). In the lamprey, both the AOO and MOE sensory neurons cells are ciliated. The apical surface of the AOO cells is flatter than the more protruding olfactory knobs seen in the ciliated sensory neurons of the MOE in lampreys (Thornhill, 1967; Vandenbossche et al., 1992; Zielinski et al., 2000) and other vertebrates (Hansen and Zielinski, 2005; Menco et al., 1997). The flattened AOO cell apical surface, is reminiscent of the low olfactory knob seen in microvillous olfactory sensory neurons in teleost fish (Hansen and Zielinski, 2005). The more rounded shape of the AOO sensory neurons resembles the short cells in the MOE of the sea lamprey (Laframboise et al., 2007), but the abundant cilia covering the apical surface of the AOO sensory neurons differ from the single submerged cilium seen in the short olfactory sensory neurons (Laframboise et al., 2007) and in teleost crypt cells (Hansen and Finger,

2000). These morphological characteristics may indicate molecular differences between the olfactory sensory neurons in the AOO and the MOE.

The anterograde labelling of the olfactory afferents confirmed the circular arrangement of these projections into glomeruli in the lamprey olfactory bulb, previously illustrated by silver impregnation techniques (Heier, 1948; Iwahori *et al.*, 1987). The neuropil in this layer of glomeruli and mitral cells contained finely meshed afferent fibers, characteristic of olfactory sensory neuron terminals (e.g. Au *et al.*, 2002). The location of the medial glomerular neuropil containing the AOO projections differed from the more ventral location of extrabulbar fibers passing into the telencephalon and diencephalon from the olfactory epithelium (Northcutt and Puzdrowski, 1988; Eisthen and Northcutt 1996; Tobet *et al.*, 1996; Von Bartheld, 2004), and confirmed in our studies as well, by retrograde labelling from the pre-optic area and the ventral and dorsal hypothalamic nuclear regions.

The retrograde tract tracing experiments support the previous observation of biochemically distinct afferent neurons in the medial glomeruli of sea lampreys (Frontini et al., 2003), and demonstrate that the AOO olfactory sensory neurons terminate exclusively in the medial region of the olfactory bulb. This medial AOO region of the olfactory bulb links olfactory sensory input to locomotor output. Strong depolarizations of reticulo-spinal cells were evoked following stimulation of this medial bulbar region, but not the other bulbar regions (Derjean et al., 2008), and tract-tracing studies showed input from mitral cells located in the medial region of the olfactory bulb to the ventral thalamus (El Manira *et al.*, 1997) and the posterior tuberculum (St. Pierre, 2007) – both regions with strong links to locomotor control (Derjean et al., 2008). On the other hand,

tracers applied broadly to the olfactory bulb extended largely to the pallial regions and the dorsal thalamus (Northcutt and Puzdrowski, 1988; Polenova and Vesselkin, 1993). According to our neuroanatomical studies, there are spatially distinct projections from the medial vs lateral regions of the olfactory bulb (Chang, 2006; Ren, 2006; St-Pierre, 2007). Consequently, the synaptic pathway through the medial region of the olfactory bulb which receives the axons from the AOO sensory neurons, may also be functionally separate from the remaining region of the glomeruli and mitral cells with projection neurons extending broadly into the forebrain and midbrain. Behavioural implications of the medial pathway that connects locomotor centers may be represented by the sea lamprey's strong upstream movement response to pheromones in natural spawning streams (Johnson *et al.*, 2009).

The AOO is an accessory olfactory structure.

Both similarities and differences are seen when comparing the lamprey AOO to the vomeronasal organ, the Grüneberg ganglion and the septal organ of Masara - secondary nasal chemosensory structures in terrestrial vertebrates. 1) While the vomeronasal epithelium is located in a fairly wide sac in amphibians and reptiles (Negus, 1956; Freitag et al., 1995; Taniguchi et al., 2008), both the mammalian vomeronasal organ and the lamprey AOO are tubular structures, linked to the nasal cavity by narrow ducts. The AOO ducts are located within the MOE (Lubosch, 1905) and the vomeronasal ducts empty into nasal respiratory epithelium at the base of the nasal septum (Meredith et al., 1980). Consequently, the apical surface of the sensory neurons in the AOO and in the vomeronasal organ of terrestrial vertebrates face a lumen, compared to the cells of the Grüneberg ganglion, a ductless cell cluster located in the submucosa inferior to olfactory

epithelium (Storan and Key, 2006). 2) Both the neurons in the AOO and septal organ of Grüneberg have a rounded shape and are considerably shorter than the sensory neurons seen in the vomeronasal organ. 3) Abundant blood vessels surround both the AOO and the mammalian vomeronasal organ. The constriction and dilation of these blood vessels regulates the passage of fluids to the vomeronasal organ (Meredith, 1980), and may also have a similar function in the lamprey AOO. 4) The cells located within all three -AOO, vomeronasal organ and septal organ of Grüneberg - project axons to discrete glomerular locations in the olfactory bulb. The AOO olfactory sensory neurons project to the medial glomeruli in the sea lamprey; vomeronasal axons extend medial to the olfactory bulb and enter the accessory olfactory bulb located caudal to the main olfactory bulb (Halpern and Martinez-Marcos, 2003; Taniguchi et al., 2008); the nerve fibers from the septal organ extend to the caudal, ventromedial bulb region (Levai and Strottman, 2003); and the cells in the Grüneberg ganglion project to the caudal main olfactory bulb (Storan and Key, 2006). 5) The output of the mammalian accessory olfactory bulb has long been considered to be separate from the efferent connections of the main olfactory bulb, however recent studies have revealed convergence between these two pathways (Pro-Sistiaga *et al.*, 2007). In the sea lamprey, the posterior tuberculum predominates as the target of the secondary neurons from the medial glomeruli, compared to more diffuse projections from the remaining glomeruli to many forebrain structures, but excluding the posterior tuberculum (Derjean et al., 2008). Clearly, the lamprey's AOO differs from accessory olfactory structures in tetrapods, yet the location, cellular components and projection site, point to some similarities between the AOO and the vomeronasal organ, the septal organ of Masera and the Grüneberg ganglion.

Spatial segregation within the olfactory bulb, with respect to afferent input, is also seen in the teleost olfactory bulb - which splits up afferent input that is intermixed in the olfactory epithelium. In the olfactory bulb of zebrafish, channel catfish and carp, ciliated olfactory sensory neurons project medially, microvillous olfactory sensory neurons extend laterally, and crypt cells, ventrally (Morita and Finger, 1998; Sato et al., 2005; Hansen et al., 2003; Hamdani and Doving, 2006). Although the separate peripheral location of the lamprey AOO cells differs from the blended teleost polymorphic olfactory sensory neurons, the feature of a separate bulbar projection site for a olfactory neuron sub-type is conserved in both lampreys and teleost fish.

We conclude that the axons of AOO olfactory sensory neurons project into the medial region of the layer of glomeruli and mitral cells in the olfactory bulb. These observations affirm that in sea lamprey, AOO cells constitute a separate primary olfactory pathway, and signify the existence of an anatomically and biochemically distinct olfactory subsystem in the superclass Agnatha (jawless fish), positioned at the base of vertebrate evolution.

REFERENCES

- Au WW, Treloar, HB, Greer, CA. 2002. Sublaminar organization of the mouse olfactory bulb nerve layer. J Comp Neurol 446:68-80.
- Barreiro-Iglesias A, Villar-Cheda B, Abalo XM, Anadon R. 2008. The early scaffold of axons tracts in the brain of a primitive vertebrate, the sea lamprey. Brain Res Bull. 75:45-52.

Beer de GR. 1923. On a problematical organ in the lamprey. J Anat 59:7-108.

Belanger RM, Smith CM, Corkum LD, Zielinski BS. 2003. Morphology and histochemistry of the peripheral olfactory organ in the round goby, *Neogobius melanostomus* (Teleostei:Gobiidae). J Morphol 257:62-71.

- Chang S. 2006. The neural connectivity of olfactory bulb regions in ovulated female lampreys (*Petromyzon marinus*). M.Sc. thesis. University of Windsor .
- Derjean D, Moussady A, Atallah E, St Pierre M, Ren X, Chang S, Auclair F, Zielinski B, Dubuc R. 2008. Neural pathways and mechanisms underlying olfactory-locomotor transformations in lampreys. International Symposium on Olfaction and Taste XV. P445.
- Dulac C, Axel R. 1995. A novel family of genes encoding putative pheromone receptors in mammals. Cell 83:195-206.
- Dunlop SA. 2003. Axonal sprouting in the optic nerve is not a prerequisite for successful regneration. J Comp Neurol 465:319-334.
- Eisthen HL, Northcutt, RG. 1996. Silver lampreys (*Ichthyomyzon unicuspis*) lack a gonadotropin-releasing hormone- and FMRFamide-immunoreactive terminal nerve. J Comp Neurol 370: 159-172.
- El Manira A, Pombal MA, Grillner S. 1997. Diencephalic projection to reticulospinal neurons involved in the initiation of locomotion in adult lampreys Lampetra fluviatilis. J Comp Neurol 389:603-616.
- Finger TE. 1975. The Distribution of the Olfactory Tracts in the Bullhead Catfish, *Ictaulurus nebulosus*. J Comp Neurol 161:125-142.
- Freitag J, Krieger J, Strotmann J, Breer H. 1995. Two classes of olfactory receptors in *Xenopus laevis*. Neuron 15:1383-92.
- Frontini A, Zaidi AU, Hua H, Wolak TP, Greer CA, Kafitz KW, Li W, Zielinski BS. 2003. Glomerular territories in the olfactory bulb from the larval stage of the sea lamprey *Petromyzon marinus*. J Comp Neurol 465: 27-37.
- Hagelin L, Johnels AG. 1955. On the structure and function of the accessory olfactory organ in Lampreys. Acta Zool 36:113-125.
- Halpern M, Martinez-Marcos A. 2003. Structure and function of the vomeronasal system: an update. Prog Neurobiol 70: 245-318.
- Hamdani, E.H. and Doving, K.B. 2006. Specific projection of the sensory crypt cells in the olfactory system of the crucian carp, *Carassius carassius*. Chem Senses 28:63-67.
- Hansen A, Finger TE. 2000 Phyletic distribution of crypt-type olfactory receptor neurons in fishes. Brain Behav. Evol. 55:100-110.

- Hansen A, Zielinski BS. 2005. Diversity in the olfactory epithelium of bony fishes: development, lamellar arrangement, sensory neuron cell types and transduction components. J Neurocytol 34:183-208.
- Hansen A, Rolen SH, Anderson K, Morita Y, Caprio J, Finger TE. 2003. Correlation between olfactory receptor cell type and function in the channel catfish. J Neurosci 23:9328 - 9339.
- Heier P. 1948. Fundamental principles in the structure of the brain. A study of the brain of *Petromyzon fluviatilis*. Acta Anat 8:9-89.
- Hofmann MH, Meyer DL. 1991. Functional subdivisions of the olfactory system correlate with lectin-binding properties. Br Res 564:344-347.
- Iwahori N, Kiyota E, Nakamura K. 1987. A Golgi study on the olfactory bulb in the lamprey, *Lampetra japonica*. Neurosc Res 5:126-139.
- Jia C, Halpern M. 1996. Subclasses of vomeronasal receptor neurons: differential expression of G proteins (Gi alpha 2 and G(0 alpha)) and segregated projections to the accessory olfactory bulb. Brain Res. 719:117-128.
- Johnson NS, Yun SS, Thompson HT, Brant CO, Li W. 2009. A synthesized pheromone induces upstream movement in female sea lamprey and summons them to traps. PNAS 106:1021-1026.
- Jones DT, Reed RR. 1989. Golf: an olfactory neuron specific-G protein involved in odorant signal transduction. Science 244:790-795.
- Keverne EB. 1995. Olfactory Learning. Curr Opin Neurobiol 5:482-488.
- Kleerekoper H. 1969. Olfaction and behavior in fishes. Olfaction in fishes: 115-157. ed.
- Koza JM, Wirsig-Wiechmann CR. 2001. A subpopulation of nervus terminalis neurons projects to the olfactory mucosa in Xenopus laevis. J Neurosci Res 66:8-15.
- Laframboise AJ, Ren X, Chang S, Dubuc R, Zielinski BS. 2007. Olfactory sensory neurons in the sea lamprey display polymorphisms. Neurosci Let 414:277-281.
- Leach WJ. 1951. The hypophysis of lampreys in relation to the nasal appparatus. J Morphol 89:217-255.
- LeDizet M, Piperno G. 1987. Identification of an acetylation site of *Chlamydomonas* alpha-tubulin. PNAS 84:5720-4.
- LeDizet M, Piperno G. 1991. Detection of acetylated alpha-tubulin by specific antibodies. Methods Enzymol. 196:264-274.

- Levai O, Strotmann J. 2003. Projection pattern of nerve fibers from the septal organ: DiI-tracing studies with transgenic OMP mice. Histochem Cell Biol 120:483-492.
- Lubosch W. 1905. Die Entwickelung und Metamorphose der Geruchsorganes von *Petromyzon* und seine Bedeutung für die vergleichende Anatomie des Geruchsorganes. Jen Zschr Natw 40:90-143.
- Menco BP, Cunningham AM, Qasba NL, Reed RR. 1997. Putative odor receptors localize in cilia of olfactory receptor cells in rat and mouse: a freeze-substitution ultrastructural study. J Neurocytol 26:691-706.
- Meredith M. 1991. Sensory processing in the main and accessory olfactory systems: comparisons and contrasts. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 39(4B):601-614.
- Meredith M, Marques DM, O'Connell RJ, Stern FL. 1980. Vomeronasal pump: significance for male hamster sexual behaviour. Science 207:1224-1226.
- Morita Y, Finger TE. 1998. Differential projections of ciliated and microvillous olfactory receptor cells in the catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*. J. Comp. Neurol. 7:539-50.
- Negus VE. 1956. The organ of Jacobson. J. Anat. 90:515-519.
- Nezlin LP, Schild D. 2000. Structure of the olfactory bulb in tadpoles of Xenopus laevis. Cell Tissue Res 302:21-29.
- Northcutt RG, Puzdrowski RL. 1988. Projections of the olfactory bulb and nervus terminalis in the silver lamprey. Br Behav Evol 32: 96-107.
- Piperno G, Fuller MT. 1985. Monoclonal antibodies specific for an acetylated for of atubulin recognize the antigen in cilia and flagella from a variety of organisms. J. Cell Bio. 101:2085-2094.
- Polenova OA, Vesselkin NP. 1993. Olfactory and nonolfactory projections in the river lamprey (*Lampetra fluviatilis*) telencephalon. J Hirnforsch 34:261-279.
- Pombal MA, de Arriba MC, Sampedro D, Alvarez R, Megias M. 2002. Immunocytochemical localization of calretinin in the olfactory system of the adult lamprey, *Lampetra fluviatilis*. Brain Res Bull 57:281-283.
- Pro-Sistiaga P, Mohedano-Moriano A, Ubeda-Banon I, del mar Arroyo-Jimenez M, Marcos P, Artacho-Perula E, Crespo C, Insauti R, Martinez-Marcos A. 2007.
 Convergence of olfactory and vomeronasal projections in the rat basal telencephalon. J Comp Neurol 504:346-362.

- Ren X, Chang S, Auclair F, Dubuc R, Zielinski B. 2006. Spatially distinct sensory input to medial olfactory bulb glomeruli and output projections into the habenula and ventral thalamus in the sea lamprey *Petromyzon marinus*. Chem Senses 31:A76.
- Ressler KJ, Sullivan SL, Buck LB. 1993. A zonal organization of odorant receptor gene experssion in the olfactory epithelium. Cell 1993 73:597-609.
- Ring G, Mezza RC, Schowb JE. 1997. Immunohistochemcal identification of discrete subsets of rat olfactory neurons and the glomeruli that they innevate. J Comp Neurol 388:415-434.
- Sato Y, Miyasaka N, Yoshihara Y. 2005. Mutually exclusive glomerular innervation by two distinct types of olfactory sensory neurons revealed in transgenic zebrafish. J Neurosci 25:4889 - 4897.
- Scott WB. 1887. Notes on the development of Petromyzon. J Morphol 1:253-310.
- Shepherd GM 2004. The synaptic organization of the brain. Oxford University Press.
- Shu D-G, Luo H-L, Conway Morris S, Zhang X-L, Hu S-X, Chen L, Han J, Zhu M, Li Y, Chen L-Z. 1999. Lower Cambrian vertebrates from south China. Nature 402, 42-46.
- St-Pierre M, Auclair F, Zielinski B, Dubuc R. 2007. Projections of olfactory bulb neurons in the sea lamprey. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 448.16.
- Storan MJ, Key B. 2006. Septal organ of Gruneberg is part of the olfactory system. J Comp Neurol 494: 834-844.
- Sullivan JM, Beltz BS. 2001. Neural pathways connecting the deutocerebrum and lateral protocerebrum in the brains of decapod crustaceans. J Comp Neurol 441:9-22.
- Taniguchi K, Saito S, Oikawa T, Taniguchi K. 2008. Phylogenic aspects of the amphibian dual olfactory system. J Vet Med Sci 70:1-9.
- Thornhill RA. 1967. The ultrastructure of the olfactory epithelium of the lamprey *Lampetra fluviatilis*. J Cell Sci 2:591-602.
- Tobet SA, Chickering TW, Sower SA. 1996. Relationship of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons to the olfactory system in developing lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus*). J Comp Neurol 376:97-111.
- Vandenbossche J, Seelye JG, Zielinski BS. 1995. The Morphology of the Olfactory Epithelium in Larval, Juvenile and Upstream Migrant Stages of the Sea Lamprey, Petromyzon-Marinus. Brain Behav Evol 45:19-24.

- VanDenBossche J, Youson, JH, Pohlman D, Wong E, Zielinski BS. 1997.
 Metamorphosis of the olfactory organ of the sea lamprey (*Petromyzon marinus* L): Morphological changes and morphometric analysis. J Morphol 231:41-52.
- Von Bartheld CS. 2004. The terminal nerve and its relation with extrabulbar "olfactory" projections: Lessons from lampreys and lungfishes. Microsc Res Tech 65:13-24.
- Youson JH, Potter IC. 1979. A description of the stages in the metamorphosis of the anadromous sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus* L. Can J Zool 57:1808-1817.
- Zaidi AU, Kafitz KW, Greer CA. 1998. The expression of tenascin-C along the lamprey olfactory pathway during embryonic development and following axotomy-induced replacement of the olfactory receptor neurons. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 109:157-168.
- Zielinski BS, Morett N, Hua HN, Zaidi AU, Bisaillon AD. 2000. Serotonergic nerve fibers in the primary olfactory pathway of the larval sea lamprey, *Petromyzon marinus*. J Comp Neurol 420:324-334.
- Zuri I, Halpern M. 2003. Differential effects of lesions of the vomeronasal and olfactory nerve on the garter snake (*Thamnophis sirtalis*) responses to airborne chemical stimuli. Behav. Neurosci. 117:169-183.

APPENDIX B Chemosensory-induced motor behaviors in fish

Current Opinion in Neurobiology. 22: 223-230 (2012)

Gheylen Daghfous^{1,2}, Warren W. Green³, Barbara S. Zielinski³, Réjean Dubuc^{1,2}

1. Groupe de Recherche sur le Système Nerveux Central, Département de Physiologie, Université de Montréal, Canada.

2. Groupe de Recherche en Activité Physique Adaptée, Département de kinanthropologie, Université du Québec à Montréal, Montréal, Canada.

3. Department of Biological Sciences, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, Canada.

Correspondence to be sent to:

Dr. Réjean Dubuc,

Département de Kinanthropologie, Université du Québec à Montréal, PO Box 8888 Section Centre-ville Montréal, Canada H3C 3P8 Email: <u>rejean.dubuc@gmail.com</u> Telephone 1 514 343 5729 Fax 1 514 343 2211

Abstract

Chemical sensory signals play a crucial role in eliciting motor behaviors. We now review the different motor behaviors induced by chemosensory stimuli in fish as well as their neural substrate. A great deal of research has focused on reproductive, foraging, and escape behaviors but it is only recently that the molecules mediating these chemotactic responses have become well-characterized. Chemotactic responses are mediated by three sensory systems: olfactory, gustatory, and diffuse chemosensory. The olfactory sensory neuron responses to chemicals are now better understood. In addition, the olfactory projections to the central nervous system were recently shown to display an odotopic organization in the forebrain. Moreover, a specific downward projection underlying motor responses to olfactory inputs was recently described.

Abbreviations

AOO accessory olfactory organ LOT lateral olfactory tract MLR mesencephalic locomotor region MOT medial olfactory tract MOE main olfactory epithelium OSN olfactory sensory neuron

Introduction

Most animals display orientation responses to chemical stimuli. In fish, chemosensorymediated locomotion is associated with several essential behaviors such as homing, predator avoidance, reproduction, foraging and feeding. These locomotor responses require the activation of specialized chemical senses. The sensory signals are then transformed into a coherent motor behavior through a series of processes in the central nervous system. Although the link between chemosensory inputs and the motor control areas in the nervous system has long eluded scientists, recent discoveries in this area of research have provided some interesting clues as to the neural substrate involved.

Chemotactic responses in the environment

Homing behavior and reproduction

Among the most spectacular examples of chemosensory-guided behaviors are migratory behaviors of fish such as salmons and lampreys. For instance, sea lampreys, begin their lives upstream as freshwater larvae before metamorphosing into parasitic phase, and then migrate to the sea or a lake to feed. Once sexually mature, adults travel long distances to locate a freshwater spawning site in a stream or a river [1]. Adults are attracted to these sites, by migratory pheromones released by larvae [2-4]. Spermiating males, in turn, release sex pheromones that attract ovulating females to their nests for mating [5, 6, 7**; Fig. 1]. A major advance in this field of research in the last years has been the characterization of the pheromone blends implicated in these migratory [4] and sexual responses [5].



Figure 1: Observed movements of ovulated female sea lampreys in a natural stream segment. Behavioral responses to a synthetized component of the male mating pheromone: 7, 12, 24-trihydroxy-5-cholan-3-one 24-sulfate (3kPZS) were measured. A randomly selected trap (Trap_L or Trap_R) was baited with 3kPZS, whereas a control solvent was applied in the other trap (Trap_L or Trap_R). Red lines illustrate the path followed by lampreys entering the left trap when the latter was baited with 3kPZS. White lines illustrate the path followed by lampreys entering the right trap when the latter was baited with 3kPZS. The river is illustrated in black and the surrounds in green. Credits: Reproduced with permission from from Ref. [7**]: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 106 no. 4, Johnson et al., "A synthesized pheromone induces upstream movement in female sea lamprey and summons them into traps", 1021-1026. Copyright (2009) National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A.

Salmons are well known for returning to their home (natal) stream during their spawning migration. During the juvenile stage, salmons migrate downstream and imprint to (learn) chemical cues from their natal river. Once sexually mature, this olfactory imprinting is critical for successful completion of the salmon upstream spawning migration to their home-stream [8, 9]. The chemical nature of the imprinting odorant substance and the neural mechanisms underlying olfactory imprinting are still largely unknown. However, Yamamoto and colleagues [10*] have recently shown that dissolved free amino acids may be part of the imprinting odorant substance in lacustrine sockeye salmon. In another species, the masu salmon, spermiating males are attracted to an amino acid in the urine of ovulated females once they arrive to spawning beds [11]. While masu salmon have provided the only example of an amino acid sex pheromone, the prevalence of released hormonal compounds (steroids and prostaglandins) as sex pheromones that stimulate behavioral responses (attraction, nuzzling, quivering) in ciprinids has been demonstrated by Norm Stacey and his colleagues [e.g. 12, 13]. Conspecific attraction through sex pheromones has been observed in perciform fish, as well. Pheromones released by reproductive males stimulate olfactory sensory responses and attraction from females in the peacock blenny [14], and the round goby [15-17].

While released substances are important for stimulating behavioral responses during reproduction, the chemical signature of the home reef may be important for recruiting larval coral reef fish. During larval settlement, spiny damselfish prefer the water collected from their home reef over foreign reefs, and spend more time in home reef water under experimental conditions [18]. Anthropomorphic changes may affect recruitment to home reefs. The ability of larval clownfish to locate suitable settlement

sites is impaired in a chemical environment with elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide [19**].

Feeding behavior

For fish that do not rely on vision for hunting or foraging, the chemical senses are considered as the sensory modalities that are primarily responsible for initiating food search, localizing food sources, triggering the capture and ingestion of prev and the rejection of unpalatable food. It is generally accepted that amino acid constituents of prey provide cues for many aspects of feeding behavior. Fish respond to amino acids by initiating species-specific food search patterns. In zebrafish, L-alanine and L-valine induce an appetitive swimming behavior characterized by an increased number of turning behaviors [20*], whereas L-cysteine, L-alanine, L-lysine, L-proline induce bottom searching in rainbow trout, and L-arginine, L-glutamate, L-proline induce a "pecking" behavior in goldfish. Both chemically induced food search patterns are preceded by a period of arousal (increased locomotor activity) [21]. Amino acids are detected with threshold concentrations ranging from micromolar to nanomolar (same orders of magnitude for amino acid concentrations in natural waters) [22]. Importantly, environmental toxins also act on olfactory-mediated behaviors elicited by amino acids, including the attraction of fish to contaminated and potentially harmful areas [23,24]. Interestingly, the alarm substance of Ostariophysan fishes, which elicits a stereotyped predator avoidance behavior in prey species, has been shown to mediate feeding responses in predatory fish. Wisenden and Thiel [25] demonstrated that the skin extracts of the fathead minnow, which contain an alarm substance, elicited strong attractive strike responses from predatory fish. On the other hand, predatory fish are repelled by chemical

defenses released by prey. Recently, Nusnbaum and Derby [26*] described food rejection behavior, (decreased feeding strikes, food avoidance, food rejection) by predatory fish (bluenose wrasse), to ink secreted by the prey, *Aplysia califonica*, with olfactory sensory input mediating response related to food capture, and non-olfactory chemical senses contributing to the food acceptance phase.

Alarm reaction

Alarm reaction is a stereotyped predator avoidance behavior displayed by fish exposed to injured congeners. This reaction was originally described in ostariophysan species [27], which possess specialized epidermal cells called club cells that produce and store a chemical alarm cue released upon injury [for a review, see 28**]. Besides ostariophysans, damage-released alarm substances have been found in other fish taxa including gobies, salmonids, cottids, cichlids and percids [29]. Interestingly, crossspecies reactions (i.e. response of one species to alarm cue from another species) between closely related species have been reported in percids, ostariophysans, and salmonids [29-31]. The fright reactions induced by the chemical detection of the alarm substances are, on the other hand, species-specific. In minnows, for example, the fright reaction is characterized by increased school cohesion, dashing and freezing behaviors [32], whereas in other cyprinids like crucian carp it involves a fast swimming behavior against to the bottom that disturbs the mud and debris, potentially hiding the fish [28]. While the motor responses to alarm substances differ, in all these examples, fish avoid an area containing the alarm substance [33].

<u>Neural substrate</u>

Chemotactic responses, whether directed toward the source (i.e. positive chemotaxis) or away from the source (i.e. negative chemotaxis), require that the organisms locate the source by detecting the chemical stimuli. Three sensory systems (olfactory, gustatory, and diffuse chemosensory) are primarily responsible for chemical detection and thus potentially mediate chemotactic behaviors in fish. However, the neural mechanisms underlying chemotaxis remains unknown. Behavioral studies have provided interesting clues concerning the underlying principles. In sharks, olfactory orientation is achieved using internarial time differences and not internarial concentration differences, as previously believed [34**]. Sensory deprivation experiments in ictalurid catfish have shown that source localization of chemical stimuli is not mediated by olfaction, but by an extremely well developed gustatory system comprised of thousands of taste buds covering the body surface and the barbels, whisker-like appendages located near the mouth [35, 36]. However, a unilateral impairment of taste by surgically eliminating the barbels and the flank taste buds resulted in circling toward the intact side, and suggested that a bilateral comparison of stimuli is normally processed [35]. In this case, the bilateral comparison relies on differences in concentration and not on differences in the time of arrival of chemosensory signal [37]. Few studies have investigated the role of solitary chemosensory cells (of the diffuse chemosensory system) in the chemo-orientation behavior of fish. In rocklings, solitary chemosensory cells situated on the anterior fin respond to non-conspecific-conditioned water [38], whereas in the sea robin pectoral fin, solitary chemosensory cells are activated by food-related stimuli [39]. Taken together,

these findings suggest a possible involvement of the diffuse chemosensory system in at least two chemotactic behaviors: predator avoidance and food seeking.

Peripheral chemosensory systems

The peripheral olfactory system of most fish is composed of paired nasal cavities located near the dorsal surface of the head, in front of the eyes. The chambers are opened to the exterior medium by an anterior and a posterior nostril that allows the water to flow through. Lampreys and hagfish constitute an exception to this general pattern by having a single nostril and nasal cavity $[40, 41^*]$. Typically, the floor of the olfactory chambers forms folds or lamellae lined with a sensory epithelium containing olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs) of distinct morphologies [42-44, Fig. 2]. Fish display a considerable variety in the number, surface area, and arrangement of olfactory lamellae. Consequently, it has been hypothesized that "size" and/or lamellar folding of the peripheral olfactory organs and olfactory acuity might be correlated [45, 46]. This was recently refuted in bony fish [42] and elasmobranchs [47]. Flow regulatory mechanisms and other factors that affect fluid dynamics and thus odorant transport were proposed to play a role in olfactory acuity [48]. For example, in the round goby, the nasal chamber is tube-shaped and unilamellar; but the enhanced flow of water passing through the nasal cavity due to the pumping action of accessory nasal sacs, may contribute to the good overall olfactory abilities of this fish [48]. In addition to the olfactory system, fish possess chemosensory cells located on the surface of their body, pharynx and branchial cavity. Taste buds, barrel-shaped aggregates of approximately one hundred chemosensory cells, constitute the peripheral receptors of the gustatory system. Taste buds are found in all craniates except hagfish, which have similar but not homologous sensory organs known as

Schreiner organs [49]. Taste receptor cells are tuned to respond to food-related substances and allow evaluation of food items and regulation of feeding [50, 51]. Isolated chemosensory cells (i.e. not gathered into taste buds) are referred to as solitary chemosensory cells and constitute a diffuse chemosensory system [52]. This chemosensory system, present in fish [50, 53] amphibians [54], and mammals [52] is poorly understood and its function has not been clearly defined yet. In fish, it has been suggested that it could constitute a parallel chemosensory system used to detect predators and prey [50].



Figure 2: Olfactory sensory neurons in the sea lamprey. (A) The peripheral olfactory organ consists of a multi-lamellar main olfactory epithelium (MOE) and aggregations of spherical diverticula (purple) known as the accessory olfactory organ (AOO). The AOO is linked to the MOE via minute ducts. Both the MOE and AOO have distinct projections to the olfactory bulbs [44, 76**]. (B) and (C) are confocal Z-stacks of olfactory sensory neurons retrogradely labeled with biocytin (green); and cilia immunolabelled against acetylated tubulin (red) [44]. (B) An olfactory sensory neuron in the AOO. (C) Tall MOE olfactory sensory neurons. In the sea lamprey, the MOE contains three OSN morphotypes: tall, intermediate (not shown), and short (not shown) [43]. Scale bars in B and $C = 10 \ \mu m$.

Central projections of chemosensory systems

The OSNs, located in the olfactory epithelium, project their axon to the glomerular layer of the olfactory bulbs, where synapses are made with the dendrites of the second order neurons, the mitral cells. In turn, the axons of mitral cells project via olfactory tracts to olfactory centers in the brain [reviewed in 55, 56]. In fish, olfactory tracts can be divided in medial olfactory tract (MOT) and lateral olfactory tract (LOT), each one being subsequently divided into a lateral and a medial part. The targets of secondary olfactory projections include several forebrain structures and can reach as far caudally as the midbrain.

Unlike OSNs, taste receptor cells gathered in taste buds are not neurons but specialized epithelial cells forming chemical synapses with afferent taste neurons [57]. The neurotransmitter of this synapse has not been formerly identified but a recent study by Finger *et al.* [58**] shows that ATP fulfills all criteria for linking taste buds to afferent nerve fibers. Taste buds located over the body surface, lips and anterior part of the mouth are innervated by the facial nerve (VII), taste buds located on the anterior most gill arches and associated oral tissues are innervated by glossopharyngeal nerve (IX). Finally, taste buds situated on the posterior part of the mouth and gill arches are innervated by the vagal nerve (X) [36, 59]. Typically, the primary afferent fibers terminate in a single nucleus (homologous to the solitary nucleus of tetrapods) in the visceral sensory column of the medulla oblongata. However, this primary taste center is subdivided in facial and vagal lobes in catfish and certain cyprinids with a highly developed sense of taste [59, 60]. The main target of second order neurons of the taste pathway is a dorsal brainstem nucleus, the secondary gustatory nucleus [50]. This nucleus

projects to gustatory areas mainly located in the diencephalon [61, 62]. Like taste receptor cells, solitary chemosensory cells are specialized epithelial cells in close association with a nerve fiber. Depending on the nerve providing somatosensory innervation of the body region where they are located, solitary chemosensory cells can be innervated by either cranial or spinal nerves [50].

The peripheral anatomy and central projections of olfactory and gustatory systems (and diffuse chemosensory system a lesser extent) have received significant attention over the years and are thus relatively well known. However, the connections of these chemosensory systems with motor control systems are still poorly understood.

Sensory-motor transformations

The early work of Grimm showed that electrical stimulation of the olfactory tract induced feeding behavior in goldfish [63]. Following this result, Døving and Selset [64] demonstrated that specific electrical stimulation of one the four olfactory bundles constituting the olfactory tracts elicited distinct stereotypical behaviors in cods. Alarm reaction and reproductive behavior were respectively evoked by stimulation of the medial and lateral part of the MOT, whereas feeding behaviors were evoked by stimulation of the LOT. Since then, these results were reproduced in crucian carps [65-67]. The latter group found that ciliated OSNs, crypt cells, and microvillous OSNS respectively synapse with secondary order neurons projecting through the medial part of the MOT, the lateral part of the MOT, and the LOT [68-70]. Because each bundle of the olfactory tracts mediates a specific behavior believed to be associated with a specific class of chemical compounds, a correlation between morphological types of OSNs and response to specific classes of chemical compounds was expected. Interestingly, each morphological type of

OSN was found to express different classes of membrane receptors: microvillous OSNs express V2R-type membrane receptors, whereas ciliated OSNs express OR-type membrane receptors [71]. The membrane receptors on crypt cells are currently unknown. However, as crypt cells are putatively associated with reproductive behavior, they are expected to express membrane receptors for sex pheromones [69], but physiological studies have shown responses to amino acids [72]. The anatomic and functional studies discussed above show a remarkable parallel segregation of the olfactory pathways from the sensory epithelium to the telencephalon in fish. In an elegant study, it was shown that an odotopic map is maintained up to telencephalic levels in channel catfish [73**; Fig. 3]. This telencephalic odotopic map does not simply mirror the odotopy of the olfactory bulb but displays convergence of responses to odors subserving the same biological function. Aside from pallial areas, an olfactory projection to the posterior tubercle, a ventral diencephalic area, has been reported in several fish species [74, 75, 76**]. This projection is of special interest because it was recently shown to be part of an olfactorymotor pathway in lampreys [76**]. The overall pathway consists of olfactory inputs from the OSNs to the medial part of the olfactory bulb, then on to the posterior tubercle, reaching the mesencephalic locomotor region and finally the reticulospinal cells, which are command neurons responsible for the activation of spinal locomotor networks. Activation of this pathway by odor or electrical stimulation generates large excitatory responses in reticulospinal cells and swimming movements (Fig. 4E). These findings constitute the first demonstration of a specific subsystem of the central nervous system dedicated to produce locomotor responses to olfactory inputs in vertebrates.



Figure 3: Odotopic organisation of amino acids, nucleotides, and bile-salts responsive units in the forebrain of the channel catfish. Interestingly, the odotopy (i.e. spatial mapping of different odors) is maintained from olfactory bulbs (A) to telencephalic levels (B). However, distinctive response properties emerge at this level, with odors subserving the same behavioral function showing convergence. Credits: Reproduced with permission from Ref. [73**]: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 102 no. 51, Nikonov et al., "Beyond the olfactory bulb: an odotopic map in the forebrain", 18688-18693. Copyright (2005) National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A.



Figure 4: Summary figure illustrating chemically induced motor behaviors in fish and an underlying neural substrate in lampreys. (A) The olfactory system is presumed important for prey recognition. Chemical cues released by a prey will induce goal directed locomotion in a predator such as the sea lamprey. (B, C, D) Schematic representation of sensory cells in three chemosensory systems present in fish: Olfactory sensory neurons (B); Solitary chemosensory cells; (C) Taste sensory cells gathered in a taste bud (D). The illustrated sensory cells are from the lamprey model. (E) Schematic representation of the olfactory-locomotor circuitry in lampreys. Olfactory sensory neurons in the periphery activate neurons in the olfactory bulbs. There is a direct projection from the medial part of the olfactory bulb to the posterior tuberculum in the ventral diencephalon. From the posterior tuberculum, there is a projection to the mesencephalic locomotor region (MLR), known to play a crucial role in controlling locomotion in all vertebrate species. The MLR

projects in turn to brainstem reticulospinal neurons, which act as command cells for locomotion. Reticulospinal cells project directly to spinal cord neurons that are responsible for generating locomotion. Credits: (C) Adapted with permission from Ref. [77]: Journal of Zoology, vol. 199 no. 3, Whitear and Lane, "Oligovillous cells of the epidermis: sensory elements of lamprey skin", 359–384. Copyright (1983) John Wiley and Sons. (D) Adapted with permission from Ref. [50]: Brain, Behavior and Evolution, vol. 50 no. 4, Finger, "Evolution of Taste and Solitary Chemoreceptor Cell Systems", 234-243. Copyright (1997) S. Karger AG, Basel. (E) Reproduced from Ref. [76**]: PLoS Biology, 8(12): e1000567. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000567, Derjean et al., "A Novel Neural Substrate for the Transformation of Olfactory Inputs into Motor Output". Creative Commons Attribution License (2010).

Conclusion

Chemotactic responses (Fig. 4 A) are mediated by similar chemosensory systems in different fish species. They consist of three systems: olfactory, diffuse chemosensory, and gustatory (respectively Fig.4 B, C, and D). In lampreys, a connection between the olfactory centers and the locomotor control system was recently described (Fig. 4 E). Direct projections from the olfactory bulb to the diencephalon have also been described in amphibians [77] and mammals [78, 79]. It is not unlikely that they could also be part of olfactory-motor pathways allowing for the production of motor behaviors in response to odors in theses vertebrates. The evolutionary conservation of such a neural pathway could underlie the presence of motor responses to olfactory cues seen in all vertebrate species. Future research will tell whether these pathways seen in other vertebrates underlie motor responses as seen in lampreys.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank D. Veilleux, F. Auclair, F. Bernard, and C. Valiquette for their expert assistance. The authors' research is supported by: the Great Lakes Fishery Commission [# 8400272 to B.S.Z. and R.D]; the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada [NSERC # 46383to B.S.Z. and #217435 to R.D.]; the

Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR, #15129 to R.D.); a group grant from the Fonds de la Recherche en Santé du Québec to R.D. (FRSQ, #5249). G.D. received a fellowship from the Fondation Fyssen. W.W.G. received an NSERC Alexander Graham Bell Canada Graduate Scholarship.

References and recommended reading

[1] Waldman J, Grunwald C, Wirgin I: Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus: an exception to the rule of homing in anadromous fishes. *Biol Lett* 2008, 4:659-662.

[2] Bjerselius R, Li W, Teeter JH, Seelye JG, Johnsen PB, Maniak PJ, Grant GC, Polkinghorne CN, Sorensen PW: **Direct behavioral evidence that unique bile acids released by larval sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) function as a migratory pheromone**. *Can J Fish Aquat Sci* 2000, **57**: 557–569.

[3] Fine JM, Vrieze LA, Sorensen PW: Evidence that petromyzontid lampreys employ a common migratory pheromone that is partially comprised of bile acids. *J Chem Ecol* 2004, **30**:2091-2110.

[4] Sorensen PW, Fine JM, Dvornikovs V, Jeffrey CS, Shao F, Wang J, Vrieze LA, Anderson KR, Hoye TR: **Mixture of new sulfated steroids functions as a migratory pheromone in the sea lamprey**. *Nat Chem Biol* 2005, **1**:324-328.

[5] Li W, Scott AP, Siefkes MJ, Yan H, Liu Q, Yun SS, Gage DA: **Bile Acid secreted by** male sea lamprey that acts as a sex pheromone. *Science* 2002, **296**:138-141.

[6**] Johnson NS, Siefkes MJ, L W: Capture of Ovulating Female Sea Lampreys in Traps Baited with Spermiating Male Sea Lampreys. *North Am J Fish Man* 2003, **25**:67-72.

In this study, the authors show that a synthesized component of the male lamprey sex pheromone blend, (3kPZS) induces upstream movements in ovulated females. Natural stream experiments show that 3kPZS is as effective as the whole pheromone blend to lure females into baited traps.

[7] Johnson NS, Yun SS, Thompson HT, Brant CO, Li W: A synthesized pheromone induces upstream movement in female sea lamprey and summons them into traps. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2009, **106**:1021-1026.

[8] Hasler AD, Scholz AT (Eds): *Olfactory Imprinting and Homing in Salmon: Investigations into the Mechanism of the Imprinting Process.* Springer-Verlag; 1983. [9] Dittman A, Quinn T: **Homing in Pacific salmon: mechanisms and ecological basis**. *J Exp Biol* 1996, **199**:83-91.

[10*] Yamamoto Y, Hino H, Ueda H: **Olfactory imprinting of amino acids in lacustrine sockeye salmon**. *PLoS One* 2010, **5**:e8633.

Using behavioral and electrophysiological experiments, the authors show that lacustrine sockeye salmons can be olfactory imprinted by a 14 days exposure to a single amino acid. The imprinting occurs around the stage of the parr-smolt transformation.

[11] Yambe H, Kitamura S, Kamio M, Yamada M, Matsunaga S, Fusetani N, Yamazaki F: L-Kynurenine, an amino acid identified as a sex pheromone in the urine of ovulated female masu salmon. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006, **103**:15370-15374.

[12] Kobayashi M, Sorensen PW, Stacey NE: **Hormonal and pheromonal control of spawning behavior in the goldfish**. *Fish Physiol Biochem* 2002, **26**: 71–84.

[13] Belanger RM, Pachkowski MD, Stacey NE: Methyltestosterone-induced changes in electro-olfactogram responses and courtship behaviors of cyprinids. *Chem Senses* 2010, **35**:65-74.

[14] Serrano RM, Lopes O, Hubbard PC, Araújo J, Canário AVM, Barata EN: 11ketotestosterone stimulates putative sex pheromone production in the male peacock blenny, Salaria pavo (Risso 1810). *Biol Reprod* 2008, **79**:861-868.

[15] Gammon DB, Li W, Scott AP, Zielinski BS, Corkum LD: **Behavioural responses** of female Neogobius melanostomus to odours of conspecifics. *J Fish Biol* 2005, 67:615-626.

[16] Katare YK, Scott AP, Laframboise AJ, Li W, Alyasha'e Z, Caputo CB, Loeb SJ, Zielinski B: **Release of free and conjugated forms of the putative pheromonal steroid 11-oxo-etiocholanolone by reproductively mature male round goby (Neogobius melanostomus Pallas, 1814)**. *Biol Reprod* 2011, **84**:288-298.

[17] Laframboise AJ, Katare Y, Scott AP, Zielinski BS: The effect of elevated steroids released by reproductive male round gobies, Neogobius melanostomus, on olfactory responses in females. *J Chem Ecol* 2011, **37**:260-262.

[18] Gerlach G, Atema J, Kingsford MJ, Black KP, Miller-Sims V. **Smelling home can prevent dispersal of reef fish larvae**. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2007, **104**:858-863.
[19**] Munday PL, Dixson DL, Donelson JM, Jones GP, Pratchett MS, Devitsina GV, Døving KB. Ocean acidification impairs olfactory discrimination and homing ability of a marine fish. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2009, **106**:1848-1852.

This study shows that a simulated CO_2 induced ocean acidification impair the ability of larval clownfish to discriminate olfactory cues associated with suitable settlement sites on coral reef.

[20*] Braubach OR, Wood H-D, Gadbois S, Fine A, Croll RP: **Olfactory conditioning in the zebrafish (Danio rerio)**. *Behav Brain Res* 2009, **198**:190-198. This paper provides the first demonstration of an olfactory conditioned appetitive swimming response to a biologically irrelevant odorant in zebrafish.

[21] Hara TJ: Feeding behaviour in some teleosts is triggered by single amino acids primarily through olfaction. *J Fish Biol* 2006, **68**:810-825.

[22] Tricas TC, Kajiura SM, Summers AP: **Response of the hammerhead shark olfactory epithelium to amino acid stimuli**. *J Comp Physiol A Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol* 2009, **195**:947-954.

[23] Tierney KB, Baldwin DH, Hara TJ, Ross PS, Scholz NL, Kennedy CJ: Olfactory toxicity in fishes. *Aquat Toxicol* 2010, 96:2-26.

[24] Tierney KB, Sekela MA, Cobbler CE, Xhabija B, Gledhill M, Ananvoranich S, Zielinski BS. Evidence for behavioral preference toward environmental concentrations of urban-use herbicides in a model adult fish. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2011, doi: 10.1002/etc.588.

[25] Wisenden BD, Thiel TA: Field verification of predator attraction to minnow alarm substance. . *Chem Ecol* 2002, **28**:433-438.

[26*] Nusnbaum M, Derby CD: Ink secretion protects sea hares by acting on the olfactory and non-olfactory chemical senses of a predatory fish. *Anim Behav* 2010, **79**: 1067-1076.

Using behavioral tests, the authors find that ink secretion of sea hares protects them from predatory fish by affecting capture and acceptance phases of feeding behavior. The deterrent effect during the capture phase is mediated by olfaction, whereas the deterrent effect during the acceptance phase is mediated by non-olfactory chemical senses.

[27] Frischk V: Zur Psychologie des Fischschwaxmes. *Naturwissenschujten* 1938, 26, 601-6.

[28**] Døving KB, Lastein S: **The alarm reaction in fishes--odorants, modulations of responses, neural pathways**. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 2009, **1170**:413-423. This paper reviews the alarm reaction behavior in cyprinid fish. Emphasis is put on the chemical stimuli responsible for this behavior and on the scientific advances made in this field as a result of a decade of research on the crucian carp.

[29] Mirza RS, Fisher SA, Chivers DP: Assessment of predation risk by juvenile yellow perch , Perca flavescens : Responses to alarm cues from conspecifics and prey guild members. *Env Biol Fish* 2003, 66:321-327.

[30] Lastein S, Hamdani EH, Døving KB: Single unit responses to skin odorants from conspecifics and heterospecifics in the olfactory bulb of crucian carp Carassius carassius. *J Exp Biol* 2008, **211**:3529.

[31] Mirza RS, Chivers DP: Are chemical alarm cues conserved within salmonid fishes? *J Chem Ecol* 2001, **27**:1641–1655.

[32] Smith RJF: Alarm signals in fishes. Rev Fish Biol Fish 1992, 2:33-63.

[33] Chivers DP, Smith RJF: Intraspecific and interspecific avoidance of areas marked with skin extract from brook sticklebacks (culaea-inconstans) in a natural habitat. *J Chem Ecol* 1994, **20**: 1517-1524.

[34**] Gardiner JM, Atema J: **The function of bilateral odor arrival time differences in olfactory orientation of sharks**. *Curr. Biol* 2010, **20**:1187-1191. This study provides a new interesting view relative to chemotaxis by showing that internarial time differences and not internarial concentration differences are used to track odor plumes.

[35] Bardach JE, Todd JH, Crickmer R: **Orientation by taste in fish of the genus Ictalurus**. *Science* 1967, **155**:1276.

[36] Atema J: Structures and functions of the sense of taste in the catfish (Ictalurus natalis). *Brain Behav Evol* 1971, **4**:273-294.

[37] Johnsen P, Teeter J: Behavioral responses of bonnethead sharks (Sphyrna tiburo) to controlled olfactory stimulation. *Mar Fresh Behav Physiol* 1985, 11:283-291.

[38] Peters RC, Kotrschal K, Krautgartner WD: Solitary chemoreceptor cells of Ciliata mustela (Gadidae, Teleostei) are tuned to mucoid stimuli. *Chem Senses* 1991, 16:31 - 42.

[39] Silver WL, Finger TE: Electrophysiological examination of a non-olfactory, nongustatory chemosense in the searobin, Prionotus carolinus. *J Comp Physiol* 1984, 154:167-174.

[40] Holmes WM, Cotton R, Xuan VB, Rygg AD, Craven BA, Abel RL, Slack R, Cox JPL: Three-Dimensional Structure of the Nasal Passageway of a Hagfish and its Implications for Olfaction. *Anat Rec* 2011, **294**:1045-1056.

[41*] Cox JPL: Hydrodynamic aspects of fish olfaction. *J R Soc Interface* 2008, **5**:575-593.

This is a very interesting review concerning the role of hydrodynamics in olfaction.

[42] Hansen A, Zielinski BS: Diversity in the olfactory epithelium of bony fishes: development, lamellar arrangement, sensory neuron cell types and transduction components. *J Neurocytol* 2005, **34**:183-208.

[43] Laframboise AJ, Ren X, Chang S, Dubuc R, Zielinski BS: **Olfactory sensory neurons in the sea lamprey display polymorphisms**. *Neurosci Lett* 2007, **414**:277-281.

[44] Ren X, Chang S, Laframboise A, Green WW, Dubuc R, Zielinski BS: **Projections** from the accessory olfactory organ into the medial region of the olfactory bulb in the sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus): a novel vertebrate sensory structure? *J Comp Neurol.* 2009, **516**:105-116.

[45] Schluessel V, Bennett MB, Bleckmann H, Blomberg S, Collin SP: Morphometric and ultrastructural comparison of the olfactory system in elasmobranchs: the significance of structure-function relationships based on phylogeny and ecology. *J Morphol.* 2008, **269**:1365-1386.

[46] Theiss SM, Hart NS, Collin SP: Morphological Indicators of Olfactory Capability in Wobbegong Sharks (Orectolobidae, Elasmobranchii). Brain Behav Evol 2009, 73:91-101.

[47] Meredith TL, Kajiura SM: **Olfactory morphology and physiology of elasmobranchs**. *J Exp Biol* 2010, **213**:3449.

[48] Belanger RM, Smith CM, Corkum LD, Zielinski BS: Morphology and histochemistry of the peripheral olfactory organ in the round goby, Neogobius melanostomus (Teleostei: Gobiidae). *J Morphol* 2003, **257**:62-71.

[49] Finger TE: **Evolution of taste**. In *Evolution of nervous systems: a comprehensive reference*. Edited by Kaas J, Bullock TH. Elsevier Academic Press; 2007: 424-438.

[50] Finger TE: **Evolution of taste and solitary chemoreceptor cell systems**. *Brain Behav Evol* 1997, **50**:234-243.

[51] Barreiro-Iglesias A, Anadón R, Rodicio MC: **The gustatory system of lampreys**. *Brain Behav Evol* 2010, **75**:241-250.

[52] Sbarbati A, Osculati F: The taste cell-related diffuse chemosensory system. *Prog Neurobiol* 2005, **75**:295-307.

[53] Peach MB: New microvillous cells with possible sensory function on the skin of sharks. *Mar Fresh Behav Physiol* 2005, **38**:275-279.

[54] Nagai T, Koyama H, Hoff KS, Hillyard SD: **Desert toads discriminate salt taste** with chemosensory function of the ventral skin. *J Comp Neurol* 1999, **408**:125-136.

[55] Hamdani EH, Døving KB: **The functional organization of the fish olfactory system**. *Prog Neurobiol* 2007, **82**:80-86.

[56] Zielinski BS, Hara TJ: **Olfaction.** In *Fish Physiology Volume 25: Sensory Systems Neuroscience*. Edited by Hara TJ, Zielinski BS. Elsevier; 2007: 1-33.

[57] Gilbertson TA, Damak S, Margolskee RF: **The molecular physiology of taste transduction**. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 2000, **10**:519-527.

[58**] Finger TE, Danilova V, Barrows J, Bartel DL, Vigers AJ, Stone L, Hellekant G, Kinnamon SC: **ATP Signaling Is Crucial for Communication from Taste Buds to Gustatory Nerves**. *Science* 2005, **310**:1495-1499.

In this study, the authors use knockout mice to demonstrate that ATP fulfills the criteria for being the neurotransmitter linking taste buds to afferent nerve fibers.

[59] Finger TE: Evolution of gustatory reflex systems in the brainstems of fishes. *Integr Zool* 2009, 4:53-63.

[60] Kiyohara S, Caprio J: Somatotopic organization of the facial lobe of the sea catfish Arius felis studied by transganglionic transport of horseradish peroxidase. J Comp Neurol 1996, 368:121-135.

[61] Finger TE: **Gustatory nuclei and pathways in the CNS**. In *Neurobiology of taste and smell*. Edited by Finger TE, Silver WL. John Wiley & Sons; 1987: 285-319.

[62] Rink E, Wullimann MF: Some forebrain connections of the gustatory system in the goldfish Carassius Auratus visualized by separate DiI application to the hypothalamic inferior lobe and the torus lateralis. *J Comp Neurol* 1998, **394**:152-170.

[63] Grimm RJ: Feeding behavior and electrical stimulation of the brain of Carassius auratus. *Science* 1960, 131:162-163.

[64] Døving KB, Selset R: Behavior patterns in cod released by electrical stimulation of olfactory tract bundlets. *Science* 1980, **207**:559-560.

[65] Stacey NE, Kyle AL: Effects of olfactory tract lesions on sexual and feeding behavior in the goldfish. *Physiol Behav* 1983, **30**:621-628.

[66] Hamdani EH, Stabell OB, Alexander G, Døving KB: Alarm reaction in the crucian carp is mediated by the medial bundle of the medial olfactory tract. *Chem Senses* 2000, **25**:103-109.

[67] Hamdani EH, Kasumyan A, Døving KB: Is feeding behaviour in crucian carp mediated by the lateral olfactory tract? *Chem. Senses* 2001, **26**:1133-1138.

[68] Hamdani EH, Døving KB: The alarm reaction in crucian carp is mediated by olfactory neurons with long dendrites. *Chem Senses* 2002, **27**:395-398.

[69] Hamdani EH, Døving KB: Specific projection of the sensory crypt cells in the olfactory system in crucian carp, Carassius carassius. *Chem Senses* 2006, **31**:63-67.

[70] Hamdani EH, Alexander G, Døving KB: **Projection of sensory neurons with** microvilli to the lateral olfactory tract indicates their participation in feeding behaviour in crucian carp. *Chem Senses* 2001, **26**:1139-1144.

[71] Hansen A, Anderson KT, Finger TE: **Differential distribution of olfactory receptor neurons in goldfish: structural and molecular correlates**. *J Comp Neurol* 2004, **477**:347-359. [72] Vielma A, Ardiles A, Delgado L, Schmachtenberg O: The elusive crypt olfactory receptor neuron: evidence for its stimulation by amino acids and cAMP pathway agonists. *J Exp Biol* 2008, **211**:2417-2422.

[73**] Nikonov AA, Finger TE, Caprio J: **Beyond the olfactory bulb: an odotopic map** in the forebrain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005, **102**:18688-18693.

This study shows that the odotopic map representing the spatial mapping of different classes of odorants in the olfactory bulbs is maintained up to telencephalic levels in the channel catfish. Moreover, the telencephalic odotopy does not simply mirror the odotopy in the olfactory bulb but displays convergence of responses to odors subserving the same biological function.

[74] von Bartheld CS, Meyer DL, Fiebig E, Ebbesson SO: Central connections of the olfactory bulb in the goldfish, Carassius auratus. *Cell Tissue Res* 1984, **238**:475-487.

[75] Matz SP: **Connections of the olfactory bulb in the chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha)**. *Brain Behav Evol* 1995, **46**:108-120.

[76**] Derjean D, Moussaddy A, Atallah E, St-Pierre M, Auclair F, Chang S, Ren X, Zielinski B, Dubuc R: A Novel Neural Substrate for the Transformation of Olfactory Inputs into Motor Output. *PLoS Biol* 2010, **8**:e1000567.

This study constitutes the first demonstration of the existence of a specific pathway within the central nervous system of vertebrates dedicated to produce locomotor responses to olfactory inputs.

[77] Whitear M, Lane EB: Oligovillous cells of the epidermis: sensory elements of lamprey skin. *J Zool* 1983, 199: 359–384.

[78] Schmidt A, Roth G: Central olfactory and vomeronasal pathways in salamanders. *J Hirnforsch* 1990, **31**:543-553.

[79] Smithson KG, Weiss ML, Hatton GI: **Supraoptic nucleus afferents from the** accessory olfactory bulb: evidence from anterograde and retrograde tract tracing in the rat. *Brain Res Bull* 1992, **29**:209-220.

[80] Mestre N, Petter A, Bons N: Systematisation of the olfactory bulb efferent projections in a lemurian primate: Microcebus murinus. J Hirnforsch 1992, 33:173-184.

APPENDIX C



Figure C-1. Histograms of the number of peaks per odour-evoked local field potential (LFP) response in the medial, dorsal, and lateral olfactory bulb regions. Local field potentials in the medial OB exhibit the fewest number of peaks per response and the dorsal and lateral regions exhibit increasing numbers of peaks per LFP response.



Figure C-2. Histograms of the interpeak intervals of sustained (multiple peak) odourevoked local field potentials (LFPs) in the medial, dorsal, and lateral olfactory bulb. The medial region has relatively few; short, interpeak intervals while the dorsal and lateral regions have increasing numbers of interpeak intervals with increasing interpeak durations.



Figure C-3. The change in response amplitude of each peak subsequent to the first peak in sustained (multiple peak) local field potential responses. Responses were normalized to the amplitude of the first peak in a multiple peak response and are expressed as a percentage (Mean ± SEM) of the first peak. The change in peak amplitude over a multiple peak response was examined for local field potentials consisting of 2, 3, 4, or 5 peaks in the medial (A), dorsal (B), and lateral (C) olfactory bulb regions. The numbers above each bar are the number of responses in each region with a given number of peaks.

VITA AUCTORIS

NAME: Warren Wayne Green

PLACE OF BIRTH: Hamilton, ON

YEAR OF BIRTH: 1981

EDUCATION: B.Sc. (H) Environmental Biology and Technology Nipissing University – North Bay, ON 2000-2005

> M.Sc. Biology McMaster University – Hamilton, ON 2005-2007